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PART |
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains “forward-lookingstatements that involve risks and uncertaintiegsehstatements typically may be identifie
the use of forward-looking words or phrases suchbatieve,” “expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “shou Id,” “planned,” “estimated,” and
“potential,” among others. All forward-looking staments included in this document are based on wuest expectations, and we assume no
obligation to update any such forward-looking staénts. The Private Securities Litigation Reform #2995 provides a “safe harbor” for
such forward-looking statements. In order to convpith the terms of the safe harbor, we note theaety of factors could cause actual
results and experiences to differ materially frdra ainticipated results or other expectations exgedsn such forward-looking statements. The
risks and uncertainties that may affect the operadj performance, development, and results of asinless include but are not limited to:

(1) our history of losses and variable quarterlguds; (2) substantial competition; (3) risks reddtto the failure to protect our intellectual
property and litigation in which we may become imed; (4) our reliance on sole source suppliers; ¢br limited sales and marketing effo
and our reliance on third parties; (6) failure tomtinue to develop innovative products; (7) riskkted to noncompliance with United States
Food and Drug Administration regulations; (8) thefety and effectiveness of our clinical candida{®¥;the timing of our clinical trials an
filings with the United States Food and Drug Adsiirsition; and (10) other factors that are descrilfean time to time in our periodic filinc
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, imetuthose set forth in this filing as “ltem 1A. RiBactors.”

Item 1. Business
Overview

VIVUS, Inc. is a pharmaceutical company dedicatetheé development and commercialization of therdpguoducts for large
underserved markets using patented proprietarydtations and novel delivery systems and by seekaw indications for previously appro\
pharmaceutical products. We have employed thisegiyaand, currently, we have development candidadesessing obesity, postmenopausal
and sexual health. All of these sectors are ragjdbyving as patients seek more effective treatroptibns with fewer side effects. With respect
to obesity, analysts estimate that this potentelket ranges from $5 billion to $10 billion annyalThe indications targeted by VIVUS’
postmenopausal and sexual health products eackseayira projected market greater than $1 billiaruaty.

We are currently advancing four laggage clinical products, each addressing speaificponents of these significant markets. One ofe
products has completed Phase 3 testing and we tadraiNew Drug Application (“NDA”) to the U.S. Fd@and Drug Administration (“FDAY’
in the third quarter of 2006. The remaining produate being prepared to enter Phase 3 clinic#d tfia1997, we launched MUSE (alprostadil)
in the United States and, together with our pagniaternationally. We market MUSE as a prescripfjooduct for the treatment of erectile
dysfunction.

Our investigational product pipeline includes:
* Qnexa™ for treating obesity, for which a Phase 2 study been completed;

« EvaMist ™ to treat vasomotor symptoms associated with marsgydor which we submitted an NDA to the FDA ie third quarter
of 2006;

» Testosterone MDTS® is being developed to treat hypoactive sexual deligorder, for which a Phase 2 study has been levea
and

« Avanafil is being developed for the treatment of erectilgfdyction; for which Phase 2 studies have been teteth




Our Future

Our goal is to build a successful pharmaceuticaigany through the development and commercializaifannovative proprietary
products for the treatment of obesity and sexualtheWe intend to achieve this by:

 capitalizing on our clinical and regulatory expsetand experience to advance the development déiprcandidates in our pipeline;

« establishing strategic relationships with marketiagtners to maximize sales potential for our potsithat require significant
commercial support; and

« licensing complementary clinical stage productsechnologies with competitive advantages from tpiadties for new and established
markets.

It is our objective to become a leader in the dgwelent and commercialization of products that beleat obesity and restore sexual
health in women and men. We believe that we haeagtintellectual property supporting several opaities in obesity treatment and sexual
health. Our future growth will come from furthengéopment and regulatory approval of our productdidates as well as in-licensing and
product line extensions.

We have funded operations primarily through privaate public offerings of our common stock and tigloproduct sales of MUSE. We
expect to generate future net losses due to inesgasoperating expenses as product candidateslaasced through the various stages of
clinical development. As of December 31, 2006, wechincurred a cumulative deficit of $168.7 milliand expect to incur operating losses in
the near future.

Our Product Pipeline

We currently have four research and developmergrpros targeting obesity and sexual health:

Patent Expiry

Product Indication Status and Number
Qnexa (phentermine and
topiramate) Obesity Phase 2 complete 2019 (US 7,056,890 B:
EvaMist (Estradiol-MDTS) Menopausal symptoms Phase 3 completed, 2017 (US 6,818,226)
NDA submitted with
FDA
Testosterone MDTS Hypoactive sexual desir Phase 2 completed 2017 (US 6,818,226)
disorder (HSDD!
Avanafil (PDES inhibitor) Erectile dysfunction (EC Phase 2 complete 2020 (US 6,656,93¢

Obesity

In 2004, the U.S. Centers for Disease Control aiegdhtion (“CDC”) ranked obesity as the number bealth threat in America. Obesity
is a chronic condition that affects millions of pé®and often requires long-term or invasive treathito promote and sustain weight loss.
Obesity is the second leading cause of preventsdth in the United States. The American Obesigo8igtion estimates that approximately
127 million, or 64.5 percent, of adults in the UaB overweight, and an estimated 60 million, ab3&rcent, are obese. According to a study
performed by the CDC, as reported in the Journgh@fAmerican Medical Association, an estimated,dQ@ excess deaths a year in the U.S. is
attributable to obesity. The total direct and iedircosts attributed to overweight and obesity artemlito $117 billion




in 2000. Additionally, Americans spend approximatgB0 billion annually on weight-loss products advices.

Qnexa

Qnexa is a proprietary oral investigational pharenagical treatment for obesity that incorporates tlges of active ingredients from two
products previously approved by the FDA, topiranaatd phentermine. By combining each of these comgp@uve believe Qnexa can
simultaneously address excessive appetite andthigkhold for satiety, or the feeling of being ftitle two main mechanisms that impact e¢
behavior.

Previously, we reported results from a Phase 2 lédulind, randomized, and placebo-controlled chhirial conducted at Duke
University, in which patients on Qnexa lost, onrage, 25.1 pounds as compared to patients in #uepb group, which lost 4.8 pounds. This
trial involved 200 subjects, 159 women and 41 méh an average approximate age of 40 and a meanibads index (BMI) of 38.6. (A BMI
of > 30.0 is classified as obese per guidelinesifioe U.S. Department of Health and Human Servié&tients completing the 24-week
treatment period lost on average approximately di¥%aseline body weight, as compared to an ave2&$é in the placebo group. The
difference between the Qnexa arm and the placeboars statistically significant. Qnexa was welktalted in this trial. The study completion
rate for patients on Qnexa over the 24-week treatmperiod was 92%, as compared to 62% for patiertse placebo group. Adverse events
occurring in greater than 10% in the Qnexa arnoaspared to placebo included paresthesia (milditigghf the extremities), altered taste and
increased urinary frequency. There were no dropoufse Qnexa arm due to serious or severe adesesgs.

In addition, Qnexa treated subjects had a sigmificaduction of waist circumference, triglyceridsgstolic blood pressure C-reactive
protein and total cholesterol compared to patienthe placebo group. These findings suggest tin@x@ may improve several important
metabolic disease risk factors in obese patientsoling to the American Heart Association, “Thetabelic syndrome is characterized by a
group of metabolic risk factors in one person.” tstectors include but are not limited to abdomioiaésity, and blood fat disorders that foster
plaque buildup in artery walls including: high tsigerides, low HDL cholesterol, high LDL cholestgrand elevated blood pressure. People
with metabolic syndrome have an increased riskoobmary heart disease and other conditions thattrigem the buildup of plaque in artery
walls (e.qg., stroke and peripheral vascular diseaise type 2 diabetes. The current FDA guidelinateghat on its own, metabolic syndrome
represents a cluster of laboratory and clinicalifigs that serve as markers for increased riskdattiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes, an
is prevalent in as much as 25 percent of the aduakrican population. The FDA does not considemtiggabolic syndrome to represent a
distinct disease entity. Nonetheless, in additmliféstyle modification, a host of drug therapiesv exist to address individual or multiple
components of the syndrome (e.g., lipid alteringrag, antihypertensives, insulin sensitizers). g, the future, decide to study Qnexa, as
a single agent, in a clinical trial that will loo& impact the components of metabolic syndrome.

The Phase 2 clinical trial was performed with acewva-day dosing formulation. We are finalizing tfevelopment of our once-a-day
controlled release formulation ahead of the plarfPlegise 3 clinical trials.

The primary efficacy endpoint for Phase 3 weigksltrials as required by the FDA is demonstratios imean placebo-subtracted 1-year
weight loss of greater than or equal to 5%. Regésslued FDA draft guidelines for obesity produsss forth a primary efficacy endpoint in
Phase 3 trials of at least 35% of patients achgeBb weight loss. The weight loss in patients tgkhme obesity product should also be twice
the weight loss of the placebo group. In our Pi2as&l 82% of patients lost 5% of their baselineight as compared to 14% in the placebo
group. In Europe, The Committee for Medicinal Pratdifor Human Use (CHMP) of the European Medicidgency (EMEA) has
recommended that demonstration of significant wieliggs of at least 10% of baseline weight is cosrgd to be a valid primary endpoint for
anti-obesity drugs. In the Phase 2 study, 50% eftitients on Qnexa lost 10% of their baseline g




compared to 8% in the placebo group. The FDA aadMidicines and Healthcare products Regulatory agieine regulatory authority in the
United Kingdom, require obesity studies to be caneld for at least one year. While the results fmmsingle center Phase 2 trial for six
months of treatment meet these guidelines, therdeano assurance that these results can be teplicaa multi-center, ongear, Phase 3 tri

Our first patent covering Qnexa was issued Ju2®@6. In addition, Qnexa is the subject of multipl&. and International patent
applications.

Female Sexual Health

We believe the market for the treatment of femabaual health is large and underserved. A paperighéd in theJournal of the American
Medical Associatiolin 1999 noted that 43% of women between the agé8 aind 59 identified themselves as afflicted witbexual disorder,
reporting female sexual arousal disorder and hygppaasexual desire disorder as the two most comoonitions of female sexual dysfuncti
or FSD. Currently, there are no pharmaceuticatineats on the market that have been approved biy#efor the treatment of these sexual
disorders in women.

EvaMist
Menopausal Vasomotor Sympto

Vasomotor symptoms such as hot flashes and vagir@hy are reported to be among the most commalicadecomplaints of women
going through menopause. Each year an estimatedilli®n women in the United States enter menopaAsanany as 75% of menopausal
women experience vasomotor symptoms at some timegdonenopause, although the frequency and seveatyvary. The cause of
vasomotor symptoms is related to a decrease iogestrproduction by the ovaries that accompanieoparse. As a result, temperature
regulation is altered, resulting in increased vdatidn of skin blood vessels and feelings of Haslhes and sweating. Estrogen and estradiol
products are generally considered to be highlycéffe treatments for menopausal vasomotor sympt&ales of estrogen products in the
United States in 2006 were estimated to be $1li&il

Premarir® , an oral preparation containing varicugugated estrogens, is the most widely prescristgen therapy in the United
States. In 2004, a long-term, large-scale studyahaluated the effects of Premarin was terminbtethe National Institutes of Health. This
study, called the Women’s Health Initiative (WHigmonstrated an increase in the number of strakesl@ep vein thromboses in women
receiving Premarin as compared to placebo. Thdirftnmay be explained by previously published stsdivhich showed that when given
orally, conjugated equine estrogens (CEE’s) arecated with potentially deleterious changes inglasma concentration triglycerides,
inflammatory mediators, and certain clotting fastdVe and others believe that these changes ménelresult of high oral doses, and possible
compounds formed by the liver, as a result of it pass metabolism of the conjugated equine gstra

In contrast to orally administered conjugated egrs, the use of transdermal estradiol, which avidigt pass metabolism by the liver,
has been shown in studies to result in little osigmificant changes in triglycerides, inflammatongdiators or clotting factors. A recently
published study in Circulation reported an increlassk of thrombic events in patients taking or&8Es. In the study, patients on CEE’s had
four times greater risk of venous thromboemboliSfhiK) versus patients that had not taken CEE’s dfigmts using transdermal estrogen there
was no increased risk of VTE'’s. EvaMist is a traerachl delivery of estradiol. EvaMist is not apprdyvand therefore was not included in this
study. Recently published results from the Nurstslth Study involving over 120,000 women, sugdfest initiating hormone therapy at the
onset of menopause resulted in an approximate @d#ction in the risk of coronary heart disease @meghto women who never used
hormones. These results support that early irtiatf hormone therapy in relation to the onset ehopause might have a positive influenct
reducing the risk of coronary heart disease in wame




Our Clinical Candidate

EvaMist is our patent protected, estradiol sprasgdtigational product candidate being developedHeitreatment of vasomotor symptc
associated with menopause. Vasomotor symptomdidsttes) are reported to be among the most comnaatical complaints of women going
through menopause. EvaMist uses our proprietarjema@-dose transdermal spray, or MDTS, applicdtat delivers a precise amount of
estradiol to the skin. We believe that the MDTShtedogy has significant advantages over patchegalsd The applied dose dries in
approximately 60 seconds. It is easy to applyavssible, and does not wash off when dry. We lieshthe U.S. rights for this product from
Acrux Limited (“Acrux”) in 2004. Acrux’s early studs have demonstrated that the Estradiol-MDTS systelivers sustained levels of
estradiol to women over a 24-hour period.

Clinical Status

In December 2004, we initiated our Phase 3 studsvaiMist in the United States, under an SPA withFIDA to evaluate its safety and
efficacy in menopausal women suffering from vasaneymptoms. The primary endpoints were to as$esddcrease in the frequency and
severity of hot flashes at 4 and 12 weeks of treatrin May 2006, we announced positive resultsftbis pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial of
EvaMist. The study showed a statistically significeeduction in the number and severity of modeaaid severe hot flashes. We submitted the
New Drug Application (NDA) for EvaMist to the FDAuithe third quarter of 2006 and the FDA acceptediting for substantive revievwWe
made a $1.0 million clinical development milest@agment to Acrux in October 2006 under the termsusflicensing agreement, related to
submission of the NDA for EvaMist. Upon approvakioé NDA for EvaMist, a $3.0 million product appedwmilestone will be due to Acrux.

Testosterone MDTS

Hypoactive Sexual Desire Disord

Hypoactive Sexual Desire Disorder (HSDD), the stesit or recurrent lack of interest in sexual afstikesulting in personal distress, is
reported to be the most common type of female dedysdiunction, affecting as many as 30% of womethaUnited States. Several studies
over the last several decades have demonstratettgasterone is an important component of fersakeial desire. As a woman ages, there
decline in testosterone production. The administnaof testosterone has been associated with aedee in sexual desire in both pre- and post-
menopausal women. In addition to the gradual degfirtestosterone that accompanies aging and hatersopause, the surgical removal of a
woman’s ovaries rapidly results in a decrease pf@pmately one half of the woman’s testosteroradpction capability. Hence, HSDD can
occur much faster, and at a younger age, in wontenhave undergone this type of surgically induceshopause. Furthermore, HSDD has
been observed in pre-menopausal women with naguvatiurring low levels of testosterone.

There are no FDA-approved medical treatments fdbBishowever, we noted that there were over 1.4ionillnits prescribed by
OB/Gyns for Androgel, an approved testosterondrtreat for hypogonadism, in 2006. Intrinsa™, a tdemmal testosterone patch, is currently
approved and available for sale in Europe.

Double-blind, multicenter, placebo-controlled otial trials conducted by The Procter & Gamble Comparassess the effects of a twice-
weekly testosterone patch demonstrated a statigtgignificant increase in the number of satisfysexual events in surgically induced
menopausal women. In addition, an independentcdirstudy, conducted by Acrux in 261 patients, destrated that transdermally applied
testosterone has the ability to improve sexualrdésipre-menopausal women with HSDD.




Our Clinical Candidate

Testosterone MDTS is our patent protected, tramsaleinvestigational product candidate being devetbfor the treatment of HSDD in
women. The active ingredient in Testosterone MDF ®é synthetic version of the testosterone thatdsent naturally in humans.

Testosterone MDTS utilizes a proprietary, meteresedransdermal spray, or MDTS, applicator thavdes a precise amount of
testosterone to the skin. We licensed the U.Stgifgir this product from Acrux in 2004. The metesgilay enables patients to apply a precise
dose of testosterone for transdermal delivery. apydied dose dries in approximately 60 secondsba@&sdmes invisible. Secondary contact is
not required to rub or spread the application. Awgtudies have demonstrated that the TestostdVidihES system delivers sustained levels of
testosterone in women over a 24-hour period, aelien increasing number of satisfying sexual eyents results in substantially lower rates
of application site skin irritation than reportedviomen using testosterone patches.

We believe that our Testosterone MDTS product fgrsfcant advantages over patches and other texnsal gels that are being
developed for this indication. The Testosterone NBpray allows for discreet application, unlikegh@s that are visible and topical gels that
can be messy. We believe that the patented MDTi8euigltechnology should prevent others from comnadiming competitive therapies
utilizing a spray delivery technology.

Clinical Status

Previously, we announced positive Phase 2 requif§dstosterone MDTS, which showed a statisticgilipificant improvement in the
number of satisfying sexual events in pre-menodaetéents with HSDD. In 2005, we met with the FBAshare results from our Phase 2
clinical study and to discuss the Phase 3 studyirements for obtaining marketing approval for tinidication. Although final Phase 3
protocols have not been agreed upon, the FDA peavgiidance to us on the size of and endpointthéoPhase 3 studies. We submitted a
Phase 3 safety and efficacy protocol under the S@8aess and are currently in discussion with thé F&parding the details of the protocol.

Male Sexual Health

Erectile dysfunction (ED), or the inability to dttaor maintain an erection sufficient for interceeywas reported by 35% of men between
the ages of 40 to 70 in the United States, accgrdiran independent study, with the incidence imsireg with age. ED, frequently associated
with vascular problems, is particularly common iemwith diabetes and in those who have had a Haglicatatectomy for prostate cancer.
PDES inhibitors such as sildenafil (Viagta ), vardf!l (Levitra® ) and tadalafil (Ciali® ), which iiyit the breakdown of cyclic guanosine
monophosphate, have been shown to be effectivertesas for ED.

The worldwide sales in 2006 of PDES inhibitor protdufor ED were in excess of $3.0 billion, inclugliapproximately $1.7 billion in sal
of Viagra, approximately $971 million in sales dais and approximately $313 million in sales ofvitea. Based on the aging baby boomer
population and the desire to maintain an activeiakelifestyle, we believe the market for PDES intobs will continue to grow.

Avanafil

Our Clinical Candidate

Avanafil is our orally administered, PDES5 inhibitovestigational product candidate, which we lihfrom Tanabe Seiyaku Co., Ltd.,
Tanabe, in 2001. We have exclusive worldwide deymlent and commercialization rights for avanafilhntite exception of certain Asian
markets.




Pre-clinical and clinical data suggests that avinaf

« is highly selective to PDE5, which we believe maguit in a favorable side effect profile;
* has a shorter plasma half-life than the currentroencially available PDE5 inhibitors; and
s fast-acting.

Avanafil possesses a shorter plasma half-life titaer PDES inhibitors currently on the market. Pteesma half-life of a drug is the
amount of time required for 50% of the drug to émoved from the bloodstream. We believe avanaiiart half-life and fast onset of action
are ideal characteristics for the treatment of ED.

Clinical Status

We have conducted a number of clinical trials vaitlanafil, including pharmacokinetic and in-clintadies as well as at-home efficacy
trials in men with ED.

In 2005, we announced positive results from a PRasaulticenter, double-blind, randomized, paratlekign study conducted to asses:
safety and efficacy of different doses of avarfafilthe treatment of ED. Patients in this studyeviastructed to attempt sexual intercourse 30
minutes after taking avanafil, with no restrictiamsfood or alcohol consumption. Results showetupao 84% of avanafil doses resulted in
erections sufficient for vaginal penetration, ampared to those who received a dosage of placebbseNous adverse events were reported
during this study.

In 2005, we released the results from an open-l@balrmacokinetic study designed to evaluate tasilidity of allowing avanafil to be
taken twice in a 24-hour period. This study comgdreod levels of avanafil in healthy volunteer jgals after taking a single dose of avanafil
and after taking avanafil every 12 hours for sedays. The results showed no significant plasmaraatation of avanafil after the twice-a-day
treatment regimen when compared to the single dose.

In 2005, the results of a clinical pharmacologydgtaonducted to evaluate the hemodynamic respdbtssd pressure and heart rate) to
glyceryl trinitrate (GTN) in subjects pretreatedhwplacebo, avanafil, and sildenafil citrate (Viagwere announced. Results revealed that
avanafil had less impact on blood pressure and hetarthan Viagra.

An End-of-Phase 2 meeting with the FDA for avan@ifik place in November 2005. We discussed thedPhassults and the proposed
protocol for the Phase 3 trials. Based on feedfi@ck the FDA at this meeting, we anticipate coniplgseveral non-clinical and one clinical
Phase 1 study prior to the initiation of Phasen®dé&cember 2006, we filed a Special Protocol Aseess for a Phase 3 clinical trial to the FI
We have received a response to our SPA and wedwmrtbie FDA’s recommendations to be minor. We areetitly making the requested
changes to the Phase 3 protocol for resubmissitmet&DA.

Our Marketed Product

MUSE

In 1997, we commercially launched MUSE in the Uthig&ates. MUSE was the first minimally invasivertipy for erectile dysfunction
approved by the FDA. With MUSE, an erection is tglly produced within 15 minutes of administratamd lasts approximately 30 to 60
minutes. Alprostadil is the active pharmacologiertgused in MUSE. Alprostadil is the generic naoretlie synthetic version of prostaglandin
E1, a naturally-occurring vasodilator present ia fluman body and at high levels in seminal fluid.




Because therapeutic levels of drug are deliveredlipto the erectile tissues with minimal systeihing exposure, MUSE is a relatively
safe, local treatment that minimizes the chanceystemic interactions with other drugs or disea®egr 12 million units of MUSE have been
sold since we introduced MUSE to the market.

In May 2005, results were reported from a studydemted by the Cleveland Clinic, which focused priralividual’s ability to restore
sexual function following radical prostatectomycanmmon treatment for prostate cancer. The studwstighat 74% of patients who comple
six months of MUSE treatment were able to resummaalectivity and 39% were able to achieve natarattions sufficient for intercourse.

Other Programs

We have licensed and intend to continue to licérma third parties the rights to other productsréat various sexual and nonsexual
disorders. We also sponsor early stage clinicalstit various research institutions. We expecbtdinue to use our expertise in designing
clinical trials, formulation and product developmé&ncommercialize pharmaceuticals for unmet meddieads or for disease states that are
underserved by currently approved products. Wenthte develop products with a proprietary positiwithat complement our other products
currently under development.

ALISTA is our patent protected, alprostadil invgational product that is intended for topical apgtion to the female genitalia prior to
sexual activity as a treatment for female sexualisal disorder, or FSAD. We have completed a nueltiter, randomized, double-blind, and
placebo-controlled Phase 2b study in over 300 pttién this study, patients with FSAD using ALISB&hieved a more than doubling over
baseline in the number of satisfactory sexual esjdrdwever, the difference between the ALISTA tmesit group and the placebo group did
not achieve statistical significance for the prignandpoint of the study. Due to the outcome of sigly, ALISTA will receive a lower
development priority at VIVUS.

Government Regulations
FDA Regulatior

Prescription pharmaceutical products are subjeektensive pre- and post-marketing regulation leyRBA, including regulations that
govern the testing, manufacturing, safety, efficdayeling, storage, record-keeping, advertising mromotion of the products under the
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, and by confpparm@gencies in most foreign countries.

The activities required before a pharmaceuticahagey be marketed in the United States begin prighclinical testing. Pre-clinical tests
include laboratory evaluation of potential produentsl animal studies to assess the potential safetyefficacy of the product and its
formulations. The results of these studies andrattiermation must be submitted to the FDA as péin IND application, which must be
reviewed and approved by the FDA before proposital testing can begin. Clinical trials involMeetadministration of the investigational
new drug to healthy volunteers or to patients utldersupervision of a qualified principal investiga Clinical trials are conducted in
accordance with Good Clinical Practices under paitthat detail the objectives of the study, theameters to be used to monitor safety and
the efficacy criteria to be evaluated. Each protowast be submitted to the FDA as part of the INdplacation. Further, each clinical study
must be conducted under the auspices of an indepemtstitutional review board. The institutional/rew board will consider, among other
things, ethical factors and the safety of humanesub.

Typically, human clinical trials are conducted limee phases that may overlap. In Phase 1, clitriadd are conducted with a small num
of subjects to determine the early safety profild pharmacology of the new therapy. In Phase Ricdli trials are conducted with groups of
patients afflicted
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with a specific disease or medical condition inewrth determine preliminary efficacy, optimal dossignd expanded evidence of safety. In
Phase 3, large scale, multicenter clinical trisés@nducted with patients afflicted with a tardisease or medical condition in order to provide
enough data for proof of efficacy and safety reegliipy the FDA and others.

The results of the pre-clinical and clinical tegtitogether with chemistry and manufacturing infation, are submitted to the FDA in the
form of an NDA for a pharmaceutical product in artkeobtain approval to commence commercial séfeesponding to an NDA, the FDA
may grant marketing approvals, request additiamfakination or further research or studies, or déxeyapplication if it determines that the
application does not satisfy its regulatory apptavieria. FDA approval for a pharmaceutical prodmay not be granted on a timely basis, if
at all, or if granted may not cover all the clidigadications for which approval is sought or mantain significant limitations in the form of
warnings, precautions or contraindications witlpezs to conditions of use.

Satisfaction of FDA premarket approval requiremdatsiew drugs typically takes several years, &edactual time required may vary
substantially based upon the type, complexity amcehy of the product or targeted disease. Goventmregulation may delay or prevent
marketing of potential products for a considergi#@eaod of time and impose costly procedures uparactivities. Success in early stage clin
trials or with prior versions of products does assure success in later stage clinical trials. Datained from clinical activities are not always
conclusive and may be susceptible to varying imetgtions that could delay, limit or prevent regoitg approval.

Once approved, the FDA may withdraw the producteyed if compliance with postarketing regulatory standards is not maintaineid
problems occur after the product reaches the malda. In addition, the FDA may require post-margstudies, referred to as Phase 4
studies, to monitor the effect of an approved pobdand may limit further marketing of the prodbetsed on the results of these post-market
studies. The FDA has broad post-market regulatodyemforcement powers, including the ability toyléwmes and civil penalties, suspend or
delay issuance of approvals, seize or recall prisdioc withdraw approvals.

Facilities used to manufacture drugs are subjepetmdic inspection by the FDA, and other authesiivhere applicable, and must con
with the FDA’'s cGMP regulations. Failure to complith the statutory and regulatory requirements actigj the manufacturer to possible legal
or regulatory action, such as suspension of matwriag, seizure of product or voluntary recall giraduct. Certain adverse experiences with
the product must be reported to the FDA and coesdilt in the imposition of market restriction thghulabeling changes or in product removal.
Product approvals may be withdrawn if compliancthwégulatory requirements is not maintained @rdblems concerning safety or efficacy
of the product occur following approval.

With respect to post-market product advertising prmanotion, the FDA imposes a number of complexik&tipns on entities that
advertise and promote pharmaceuticals, which irgladhong other things, standards and regulatidasng to direct-to-consumer advertising,
off-label promotion, industry sponsored scientific @addcational activities, and promotional activitiegolving the Internet. The FDA has ve
broad enforcement authority, and failure to abigéhese regulations can result in penalties inclgdhe issuance of a warning letter directing
the entity to correct deviations from FDA standaadsequirement that future advertising and proamati materials be pre-cleared by the FDA,
and state and federal civil and criminal invesimad and prosecutions.

We are subject to various laws and regulationsrddga laboratory practices, the experimental usanifnals, and the use and disposal of
hazardous or potentially hazardous substancesimembion with our research. In each of these assaabove, the government has broad
regulatory and enforcement powers, including thtalo levy fines and civil penalties, suspenddaiay issuance of approvals, seize or recall
products, and withdraw approvals, any one or mérehich could have a material adverse effect upgan u
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Other Government Regulations

In addition to laws and regulations enforced byRB&\, we are also subject to regulation under Netidnstitutes of Health guidelines, as
well as under the Controlled Substances Act, theuPational Safety and Health Act, the EnvironmePRtaltection Act, the Toxic Substances
Control Act, the Resource Conservation and Recoietyand other present and potential future fedatate or local laws and regulations, as
our research and development may involve the cletrase of hazardous materials, chemicals, viraselsvarious radioactive compounds.

In addition to regulations in the United States,ame subject to a variety of foreign regulationgegaing clinical trials and commercial
sales and distribution of MUSE and our product adates. Whether or not we obtain FDA approval fpreduct, we must obtain approval of a
product by the comparable regulatory authoritie®ofign countries before we can commence clirtigals or marketing of the product in the
countries. The approval process varies from countgountry, and the time may be longer or shdhtan that required for FDA approval. The
requirements governing the conduct of clinicallssiproduct licensing, pricing and reimbursememn\greatly from country to country.

The Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatognéyg (MHRA), the regulatory authority in the Unitéthgdom, authorized us to
begin commercial production and shipment of MUSHrfrour New Jersey facility in March 1998. We areently undergoing a routine
inspection by the MHRA. Our licensee in Europe, Bléd (Meda), is responsible for all direct commuations with the MHRA, including
those regarding any and all regulatory requiremdmwever, we are responsible for compliance witthsrequirements. Should the MHRA
determine that we have not satisfactorily compligtth these regulatory requirements, it could haveaderial adverse impact on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Corporate Collaborations and Licenses from Third Paties
Tanabe

In January 2001, we entered into an exclusive [x¢reent, Licensing and Supply Agreement with Tarfabéhe development of
avanafil, a PDES5 inhibitor compound for the oratidocal treatment of male and female sexual dygfancTanabe is one of Japan’s leading
pharmaceutical companies with estimated revenuesaf$1.4 billion in 2006.

Under the terms of the agreement, Tanabe agregmitd an exclusive license to us for products doimtg avanafil outside of Japan, Nc
Korea, South Korea, China, Taiwan, Singapore, led@) Malaysia, Thailand, Vietham and the PhilipginVe agreed to grant Tanabe an
exclusive, royalty-free license within those colegrfor oral products that we develop containingreafil. In addition, we agreed to grant
Tanabe an option to obtain an exclusive, royaltgriog license within those countries for non-onaducts that we develop containing
avanafil. Further, we granted Tanabe the optioobtain copromotional rights for oral products that we depelmder our license for up to 2!
of the promotional activity in our territory. Tarabgreed to manufacture and supply us with avafwafilse in clinical trials, which are our
primary responsibility.

We paid a $2.0 million license fee obligation tm@bke during the year ended December 31, 2006, theléerms of this agreement. We
expect to make other substantial payments to Taimadecordance with our agreements with Tanabes& payments are based on certain
development, regulatory and sales milestones. ditiad, we are required to make royalty paymentsoy future product sales.

In 2004, we also entered into a secured line afiteggreement with Tanabe Holding America, Incsubsidiary of Tanabe, allowing us to
borrow up to $8.5 million to be used for the depahent of avanafil. We can draw upon the line oflidrquarterly, with a 48-month term on
each drawdown bearing 2% annual interest. We arebiligated under any financial covenants in cotinaawith this agreement. As
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of December 31, 2006, we had long-term notes payablanabe Holding America, Inc. of $6.3 milli@md $2.2 million available for future
borrowing.

In February 2007, Tanabe Seiyaku Co., Ltd. anditshi Pharma Corporation announced that they dached an agreement in princi
on a proposed merger between the two firms. Basetiyess release from Tanabe, the merger is siteiuclose on October 1, 2007. It is
unclear at this time, what effect, if any, the negrgill have on our agreements with Tanabe. Tharele no guarantee that the successful
merger of Tanabe and Mitsubishi will not have ameade material effect on our agreements with Tanahéh in turn could lead to a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condisiod results of operations.

AcCrux

In February 2004, we entered into exclusive licegpsigreements with Acrux and its subsidiary undeiclvwe have agreed to develop
and, if approved, commercialize Testosterone MDiA& BvaMist in the United States for various fentaealth applications. Under the term:
the agreements, we agreed to pay to Acrux combicedsing fees of $3.0 million, up to $4.3 milliéor the achievement of certain clinical
development milestones, up to $6.0 million for aefrig product approval milestones, and royaltieseinsales in the United States following
approval and commercialization of each product.idéele a $1.0 million milestone payment to Acrux it@der 2006 related to the submiss
of a New Drug Application (“NDA”") to the FDA for EaMist. We expensed $1.0 million, $375,000 and $3lBon of clinical development
milestone fees under the terms of the agreemeniteigears ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and &pkctively. Upon approval of the
NDA for EvaMist, a $3.0 million product approval lestone will be due to Acru:

On November 14, 2006, we received a letter from atiafPhelps & Phillips LLP on behalf of Acrux and subsidiary notifying us of an
alleged dispute under the Testosterone and Estiadielopment Agreements between VIVUS and Acrue Mélieve we are in compliance
with all material aspects of both of these agredmand have communicated this belief to Acrux. éfave unable to resolve the matter with
Acrux, we intend to seek to enforce our rights uritlese agreements. The claims have not progrésdbadr, but, to date, the claims have not
been formally withdrawn. Development and commeizagion of EvaMist and Testosterone MDTS continagplanned and we believe that
have a meritorious defense to claims made by Aerwonnection with the alleged dispute.

Patents and Proprietary Technology

We hold 31 patents and 9 patent applications irthieed States and related patents and patentcagiplis in major foreign jurisdictions.
We intend to develop, maintain and secure inteldgbroperty rights and to aggressively defendmndue new patents to expand upon our
current patent base.

We have developed and acquired exclusive righpgtented technology in support of our developmadt@mmercialization of our
products, and we rely on trade secrets and prapyi¢¢chnologies in developing potential produdéie. continue to place significant emphasis
on securing global intellectual property rights @me aggressively pursuing new patents to expand opr strong foundation for
commercializing products in development.

Manufacturing

We own the Lakewood, New Jersey manufacturingitaes| which are primarily used for formulationlifig, packaging, analytical
laboratories, storage, distribution and administeadffices. The facility is cGMP certified and indes class 10,000 clean rooms used in the
sterile production of MUSE. The facilities inclutdeo buildings totaling 90,000 square feet, althoogk of the buildings is used for
warehousing component parts. The FDA and the Meelécand Healthcare products Regulatory Agency
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(MHRA), authorized us to begin commercial productémd shipment of MUSE from this facility in JunedaMarch 1998, respectively. We are
currently undergoing a routine inspection by the R We manufacture all of the worldwide demandNBySE in this facility.

In addition to manufacturing, we have fully inteigéh manufacturing support systems including qualgtyurance, quality control and
regulatory compliance. These support systems enaiie maintain high standards of quality for oroducts and simultaneously deliver
reliable services and goods to our customers onelyt basis.

Sales and Marketing

We intend to market EvaMist, if approved by the E@t#xough a partner, or though an internal salesefacalling on OB/GYN doctors, t
primary prescribers of hormone therapies. We beltbis intended direct marketing of EvaMist willoaV us to establish relationships with the
OB/GYN physician community and to familiarize thevith our MDTS technology in anticipation of the F3%approval of Testosterone-
MDTS and its entering the market. We intend tothese relationships to promote Testosterone-MDTUSfudure product candidate in the
female sexual health market.

For avanafil, we intend to enter into an agreemséttit a development and marketing partner that pritlvide commercial support for this
primary care product, as well as financial supparfuture late-stage development activities. Werdl to retain co-promotional rights and
may use our existing specialty sales organizatiamarket this product.

We anticipate that we will require additional fungito support internal sales and marketing effofsur future products that we intend to
market ourselves. We may seek to access the puhtidvate equity markets whenever conditions ak@fable. We may also seek additional
funding through strategic alliances and other foiag mechanisms. We cannot assure you that adefyrating will be available on terms
acceptable to us, if at all. We cannot assure ratiwe will successfully market our products undievelopment or that our products, if
successfully marketed, will generate revenues@afft to enable us to earn a profit.

We support MUSE sales in the United States witirectisales team comprised of regional sales masagel telesales personnel calling
on specialist physicians. We signed an internatidiséribution agreement with Meda AB in 2002. Aotding to the agreement, Meda will
purchase MUSE from us for resale in member stdtdsecEuropean Union and certain other Europeamntti@s. The agreement with Meda
provides that Meda will earn a predetermined piditcentage on product sales. The transfer priadigh we sell to Meda may change
depending on the final price to the customer aedidheign exchange rate in the country where MUsS$old. The current transfer price is in
excess of the variable costs of manufacturing MUSiRce our current facility is below maximum capaciinits sold to Meda contribute to
reimbursement for the fixed costs of the manufacgufacilities. If the final selling price and/dne foreign exchange rate decreases, the gross
profits on the sales of MUSE to Meda will decredséNovember 2000, we granted Paladin Labs theuska rights to distribute and market
MUSE in Canada.

Competition

Competition in the pharmaceutical and medical petglindustries is intense and is characterizedinsive research efforts and rapid
technological progress. Several large pharmaceéuticapanies are also actively engaged in the dpwedmt of therapies for the treatment of
obesity and sexual health.

Current anti-obesity products include Xenical &H#dt), marketed by Roche, and Meridia (sibutramimarketed by Abbott Labs. Orlistat
works by inhibiting lipase, an enzyme that blodks &bsorption of fat in the gastrointestinal tr&t2005, Xenical accounted for approximat
$87 million in
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sales in the United States, according to IMS He@itistat was recently launched over-the-counjeGtaxoSmithKline under the brand name
Alli. Phentermine is the largest selling anti-olyesherapeutic and is available in several gerferims. Topamax, marketed by Johnson and
Johnson, is not approved for the treatment of dypésit analysts estimate Topamax is used for tidgation.

Despite the large market opportunity for anti-obeagents, there are relatively few competitivedorts in late stage clinical
development. Rimonabant, which has been develop&hhofi-Aventis under the U.S. brand name Acomgfid in Europe as Zimulti, is the
most advanced. It has been approved in certaintdesmutside of the United States and has recewveabprovable letter from the FDA
relating to potential marketing in the United Sgateimonabant is the first in a new class of abggity drugs that work as antagonists at the
cannabinoid type 1, or CB-1, receptor. This isdame receptor that is stimulated by cannabis. Wimienabant has shown efficacy (average
4.7kg or 4.85%) across several large Phase lliceliririals at the highest dose tested, it has laésm associated with significant CNS side
effects, including depression and related sympt@osording to a 2006 report published in Drugs. dwerall risk-to-benefit profile of
rimonabant is yet to be defined. Analysts estintlaét peak sales of Acomplia for obesity could exicg®.0 billion.

The most significant competitive therapy for MUSEan oral medication marketed by Pfizer under #raenViagra, which received
regulatory approvals in the United States in Mat®B8 and in the European Union in September 1988.cobmmercial launch of Viagra in the
United States in April 1998 significantly decreasteanand for MUSE. In February 2003, an oral meticainder the name Cialis was
launched in Europe by Lilly ICOS LLC. Lilly ICOS L@ launched Cialis in the United States in Noven#i#)3. Bayer AG and
GlaxoSmithKline plc (“GSK”) launched Levitra in tl&uropean Union in March 2003 and in the UnitedeStin September 2003. In 2005, the
co-promotion rights of GSK on Levitra were transéerback to Bayer in many markets outside of tH. ldnd currently, GSK shares co-
promotion rights on Levitra in the U.S. with ScimgriPlough.

Other treatments for erectile dysfunction existhsas needle injection therapies, vacuum congriadevices and penile implants, and the
manufacturers of these products will most likelytioue to improve these therapies.

Several companies are developing products thatcmrhpete with our clinical candidates for the timeant of FSD. The Proctor &
Gamble Company has developed a testosterone gatteftreatment of HSDD in Europe. BioSante Phagutcals, Inc. is developing a
testosterone gel for HSDD. Palatin Technologies, &md others are also developing various nasayspo treat FSD. None of these products
has been approved by the FDA. In July 2006, th@iean Medicines Agency (EMEA) granted marketingharization of Intrinsa for the
treatment of HSDD in bilaterally oophorectomized d&ysterectomized women. This product has launah&ermany and France.

Research and Development

We spent $13.3 million in 2006, $17.0 million in() and $18.7 million in 2004 on research, prinyaol discover and develop our late-
stage clinical products in obesity and to restesaial function in men and women, to license froirdtparties the rights to products to treat
various sexual and nonsexual disorders and to sp@asly stage clinical trials at various reseanstitutions.

Employees

As of February 28, 2007, we had 114 employeesudhiaty 75 of which are located at our manufactufawlity in Lakewood, New Jersey
and 39 of which are located at our corporate headexs in Mountain View, California and other Unit8tates locations. None of our current
employees are represented by a labor union oharsutbject of a collective bargaining agreementbéleve that we maintain good relations
with our employees.
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Insurance

We maintain product liability insurance for our rmtly marketed product, MUSE, and our clinicahlgi Insurance coverage is becoming
increasingly expensive, and no assurance can lea ¢fitat we will be able to maintain insurance cagerat a reasonable cost or in sufficient
amounts to protect us against losses due to lgbllhere can also be no assurance that we wilbe to obtain commercially reasonable
product liability insurance for any products apmdvJor marketing.

International Operations

We entered into an agreement granting Meda AB siaumarketing and distribution rights for MUSEnrember states of the European
Union and we entered into an agreement grantingditalLabs, Inc. exclusive marketing and distribatilghts for MUSE in Canada. Meda
currently sells MUSE in the United Kingdom, Irelatf@wveden, Norway, Germany, Switzerland, DenmanklafRd, France and the Netherlands.
International product revenues from the sales ofS#Uo these distributors is included in the finahstatements and notes thereto appearing
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. International salessarbject to certain additional risks inherentonducting business outside the United States,
including changes in overseas economic and pdlitimaditions, terrorism, currency exchange ratesifin tax laws and tariffs and other
governmental action.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reporidqorm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amemdsito reports filed
pursuant to Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Seegrixchange Act of 1934, as amended, are avaibebderr website atww.vivus.com when
such reports are available on the Securities amtidige Commission website. Copies of our annuairteyill be made available, free of
charge, upon written request.

The public may read and copy any materials filed/ByUS with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Referena®R at 100 F Street, NE,
Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain infaiioraon the operation of the Public Reference Régnealling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that aosit@ports, proxy and information statements aheéranformation regarding issuers that
electronically with the SEC at http://www.sec.gd¥e contents of these websites are not incorpoiatedhis filing. Further, VIVUS’
references to the URLSs for these websites aredetto be inactive textual references only.

In addition, information regarding our code of ethand the charters of our Audit, CompensationNwmhinating and Governance
Committees, are available free of charge on oursitelisted above, or in print upon written request
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Set forth below and elsewhere in this Annual ReparForm 10-K and in other documents we file with Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) are risks and uncertainties thatdccause actual results to differ materially fréma results contemplated by the forward-
looking statements contained in this Annual ReparForm 10K. These are not the only risks and uncertaingesfy VIVUS. Additional risk
and uncertainties not presently known to us orweturrently deem immaterial may also impair ousibess operations.

Risks Relating to our Product Development Efforts
We face significant risks in our product developmenefforts.

The process of developing new drugs and/or thetapproducts is inherently complex, time-consumiegpensive and uncertain. We
must make long-term investments and commit sigaificesources before knowing whether our developpragrams will result in products
that will receive regulatory approval and achiewerket acceptance. Product candidates that may aftpba promising at all stages of
development may not reach the market for a numbezasons. Product candidates may be found inéffeot may cause harmful side effects
during clinical trials, may take longer to progrésough clinical trials than had been anticipatedy not be able to achieve the pre-defined
clinical endpoint due to statistical anomalies etleugh clinical benefit may have been achieved; fakto receive necessary regulatory
approvals, may prove impracticable to manufactareoimmercial quantities at reasonable cost and aditieptable quality, or may fail to
achieve market acceptance. Historically, our dgwalent efforts have been focused on products faradeand postmenopausal health. While
we have experience in managing Phase 1 throughi8atltrials in support of various indications, we not have, and may never have, any
experience in managing Phase 3 clinical trialsofmesity. There can be no assurance that we wglibeessful with the limited experience and
resources we have available at the present timéinglto obesity.

The results of pre-clinical studies and completedlioical trials are not necessarily predictive of fuure results, and our current product
candidates may not have favorable results in latestudies or trials.

Pre-clinical studies and Phase 1 and Phase 2allitmials are not primarily designed to test thiicaty of a product candidate in the
general population, but rather to test initial $aféo study pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynartacstudy efficacy in a selected disease
population, and to understand the product candilatée effects at various doses and scheduleseSsdn pre-clinical studies or completed
clinical trials does not ensure that later studiesials, including continuing pre-clinical studiand large-scale clinical trials, will be succaksf
nor does it necessarily predict future results.ofable results in early studies or trials may retdépeated in later studies or trials, and product
candidates in later stage trials may fail to shaeeatable safety and efficacy despite having pssge through initial-stage trials. In addition,
the placebo rate in larger studies may be highaar &xpected.

Our product candidates, Qnexa, Testosterone MDTSaaanafil, have not completed the large, pivoted® 3 trials for efficacy and
safety that are required for approval by the FDA ather worldwide regulatory authorities. Pre-aalidata and the limited clinical results that
we have obtained for these investigational prodoayg not predict results from studies in larger bars of subjects drawn from more diverse
populations treated for longer periods of time. Shaller clinical trials also may not predict th®ligy of these investigational products to
achieve or sustain the desired effects in the dedrpopulation or to do so safely. We may alsodietn not conduct additional Phase 2 studies
prior to the initiation of pivotal Phase 3 studibsaddition, we may elect to enter into pivotabBé 3 studies with a new formulation, delivery
system or choose to study different populations tieed been used or studied in previous clinicaldri
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Qnexa is a proprietary capsule formulation contajrthe active ingredients phentermine and topiranf&ientermine was approved for
shortterm treatment of obesity by the FDA in 1959. Tapiate is approved for seizures and migraine pr@renfopiramate has been repor
in published studies to produce weight loss. By loiming the activity of each of these compounds,X@regtempts to simultaneously address
excessive appetite and a high threshold for satileéytwo main mechanisms believed to impact ediattavior. Although we believe Qnexa
affects both of the two major causes of overeatxgessive hunger and the inability to feel satfive may not be correct in our assessment
of the impact the combination of these two ingratiienay have on weight loss or their mechanisnctiba. Our Phase 2 study was a single
center trial conducted by Duke University in on§02patients. The twice-a-day dose and timing ofath@inistration of the active ingredients
was determined by the inventor through the treatroEpatients in his private practice. We are amnitig the formulation development of
Qnexa and expect to initiate future Phase 3 studi€nexa with a once-a-day formulation. We intétmdomplete various pharmacokinetic
studies of the once-a-day formulations prior teeeng the Phase 3 trials to ensure adequate pleesrmbof Qnexa; however, there can be no
assurance that we will be able to achieve any wéigls effects with the onceemy formulation. The FDA has also asked us to sthdyeffect:
of a lower dose of Qnexa, which we plan to do mRthase 3 trials. We are unable to predict thetedfethe inclusion of a lower dose group in
the Phase 3 trials on the overall development progsf Qnexa.

We will be required to demonstrate through largete clinical trials that these product candidatessafe and effective for use in a broad
population before we can seek regulatory apprdealtheir commercial sale. There is typically athigte of attrition from the failure of
product candidates proceeding through clinicaldri@io date, long-term safety and efficacy haveysdtbheen demonstrated in clinical trials for
any of our product candidates. EvaMist has comglatPhase 3 clinical trial program. If any of aweastigational products fails to demonsti
sufficient safety and efficacy in any clinical trisve will experience potentially significant detain, or decide to abandon development of, that
product candidate. If we abandon or are delayediirdevelopment efforts related to any of our itigegional products we may not be able to
generate sufficient revenues to continue our ojmersitand clinical studies at the current level @cdme profitable, our reputation in the
industry and in the investment community would Ijkiee significantly damaged, it may not be possibleus to complete financings, and our
stock price would likely decrease significantly.

If the results of current pre-clinical studies andér clinical trials indicate that our proposed products are not safe or effective for human
use, our business will suffer.

Unfavorable results from ongoing pre-clinical segland/or clinical trials could result in delaysdifications or abandonment of ongoing
or future clinical trials. A number of companiegtiie pharmaceutical industry have suffered sigaificsetbacks in late stage clinical trials, €
after promising results in initial-stage trialsir@ital results are frequently susceptible to vagyimerpretations that may delay, limit or prevent
regulatory approvals. Negative or inconclusive Itssar adverse medical events during a clinical tould cause a clinical trial to be delayed,
repeated, modified or terminated. In addition uialto design appropriate clinical trial protocotaild result in the test or control group
experiencing a disproportionate number of adveveats and could cause a clinical trial to be delayepeated, modified or terminated.

Once a clinical trial has begun, it may be delagedpended or terminated due to a number of fadtmisiding:

» ongoing discussions with regulatory authoritiesareling the scope or design of our clinical trialseguests by them for supplemental
information with respect to our clinical trial réts)

« failure to conduct clinical trials in accordancdtwiegulatory requirements;
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« lower than anticipated retention rate of patientslinical trials;
» serious adverse events or side effects experidncedrticipants; or
« insufficient supply or deficient quality of drugradidates or other materials necessary for the agrafwour clinical trials.

Many of these factors may also ultimately leadenidl of regulatory approval of a current or poi@rdrug candidate. If we experience
delays, suspensions or terminations in our clirti¢als for a particular product candidate, the ocwencial prospects for that drug candidate will
be harmed, and we may be unable to raise additfandk, or generate product revenues from that damglidate or revenues would be dela

If the results of future clinical testing indicatethat our proposed products are not safe or effecte for human use, our business will
suffer.

All of the drug candidates that we are currentlyaleping require extensive pre-clinical and/or idai testing before we can submit any
application for regulatory approval. Before obtamiregulatory approvals for the commercial salarof of our product candidates, we must
demonstrate through pre-clinical testing and/aricél trials that our product candidates are sateeffective in humans. Conducting clinical
trials is a lengthy, expensive and uncertain prec€smpletion of clinical trials may take severahys or more. Our ability to complete clinical
trials may be delayed by many factors, including, fot limited to:

« inability to manufacture sufficient quantities afrapounds for use in clinical trials;

« failure to receive approval by the United Statesd=and Drug Administration, or FDA, of our clinidailal protocols;
« changes in clinical trial protocols imposed by Hi2A,;

« the effectiveness of our product candidates;

« slower than expected rate of and higher than erpemist of patient recruitment;

« inability to adequately follow patients after tneant;

» unforeseen safety issues;

e government or regulatory delays; or

< our ability to raise the necessary cash to stacborplete the trials.

One of the active ingredients in Qnexa, phenternfiad previously been used in combination withlfeaimine and dexfenfluramine.
Phentermine is the most commonly prescribed a@lmisity product. As phentermine is an older dragnew efficacy trials have been conduc
with the exception of several trials on the comboraof phentermine and fenfluramine in the earig anid 1990s. The combination of
fenfluramine or PONDIMIN (“fen”) and phenterminepfien”) is known as “fen-phen”. Fenfluramine receiWDA approval in 1973 for the
short-term treatment of obesity. Together, phenieerand fenfluramine were used by doctors to wéasity. The FDA never approved the fen-
phen combination; however, since the FDA approesdldiramine, doctors were able to prescribe iteexded. The use of these drugs together
for treatment of obesity was considered an offdlapel unapproved use. In 1992, a published study éen-phen as a more effective method
than dieting or exercise in reducing the weighthef chronically obese. The fen-phen combination suesessful and in 1996, 6.6 million
prescriptions of fen-phen were written in the LD&xfen-phen refers to the combination of dexfemifinine or Redux
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(“dexfen”) and phentermine (“phen”). Dexfenfluraraireceived FDA approval in 1996 for use as an @gpaippressant in the management of
obesity.

The dexfen-phen combination was successful. Ne@tbetbination, however, was ever tested for saféyythe summer of 1997, the Mayo
Clinic reported 24 cases of heart valve diseagaiients that had taken the fen-phen combinatibe.cluster of unusual cases of heart valve
disease in fen-phen users suggested a co-relatarebn ferphen use and heart valve disease. On July 8, 189FDA issued a Public Hea
Advisory to report the Mayo findings. The FDA canted to receive additional reports of heart disgiastuding reports from patients who had
taken only fenfluramine or dexfenfluramine. Furtbgaluations of patients taking fenfluramine orfdeduramine showed that approximately
30% had abnormal valve findings. This figure wasmhigher than expected for abnormal test resunlissaggests fenfluramine and
dexfenfluramine as the likely causes of Primarynkariary Hypertension (PPH) and valvular heart diseas

In September 1997, the FDA requested drug manutastto voluntarily withdraw fenfluramine and dexfisramine. At the same time,
the FDA recommended that patients using eithetdesrhine or dexfenfluramine stop taking them. TiEARid not, however, request the
withdrawal of phentermine. Although studies to dzage shown that phentermine does not cause PPMa@ndar heart disease, there can be
no assurance that Qnexa will not have any sigmificardiovascular or other detrimental side effelctshe Phase 2 study, echocardiograms
cardiovascular monitoring were performed and noatmalities were noted. The FDA has requested weigecour plans regarding the
collection of echocardiograms and cardiovasculanitodng of some patients in the proposed Phagedes. Moreover, the adverse clinical
history of fen-phen and dexfen-phen combinatiomf®sity may result in increased FDA regulatomusny of the safety of Qnexa and may
raise potential adverse publicity in the marketplaghich could affect clinical enroliment or ultitely market acceptance if Qnexa is approved
for sale.

Previous published studies suggest that the adimadtian of topiramate alone, in conjunction witletdand a behavioral modification
program, results in weight reduction in obese p#gieThe most prominent side effect seen in thdighdd studies was paresthesia, (tingling of
the extremities) experienced by 42% to 59% of pédieDrop outs due to paresthesia were 5% or llesbe Phase 2 Duke study, paresthesia
was experienced in 38% of the patients on Qnexareltvere no drop outs in the Qnexa group due testiagsia. The other common adverse
events experienced in the topiramate monotherajiest were also central nervous system (CNS) eklatduding fatigue, difficulty with
attention, memory and concentration and depresbidhe Phase 2 study, these CNS related sidetgffezre also experienced but the
difference was not significant when compared te@t®. The pharmaceutical company performing rebezfrtopiramate alone announced t
had discontinued development of a time-release ditation due to side effects at high doses.

The FDA has also recently begun the review of threedation of certain centrally acting drugs oncglel ideations. The agency has
requested that as part of our Phase 3 trials f@x@na standard suicidality analysis be perforridgidile we do not expect a negative impact
from the completion of this analysis on the ultimapproval of Qnexa, the labeled use of Qnexa mely@e patients with suicidal tendencies.

To date, the clinical results we have obtained almecessarily predict that the results of furtiesting, including larger, late-stage
controlled human clinical testing, will be successlkf our trials are not successful or are peredias not successful by the FDA or physicians,
our business, financial condition and results afrafions will be materially harmed.
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Our product candidate, Qnexa, is a combination of digs approved by the FDA that are commercially avdable and marketed by other
companies. As a result, our product may be subjetd substitution and competition.

We anticipate that the approved drugs that are @wdiio produce our product candidate, Qnexa,ikedylto be commercially available
at prices lower than the prices at which we woeleksto market our product candidate. We cannotibetbat physicians will view our
products as sufficiently superior to a treatmegtme of the individual active pharmaceutical indeeds as to justify the significantly higher
cost we expect to seek for Qnexa, and they maypbesthe individual drugs already approved andket&d by other companies instead of our
combination product. Even though our U.S. patentaias composition, product formulation and metloédise claims that should protect
Qnexa, that patent may be ineffective as a prdatiedter to protect against physicians prescriltirgindividual drugs marketed by other
companies instead of our combination product. Boetktent that the price of our product is signffittahigher than the prices of the individual
components as marketed by other companies, physiaiay have a greater incentive to write presamgstifor the individual components
instead of for our combination product, and thig/ri@it how we price Qnexa. Similar concerns coalso limit the reimbursement amounts
private health insurers or government agenciekerlnited States are prepared to pay for Qnexashwdould also limit market and patient
acceptance of our product, and could negativelyarhpur revenues and net income, if any. A physiciauld seek to prescribe off-label
generics in place of Qnexa. Off-label use occuremé drug that is approved by the FDA for one iation is prescribed by physicians for a
different, unapproved indication. Topiramate, ohéhe ingredients in Qnexa, is not approved forsitydreatment. With regard to off-label
substitution at the pharmacy level, we expect lp @a the novel dose ratios and novel pharmacokiqgegbperties of our product candidate, to
provide sufficient distinction such that generiearations are not considered therapeutic equitalgnthe FDA. State pharmacy laws in m
instances preclude pharmacists from substitutirig géneric preparations if the products are natgheutic equivalents. We believe there will
be no commercially available doses of the actigeddients in Qnexa, when and if approved. Theretbeelack of therapeutic equivalency
restricts generic substitution by pharmacies anglh@rmacy benefit managers. However, we cannottiain that pharmacists and/or pharrr
benefit managers will not substitute generics acplof Qnexa, which could significantly diminist iharket potential. Physicians might also
prescribe the individual components of a produotddate prior to Qnexa’s approval, which could adedy affect our development of the
product candidate due to our lack of control oherddministration to patients of the combinatiomctive pharmaceutical ingredients in our
product candidate, the occurrence of adverse effant other reasons. Such pre-approval use ctadcdversely affect our ability to market
and commercialize Qnexa.

In many countries where we may plan to market Qniexduding Europe, Japan and Canada, the pricimgescription drugs is controlle
by the government or regulatory agencies. Regulatgencies in these countries could determinethigapricing for Qnexa should be based on
prices for its active pharmaceutical ingredientewkold separately, rather than allowing us to eta@hexa at a premium as a new drug.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies may require 1more extensive or expensive trials for our combinatin investigational product
candidate, Qnexa, than may be required for singlegent pharmaceuticals.

To obtain regulatory approval for Qnexa, we willreguired to show that each active pharmaceutigaedient in the product candidate
makes a contribution to the combined product caatdid claimed effects and that the dosage of eastponent, including amount, frequency
and duration, is such that the combination is aafieffective for a significant patient populatiés. a result, we will be required to include in
our clinical trials an evaluation of each comporanig as well as for the component drug in
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combination. This would likely require us to contowre extensive and more expensive clinical ttiads would be the case for many single
agent pharmaceuticals. The need to conduct swadh tduld make it more difficult and costly to dbteegulatory approval of Qnexa than of a
new drug containing only a single active pharmacalingredient. The FDA revised guidelines for sityeset forth the Phase 2 requirements
for combination products. While we believe we hawe these requirements, there can be no assufzaiad¢ FDA will agree and that we can
proceed with a Phase 3 clinical protocol that idelkionly a Qnexa and placebo comparison.

We are exposed to risks related to collaborative aangements or strategic alliances.

We have and will continue to in-license productdidates from third parties. The United States ggbtEvaMist and Testosterone MDTS
were licensed from Acrux Limited and its relateflliates. The rights to avanafil were licensed frdanabe Seiyaku Co, LTD., a Japanese
corporation. Each of these agreements containaigebligations. Failure to comply with the ternidlee agreements could result in the early
termination of these agreements. We believe wénatempliance with all the material terms of thegeeements, however there can be no
assurance that this compliance will continue ot tha licensees would not have a differing intetgien of the material terms of the
agreements. If the license agreements were tereureatrly or if the terms of the license were caetk$for any reason it would have a material
adverse impact on our ability to commercialize picid subject to these agreements, our abilityise fiands to finance the company, our stock
price and our overall financial condition.

On November 14, 2006, we received a letter from aiaPhelps & Phillips LLP on behalf of Acrux DD$yR.td., FemPharm PTY Ltd.
and Acrux Limited (collectively “Acrux”) notifyingis of an alleged dispute under the Testosteron&atrddiol Development Agreements
between Vivus and Acrux. We believe we are in coamgle with all material aspects of both of theseagents and have communicated this
belief to Acrux. If we are unable to resolve thetteawith Acrux, we intend to seek to enforce dghts under these agreements. The claims
have not progressed further, but, to date, thengldiave not been formally withdrawn. Developmermt eemmercialization of EvaMist and
Testosterone MDTS continues as planned. We befieatenve have a meritorious defense to claims madicbux in connection with the
alleged dispute; however, in the event that Acthwusd prevail in this matter, it may have a mateadverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. We are, arttiénfuture expect to be, dependent upon collaberatrangements or strategic alliances to
complete the development and commercializatioroofesof our product candidates, particularly after Phase 2 stage of clinical testing.
These arrangements may place the development gfroduct candidates outside of our control, mayiregqus to relinquish important rights,
or may otherwise be on terms unfavorable to us.

In February 2007, Tanabe Seiyaku Co., Ltd. andWithi Pharma Corporation announced that they déached an agreement in princi
on a proposed merger between the two firms. Basedess release from Tanabe, the merger is seftkituclose on October 1, 2007. It is
unclear at this time, what effect, if any, the negrgill have on our agreements with Tanabe. Tharele no guarantee that the successful
merger of Tanabe and Mitsubishi will not have anesde material effect on our agreement with Tanadsgh in turn could lead to a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condisiod results of operations.

We may be unable to locate and enter into favoragteements with third parties, which could delajngair our ability to develop and
commercialize our product candidates and coulceae our costs of development and commercializaliependence on collaborative
arrangements or strategic alliances will subjedbus number of risks, including the risk that:

* we may not be able to control the amount and tinofinigesources that our collaborators may devotaeé@roduct candidates;

< our collaborators may experience financial difftas;
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« we may be required to relinquish important rightstrsas marketing and distribution rights;

* business combinations or significant changes iollaleorator’s business strategy may also adveisféygt a collaborator’s willingness
or ability to complete its obligations under anyaaigement;

« a collaborator could independently move forwardchvaitcompeting product candidate developed eitltapandently or in collaboratis
with others, including our competitors; and

collaborative arrangements are often terminateallowed to expire, which would delay the developtreerd may increase the cost of
developing our product candidates.

We face significant governmental regulation duringour product development activities.

The research, testing, manufacturing, selling aadkating of product candidates are subject to ekerregulations by the FDA and ott
regulatory agencies in the United States and athentries. We cannot predict with certainty if diem we might submit for regulatory review
those product candidates currently under developriiéxe FDA can suspend clinical studies at any fintige agency believes that the subjects
participating in such studies are being exposeathtxceptable health risks.

Regulatory approval is never guaranteed, and theoaipl process typically takes several years amedtiemely expensive. The FDA has
substantial discretion in the drug approval procBespite the time and expense involved, failure@zcur at any stage.

For example, in December 2004, an FDA advisory beem®mmended against approval of a testosterotoh pader development by
another company to address female sexual dysfundjmecifically hypoactive sexual desire disordére FDA indicated that more safety data
would be required before it would be in a positiomecommend approval. Subsequently, this compathdrew its New Drug Application. W
are developing a transdermal testosterone produnctidate, Testosterone MDTS, which is designeditivesss hypoactive sexual desire
disorder. In light of the FDA panel’s recommendatizve may be required to undertake additional gaexled clinical trials, which could be
expensive and the cause of significant delays fmability to submit our product candidate to theA-for consideration. In the end, we may be
unsuccessful in obtaining FDA approval of our pretdtandidate.

We are not permitted to market any of our investigel product candidates in the United Stated wdireceive approval from the FDA.
As a consequence, any failure to obtain or delaybtaining FDA approval for our product candidaiesnild delay or prevent our ability to
generate revenue from our product candidates, whalid adversely affect our financial results and lbusiness. We submitted the New Drug
Application (NDA) for EvaMist to the FDA in the ttd quarter of 2006. A material delay in the appt@fahe NDA for EvaMist, or in the
ultimate commercial launch of EvaMist would haveaaterial adverse impact on our stock price andfife condition.

Our applications for regulatory approval could be celayed or denied due to problems with studies condted before we licensed some of
our product candidates from third parties.

We currently license some of our investigationaldorct candidates from third parties. Our preseweld@ment programs involving these
product candidates rely in part upon previous dgwelent work conducted by third parties over whighhad no control and before we licen
the product candidates. In order to receive regufapproval of a product candidate, we must prietgethe FDA for its review all relevant d:
and information obtained during research and dgretnt, including research conducted prior to azerise of the product candidate. Although
we are not currently aware of any such problemg paablems that emerge with research and testingweted prior to our licensing a product
candidate may affect future results or our abtlitglocument prior research and to conduct clirtigals, which could delay, limit or prevent
regulatory approval for our product candidates.
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Following regulatory approval of any investigationd product candidates, we would be subject to ongogregulatory obligations and
restrictions, which may result in significant expese and limit our ability to commercialize our poterial drugs.

If one of our investigational product candidateapproved by the FDA or by another regulatory aritidor a territory outside of the
United States, we will be held to extensive regurlatequirements over product manufacturing, ladgglpackaging, adverse event reporting,
storage, advertising, promotion and record keepRegulatory approvals may also be subject to samt limitations on the indicated uses or
marketing of the product candidates. Potentiallstiggpost-marketing clinical studies may be requiias a condition of approval to further
substantiate safety or efficacy, or to investigatecific issues of interest to the regulatory aritjroPreviously unknown problems with the
product candidate, including adverse events of ticipated severity or frequency, may result inniebns on the marketing of the drug, and
could lead to the withdrawal of the drug from tharket.

In addition, the law or regulatory policies govegipharmaceuticals may change. New statutory reoueints may be enacted or additic
regulations may be enacted that could prevent lalydegulatory approval of our product candida#s. cannot predict the likelihood, nature,
extent or effects of government regulation that mage from future legislation or administrativeiae, either in the United States or elsewt
If we are not able to maintain regulatory complenee might not be permitted to market our prodacis our business could suffer.

We rely on third parties to conduct pre<linical and clinical trials and studies for our product candidates in development and those thir
parties may not perform satisfactorily.

Like many companies our size, we do not have tlilgyato conduct pre-clinical or clinical studiesrfour product candidates without the
assistance of third parties who conduct the stuatiesur behalf. These third parties are usuallyctrgy facilities and clinical research
organizations, or CROs, that have significant resesiand experience in the conduct of pre-cliracal clinical studies. The toxicology
facilities conduct the pre-clinical safety studieswell as all associated tasks connected wittethieglies. The CROs typically perform patient
recruitment, project management, data managematistieal analysis, and other reporting functiong intend to use several different
toxicology facilities and CROs for all of our prénical and clinical studies. If these third pattkicology facilities or CROs do not
successfully carry out their contractual dutiesneet expected timelines, we may not be able tarbegulatory approvals for our proposed
product candidates on a timely basis, if at altl exe may not be able to successfully commercidlizse proposed product candidates. If these
third party toxicology facilities or CROs do notrfigm satisfactorily, we may not be able to locateeptable replacements or enter into
favorable agreements with them, if at all.

We rely on third parties to manufacture sufficientquantities of compounds for use in our pre-clinicabnd clinical trials and future
commercial operations and an interruption to this grvice may harm our business.

We do not have the ability to manufacture the nialierve use in our pre-clinical and clinical trialsd future commercial operations.
Rather, we rely on various third parties to manuwfecthese materials. There can be no assurance¢haill be able to identify, qualify and
obtain regulatory approval for additional sourcéslimical materials. If interruptions in this sugpccur for any reason, including a decisior
the third parties to discontinue manufacturinghtecal difficulties, labor disputes or a failuretbg third parties to follow regulations, we may
not be able to obtain regulatory approvals forgnaposed product candidates and may not be alsiecessfully commercialize these propc
product candidates.
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We have identified third party suppliers of theisas components and materials, including API, efBvaMist product; however, the
contractual terms have not yet been finalizechéfNDA for EvaMist is approved, we will likely retyn single source suppliers for the EvaMist
product in the commercial launch quantities. Treeme be no assurance that we will be able to fiadhe contractual terms with these suppl
or that once finalized, these suppliers will becassful in supplying product to our specificatiavighin our launch timetable.

The Phase 3 clinical studies of EvaMist were cotelliasing the first generation MDTS applicator. Mé&e improved on the design of
housing used in the MDTS applicator, which we haiwill allow us to manufacture EvaMist more eféintly than with the previous design.
The New Drug Application (NDA) for EvaMist includéise new MDTS applicator. Since this applicator wasused in the pivotal Phase 3
study, the FDA may require additional data, inchgdclinical data, before it approves our NDA. Ifigcbnal data are required it would delay
the approval of the NDA for EvaMist, which in tucould delay the launch of the product into the regplace. A material delay in the approval
of the NDA for EvaMist or the ultimate commercialhch of EvaMist would have a material adverse ghpa our stock price and financial
condition.

We are continuing the formulation development oegm Currently, we have not finalized the once-gfdamulation. We have selected
the contract manufacturer to develop a once-a-dawlation. There can be no assurance that thedimae-a-day formulation can be
developed, that it can be developed on a timelisbhasif it is developed that it will result in Sicient safety and efficacy for approval. A
failure to develop a once-a-day formulation mayehavmaterial adverse impact on our stock pricefimadcial condition.

Risks Relating to our Operations

If we, or our suppliers, fail to comply with FDA and other government regulations relating to our man@acturing operations, we may be
prevented from manufacturing our products or may berequired to undertake significant expenditures tobecome compliant with
regulations.

After regulatory approval for a product candidateltained, the candidate is subject to contireglatory review. Manufacturing,
labeling and promotional activities are continuaibgulated by the FDA and equivalent foreign retjulaagencies. For example, our third p
manufacturers are required to maintain satisfaatorgpliance with current Good Manufacturing Praegicor cGMP. If these manufacturers
to comply with applicable regulatory requirememtst ability to manufacture, market and distribute products may be adversely affected. In
addition, the FDA could issue warning letters anldarequire the seizure or recall of products. FBA could also impose civil penalties or
require the closure of our manufacturing facilittitcGMP compliance is achieved.

We obtain the necessary raw materials and compsfienthe manufacture of MUSE as well as certaimises, such as testing and
sterilization, from third parties. We currently d¢act with suppliers and service providers, inchgdforeign manufacturers. We and these
suppliers and service providers are required tofiotGMP requirements and are subject to routircelarannounced inspections by the FDA
and by state and foreign regulatory agencies forgiance with cGMP requirements and other applieabgulations. Upon inspection of these
facilities, the FDA or foreign regulatory agencimay find the manufacturing process or facilities aot in compliance with cGMP
requirements and other regulations.

We are required to obtain FDA, European Medicimas ldealthcare products Regulatory Agency (“MHRAghd other regulatory agency
approvals for any change in suppliers or serviowigers. For example, MUSE is supplied to the miawkith the MUSE applicator, containing
the MUSE dosage, enclosed within a sealed foil poQuir previous supplier of the MUSE laminated Fak closed its business. The lamin:
foil is used to make the sealed foil pouch, desdtiibove, which is used to make
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the MUSE primary product container. Before thiswiwas supplier closed its business, the suppliedpced a bulk-quantity of foil that, at this
time, is expected to be sufficient to support tredpction of MUSE for the U.S. market through timel f the third quarter of 2007, as well as
support the production of MUSE for our internatibmearkets through the end of 2008. There can bassarance that as this bulk supply is
used through the end of the third quarter of 2@7XS. product, and through the end of 2008 fterimational product, that there will be a
sufficient yield in the final quantity of foil witlacceptable quality to support the respective markUSE demand. Although the foil supplier
produced this bulk unprinted foil, the label pnirgiwill be done periodically. As a consequencédfre are unacceptable quality issues with the
bulk foil, they may not be discovered as the bulitenial is used through the end of 2008. If sudhdfigality issues do occur, we may be unable
to meet MUSE demand in 2007 and 2008.

We have identified a new potential vendor for thdSE laminated foil. As this laminated foil is usiednake the MUSE primary product
container, there are significant qualifications aaglulatory approvals that must be obtained paarsing the new vendor to produce foil to
meet MUSE demand. These include, but are not lthiite vendor qualification, foil material qualifitan, MUSE product suitability studies,
electron beam irradiation suitability, FDA appravahd MHRA approval. Although the FDA has grantpgraval for the use of foil from our
new vendor for U.S. MUSE product, there can bessuance that these qualifications and approvdldasuccessfully obtained from the
MHRA or Canadian market regulatory agency, or thay will be obtained within the time needed toman MUSE demand before our current
supply of foil is exhausted. Failure to receivequde supplies of foil, failure to receive apprapgiregulatory approvals for the change in
materials and vendors, and any unforeseen qualiyamluction issues due to the use of the new nadgesr vendors could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

Failure to achieve satisfactory cGMP complianceadirmed by routine and unannounced inspectiondgddoave a material adverse
effect on our ability to continue to manufacturel aistribute our products and, in the most serase, result in the issuance of a regulatory
warning letter or seizure or recall of product@ nction and/or civil penalties or closure of ouamufacturing facility until cGMP compliance
achieved.

We are currently undergoing a routine inspectiothgyMHRA. Our licensee in Europe, Meda AB (Medayesponsible for all direct
communications with the MHRA, including those retjag any and all regulatory requirements; howewer are responsible for compliance
with such requirements. Should the MHRA determirat tve have not satisfactorily complied with thesgulatory requirements, it could have
a material adverse impact on our business, finhnoiaition and results of operations.

If we fail to comply with healthcare regulations, we could face substantial penalties and our busingssperations and financial condition
could be adversely affected.

As a manufacturer of pharmaceuticals, even thougldevnot and will not control referrals of healttecaervices or bill directly to
Medicare, Medicaid or other third party payors taerfederal and state healthcare laws and regaspertaining to fraud, abuse and patients’
rights are and will be applicable to our busin&¥s.could be subject to healthcare fraud, abusepatient privacy regulation by both the
federal government and the states in which we coinolur business. The regulations that may affectbility to operate include, but are not
limited to:

« the federal healthcare program Anti-Kickback Lavijat prohibits, among other things, persons frofit#img, receiving or providing
remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induceheit the referral of an individual, for an item endce or the purchasing or ordering of a
good or service, for which payment may be made ufedkeral healthcare programs such as the MedarateMedicaid programs;
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« federal false claims laws which prohibit, amongeotthings, individuals or entities from knowinglyegenting, or causing to be
presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Mddicar other third party payors that are falserautiulent, and which may apply to
entities like us which provide coding and billingvice to customers or promoting our commercial potsl for “off-label” use;

 the federal Health Insurance Portability and Acdabitity Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which prohibits egating a scheme to defraud any
healthcare benefit program or making false statésneating to healthcare matters and which algmsas certain requirements rela
to the privacy, security and transmission of indilly identifiable health information; and

+ state law equivalents of each of the above fedavad, such as ankickback and false claims laws which may applytéonis or service
reimbursed by any third party payor, including coenamal insurers, and state laws governing the pyivand security of health
information in certain circumstances, many of whiliffier from each other in significant ways andeoifare not preempted by HIPAA,
thus complicating compliance efforts.

If our operations are found to be in violation afyaf the laws described above or any other goventat regulations that apply to us, we
may be subject to penalties, including civil anidnénal penalties, damages, fines and the curtaitroenestructuring of our operations. Any
penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restringjuof our operations could adversely affect duitity to operate our business and our
financial results. Although compliance programs oatigate the risk of investigation and prosecutionviolations of these laws, the risks
cannot be entirely eliminated. Any action agairsstar violation of these laws, even if we succelgfdefend against it, could cause us to incur
significant legal expenses and divert our managé&matiention from the operation of our businessrébver, achieving and sustaining
compliance with applicable federal and state pgryaecurity and fraud laws may prove costly.

Our marketing activities for our products are subject to continued governmental regulation.

After product approval by the FDA, our labeling andrketing activities continue to be subject to F&d other regulatory review. If
products are marketed in contradiction with FDA detes, the FDA may issue warning letters that reqgpecific remedial measures to be
taken, as well as an immediate cessation of theimissible conduct. The FDA may also order thatalire promotional materials receive
prior agency review and approval before use. Fampte, the FDA issued a warning letter to us in M@@4 in which the FDA objected to a
specific television commercial as well as inforroatcontained on our website promoting MUSE, our Fipdroved product for the treatment
of erectile dysfunction. The letter indicated thet had failed to disclose or had minimized certé&hks associated with MUSE. Through
discussions with the FDA, we agreed to producetawe released a television commercial that we \eli®rrected the prior message and
addressed the FDA's concerns. We incurred cogisoviding this corrective information, which woubdve otherwise been utilized by us in a
different manner. In March 2005, we received alefitom the FDA indicating that the matter had belesed.

We must continue to monitor the use of our approvegroducts and may be required to complete postpproval studies mandated by thi
FDA.

Even if we receive regulatory approval of our prasusuch approval may involve limitations on thdicated uses or marketing claims
may make for our products. Further, later discovengreviously unknown problems could result in iiddal regulatory restrictions, including
withdrawal of products. The FDA may also requirdasommit to perform lengthy post-approval studfes which we would have to expend
significant additional resources, which could hameadverse effect on our operating results anaiadcondition. Failure to comply with the
applicable regulatory requirements can resultimoag other things, civil penalties, suspensionggtilatory approvals, product recalls,
operating restrictions and
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criminal prosecution. The restriction, suspensionegocation of regulatory approvals or any otlalufe to comply with regulatory
requirements could have a material adverse effecun business, financial condition and resultepdrations.

We depend exclusively on third party distributors autside of the United States and we have very limitecontrol over their activities.

We entered into an agreement granting Meda AB siaumarketing and distribution rights for MUSEnrember states of the European
Union. Meda currently sells MUSE in the United Kitogn, Ireland, Sweden, Norway, Germany, Switzerl@ehmark, Finland, France and
Netherlands. This agreement does not have minimunchpse commitments and we are entirely dependektenle's efforts to distribute and
sell MUSE effectively in all these markets. Theas de no assurance that such efforts will be ssfdes that Meda will continue to support
MUSE.

We entered into an agreement granting Paladin Labsexclusive marketing and distribution rights MUSE in Canada. This agreement
does not have minimum purchase commitments andaverdirely dependent on Paladin Labs’ effortsistribute and sell our product
effectively in Canada. There can be no assuraratestith efforts will be successful or that Palddibs will continue to support the product.

Sales of our current and any future products are sbject to continued governmental regulation, our aHity to accurately forecast
demand and our ability to produce sufficient quantties to meet demand.

Sales of our products both inside and outside thieed States will be subject to regulatory requieets governing marketing approval.
These requirements vary widely from country to douand could delay the introduction of our propbgeoducts in those countries. After the
FDA and international regulatory authorities apgravproduct, we must manufacture sufficient volutoeseet market demand. This is a
process that requires accurate forecasting of mddwmand. There is no guarantee that there withaeket demand for any future products or
that we will be able to successfully manufacturadequately support sales of any future products.

We have limited sales and marketing capabilities ithe United States.

We support MUSE sales in the United States thrauginall direct sales force targeting major accourgephone marketers also focus
urologists who prescribe MUSE. Physician and paiigiormation/help telephone lines are availablatswer additional questions that may
arise after reading the inserts or after actualafiske product. There can be no assurance thatades programs will effectively maintain or
potentially increase current sales levels. Therebeano assurance that demand for MUSE will coetimuthat we will be able to adequately
support sales of MUSE in the United States in theré.

If we are unable to establish capabilities to selfiyket and distribute our products, either by ttgpiag our own capabilities or entering
into agreements with others, we will not be ableuocessfully launch EvaMist or any of our otherdurct candidates, upon FDA approval. We
cannot guarantee that we will be able to hire thaified sales and marketing personnel we needmaie not be able to enter into any
marketing or distribution agreements with thirdtpaoroviders on acceptable terms, if at all. Intnent, we will not be able to generate
significant revenues.

We have little or no control over our wholesalersbuying patterns, which may impact future revenuesteturns and excess inventory.

For domestic sales we sell our product primarilyn&jor wholesalers located in the United Statesa Assult, most of our revenues are
derived from the three major wholesalers. We relglg on our wholesaler customers to effect thérithigtion allocation of our product. There
can be no assurance that
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these customers will adequately manage their lxcdlregional inventories to avoid outages, build-opresult in excessive returns for
expiration.

We do not control or significantly influence therpliasing patterns of wholesale customers. Theskiging/ sophisticated customers that
purchase our product in a manner consistent wéh thdustry practices and perceived businessastsr Our sales are subject to the purchi
requirements of our major customers, which presuyrade based upon projected volume levels. Purchiag@ny customer, during any period
may be above or below the actual prescription velsief our product during the same period, resuitirigcreases or decreases in inventory
existing in the distribution channel.

The markets in which we operate are highly competite and we may be unable to compete successfullyaaigst new entrants or
established companies.

Competition in the pharmaceutical and medical petglindustries is intense and is characterizedinsive research efforts and rapid
technological progress. We are aware of severahpd@eutical companies also actively engaged inlévelopment of therapies for the
treatment of obesity and sexual health. These comapdave substantially greater research and dewelnt capabilities as well as substanti
greater marketing, financial and human resourcas tie do. In addition, many of these companies kayréficantly greater experience than
in undertaking pre-clinical testing, human clinit@hls and other regulatory approval proceduras. €@mpetitors may develop technologies
and products that are more effective than thosare@eurrently marketing or developing. Such develepts could render our products less
competitive or possibly obsolete. We are also cdingeavith respect to marketing capabilities and ofanturing efficiency, areas in which we
have limited experience.

Current anti-obesity products include Xenical &H#dt), marketed by Roche, and Meridia (sibutramimarketed by Abbott Labs. Orlistat
is marketed in the United States by Roche Labdegtpinc. under the brand name Xenical. Orlistatkadoy inhibiting lipase, an enzyme that
blocks the absorption of fat in the gastrointestirect. In 2005, Xenical accounted for approxinha®&87 million in sales, in the United States,
according to IMS Health. Orlistat was recently lelued over-the-counter in the United States by GlamibhKline under the brand name Alli.
Phentermine is the largest selling amtbiesity therapeutic and is available in severakgeriorms. Topamax, marketed by Johnson and Joh
is not approved for the treatment of obesity buatlgsts estimate Topamax is extensively used faritidication in an off-label manner.

Despite the large market opportunity for anti-oheagents, there are relatively few competitiveduds in late stage clinical
development. Rimonabant, which has been develop&hhofi-Aventis under the U.S. brand name Acomatid in Europe as Zimulti, is the
most advanced. It has been approved in certaintGesioutside of the United States and has receaveabprovable letter from the FDA
relating to potential marketing in the United Sgateimonabant is the first in a new class of ab#sity drugs that work as antagonists at the
cannabinoid type 1, or CB-1, receptor. This isgdame receptor that is stimulated by cannabis. Wimienabant has shown efficacy (average
4.7kg or 4.85%) across several large Phase lliceirtrials at the highest dose tested, it has lésn associated with significant CNS side
effects, including depression and related sympt@osording to a 2006 report published in Drugs. dberall risk-to-benefit profile of
rimonabant is yet to be defined. Acomplia receigadapproval letter from the FDA in February 2004, the PDUFA date has been pushed to
July 2007. Analysts estimate that peak sales ohfpi@ for obesity could exceed $3.0 billion.

All of these drugs are marketed by pharmaceuticalganies with substantially greater resources tisatn addition, a number of generic
pharmaceutical products are prescribed for obdsitiiding phentermine, phendimetrazine, mazindehzphetamine and diethylpropion.
Some of these generic drugs, and others, are fisreddn combinations that have shown some leveffidacy. These products are sold at m
lower prices than we intend to charge for our pmadandidate, Qnexa, if approved. The
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availability of a large number of branded presaoiptproducts, generic products and over-the-coymaducts could limit the demand for, and
the price we are able to charge for, our obesitglpct candidate.

Other products are also in development which cbeltbme successful competitors against our obesitugt candidate, Qnexa. These
include products being developed by Arena Pharnteags, Inc., Amylin Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Alizymk, Merck & Co., Inc.,
Peptimmune, Inc. and Orexigen Therapeutics, Imsgray others. With the exception of Orexigen Theutips, Inc., most of these efforts are
directed toward a monotherapeutic approach whichva@d expect to be subject to the same early wéags plateau typically seen.

Significant competitive therapy for MUSE existglire form of oral medications marketed by Pfizec, lmnder the name Viagra ®, Ciais
which was launched in Europe by Lilly ICOS LLC drelitra® which is marketed by Bayer AG, GlaxoSmitm¢ plc and Schering-Plough
Corp in the United States and the European Union.

Other treatments for erectile dysfunction existhsas needle injection therapies, vacuum congriatevices and penile implants, and the
manufacturers of these products will most likelytioue to develop or improve these therapies.

Several companies are developing products thatiammpete with our product candidates for the meait of FSD including: The
Proctor & Gamble Company is developing Intrinsgesiosterone patch for the treatment of HSDD; Bm&#&harmaceuticals, Inc. is
developing forms of testosterone gels for HSDD Ratatin Technologies, Inc. is developing a nasaysfo treat FSD. None of these products
has been approved by the FDA. In July 2006, th@iean Medicines Agency (EMEA) granted marketindharization of Intrinsa for the
treatment of HSDD in bilaterally oophorectomized dysterectomized women and in February 2007 nsdrivas launched in France and
Germany.

New developments, including the development of iotinag technologies and methods of preventingrib&lence of disease, occur in the
pharmaceutical and medical technology industriesrapid pace. These developments may render oduptr candidates obsolete or
noncompetitive. Compared to us, many of our poésttmpetitors have substantially greater:

« research and development resources, including peesand technology;
* regulatory experience;

» drug development and clinical trial experience;

« experience and expertise in exploitation of intgllal property rights; and
« capital resources.

As a result of these factors, our competitors niatgia regulatory approval of their products mongidly than we or may obtain patent
protection or other intellectual property rightattimit our ability to develop or commercializerquoduct candidates.

If our raw material suppliers fail to supply us with the Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients for our pralucts and product candidates, for
which availability is limited, we may experience diays in our product development and commercializatn.

We are required to receive regulatory approvakfgrpliers. We obtained our current supply of alfzdit from two approved sources,
NeraPharm, s.r.0., in the Czech Republic and ChiRbiarmaceutical and Chemical Works Co., Ltd., im¢sary. We have manufacturi
agreements with Chinoin and NeraPharm to produdéiadal quantities of alprostadil for us.
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Furthermore, our current supply of alprostadilubject to periodic re-testing to ensure it contmteemeet specifications. There can be no
guarantees that our existing inventory of alprastail pass these re-testing procedures and coetio be usable material. There is a long lead:
time for manufacturing alprostadil. A shortage ipgly of alprostadil to be used in the manufactfrBIlUSE would have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition andiltssof operations.

In addition, we currently do not have manufacturdiggeements in place for topiramate, phentermiriestradiol. There can be no
guarantees that we will be able to enter into sagrieements under reasonable terms, if at all. Weataguarantee that should we be successful
in entering into such agreements we will be ableltain the necessary regulatory approvals foretiseppliers.

We outsource several key parts of our operations,na any interruption in the services provided by thrd parties could harm our
business.

Under our outsourcing agreement with Cardinal Heditc. related to MUSE, Cardinal Health warehowmgsfinished goods for United
States distribution; takes customer orders; piplsks and ships our products; invoices customatscallects related receivables. As a result
of this distribution agreement, we are heavily defent on Cardinal Health’s efforts to fulfill ordeand warehouse our products effectively in
the United States. There can be no assuranceutiaes$forts will continue to be successful.

Under our testing agreement, Gibraltar LaboratgrE$orms sterility testing on finished product ratattured by us to ensure that it
complies with product specifications. Gibraltar bedttories also performs microbial testing on watet compressed gases used in the
manufacturing process and microbial testing onremvinental samples to ensure that the manufactenmgonment meets appropriate cGMP
regulations and cleanliness standards. As a refktllis testing agreement, we are dependent ora(dbi_aboratories to perform testing and
issue reports on finished product and the manufiacfenvironment in a manner that meets cGMP reiguis.

We have an agreement with WRB Communications tallegmatient and healthcare professional hotlinesswer questions and inquiries
about MUSE. Calls to these hotlines may include mlaints about our products due to efficacy or quahis well as the reporting of adverse
events. As a result of this agreement, we are dipgron WRB Communications to effectively handlestn calls and inquiries. There can b
assurance that such efforts will be successful.

We entered into a distribution agreement with Iraégd Commercialization Services, or ICS, a subsjddf AmerisourceBergen
Corporation. ICS provides direct-to-physician disition of product samples in support of Unitedt&anarketing and sales efforts. As a result
of this distribution agreement, we are dependendC@is efforts to distribute product samples efifiesy.

We rely on two companies, E-Beam Services, Inc:§&am”) and Beam One, LLC (“Beam One”), for theititmation of MUSE.
However, for some international markets, the MU$&dBct License includes approval to use only onthefabove listed vendors. If
interruptions in these services occur for any reasluding a decision by E-Beam or Beam One scahtinue manufacturing or services,
political unrest, labor disputes or a failure oBEam or Beam One to follow regulations, the comiaémarketing of MUSE and the
development of other potential products could vented or delayed. An extended interruption inlstation services would have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

31




We currently depend on a single source for the sufypof plastic applicator components for MUSE and tte individual plastic component
parts and materials, including API, of the EvaMistproduct, and an interruption to these supply sourcs could harm our business.

We rely on a single injection molding company, Mgele Medical Products, LLC (“Medegen”), for our slyppf plastic applicator
components. In turn, Medegen obtains its supphesiih, a key ingredient of the applicator, fromragke source, Huntsman Corporation. There
can be no assurance that we will be able to ideatifl qualify additional sources of plastic compuaer that Medegen will be able to identify
and qualify additional sources of resin. We areuiegl to receive FDA approval for new supplierstiUme secure and qualify additional
sources of plastic components, we are entirely migget upon Medegen. If interruptions in this supmdgur for any reason, including a
decision by Medegen to discontinue manufacturiaot disputes or a failure of Medegen to followulagjons, the manufacture and marketing
of MUSE and other potential products could be dedbgr prevented. An extended interruption in thepbuof plastic components could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finarcatlition or results of operations.

The Phase 3 clinical studies of EvaMist were cotelliasing the first generation MDTS applicator. Mé&e improved on the design of
housing used in the MDTS applicator, which we haiill allow us to manufacture EvaMist more eféiotly than with the previous design.
Should the FDA approve our NDA for EvaMist, in tarly stages of our commercial launch we intensinigle source the individual
component parts of the EvaMist MDTS applicator.edtended interruption in the supply of plastic comgnts could have a material adverse
impact on the commercialization of EvaMist and fimancial condition and results of operations.

We have identified third party suppliers of theisas components and materials, including API, efvaMist product; however, the
contractual terms have not yet been finalizechéf MDA for EvaMist is approved, we will likely relyn single source suppliers for the EvaMist
product in the commercial launch quantities. Trezne be no assurance that we will be able to fiealz contractual terms with these suppl
or that once finalized, these suppliers will becassful in supplying product to our specificatiovithin our launch timetable.

All of our manufacturing operations are currently conducted at a single location, and a prolonged inteuption to our manufacturing
operations could harm our business.

We purchased two buildings with a total combine@00 square feet in Lakewood, New Jersey, whiclpregiously leased, on
December 22, 2005. This facility is used for oummrfacturing operation, which includes formulatifiting, packaging, analytical laboratorie
storage, distribution and administrative officeseTFDA and the Medicines and Healthcare productaiReory Agency, the regulatory
authority in the United Kingdom, authorized us &gim commercial production and shipment of MUSHErfithis facility in June and
March 1998, respectively. MUSE is manufacturecdis facility and we have no plans to construct haptnanufacturing site. Since MUSE is
produced with custom-made equipment under spenificufacturing conditions, the inability of our méaturing facility to produce MUSE
for whatever reason could have a material advdfseten our business, financial condition and hssof operations.

We are dependent upon a single approved therapeutapproach to treat erectile dysfunction.

MUSE relies on a single approved therapeutic amprea treat erectile dysfunction, a transurethyateam. The existence of side effects or
dissatisfaction with this product may impact a @attis decision to use or continue to use, or aiplarss decision to recommend, this
therapeutic approach as a therapy for the treatofeerectile dysfunction, thereby affecting the eoercial viability of MUSE. In addition,
technological changes or medical advancements dottlier diminish or eliminate the commercial
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viability of our product, the results of which cdlhave a material effect on our business operatiodsesults.

If we fail to retain our key personnel and hire, train and retain qualified employees, we may not bebte to compete effectively, which
could result in reduced revenues.

Our success is highly dependent upon the skilslohited number of key management personnel. @oh@ur business objectives, we
will need to retain and hire qualified personnethia areas of manufacturing, sales and marketésgarch and development, regulatory affairs,
clinical trial management and pre-clinical testifipere can be no assurance that we will be alidrecor retain such personnel, as we must
compete with other companies, academic institutignsernment entities and other agencies. Thedbaay of our key personnel or the failure
to attract or retain necessary new employees duald an adverse effect on our research, produei@@went and business operations.

We are subject to additional risks associated witlour international operations.

MUSE is currently marketed internationally. Changesverseas economic and political conditionstural terrorism, currency exchange
rates, foreign tax laws or tariffs or other tradgulations could have an adverse effect on ounkasij financial condition and results of
operations. The international nature of our busineslso expected to subject us and our repregagaagents and distributors to laws and
regulations of the foreign jurisdictions in whiclewperate or where our products are sold. The aéguolof drug therapies in a number of such
jurisdictions, particularly in the European Uni@ontinues to develop, and there can be no assuthateew laws or regulations will not ha
a material adverse effect on our business, finhooiadition and results of operations. In additithe laws of certain foreign countries do not
protect our intellectual property rights to the saextent as the laws of the United States.

Any adverse changes in reimbursement procedures lgovernment and other third party payors may limit our ability to market and sell
our products or limit our product revenues and dely profitability.

In the United States and elsewhere, sales of plwaumiaal products are dependent, in part, on tadahility of reimbursement to the
consumer from third party payors, such as govertmed private insurance plans. Third party payoesiacreasingly challenging the prices
charged for medical products and services. Some plairty payor benefit packages restrict reimbuesgror do not provide coverage for
specific drugs or drug classes. While a large peage of prescriptions in the United States for NEUtave been reimbursed to some extent by
third party payors since our commercial launchanuhry 1997, there can be no assurance that odugsowill be considered cost effective
that reimbursement to the consumer will continubdavailable or sufficient to allow us to sell uoducts on a competitive basis.

In addition, certain healthcare providers are mgyowards a managed care system in which suchgem/contract to provide
comprehensive healthcare services, including pigmm drugs, for a fixed cost per person. We arahle to predict the reimbursement polit
employed by third party healthcare payors. Furttieenreimbursement for MUSE could be adverselycadie by changes in reimbursement
policies of governmental or private healthcare payo

The healthcare industry is undergoing fundamertahges that are the result of political, economit egulatory influences. The levels
of revenue and profitability of pharmaceutical canigs may be affected by the continuing effortgmfernmental and third party payors to
contain or reduce healthcare costs through varoesns. Reforms that have been and may be consimetade mandated basic healthcare
benefits, controls on healthcare spending throimghdtions on the increase in private health ineaeapremiums and the types of drugs eligible
for reimbursement and Medicare and Medicaid spendire creation of large insurance purchasing gg@uqul fundamental changes to the
healthcare

33




delivery system. Due to uncertainties regardingotiieome of healthcare reform initiatives and tlegiactment and implementation, we cannot
predict which, if any, of the reform proposals viiét adopted or the effect such adoption may hawesoihere can be no assurance that future
healthcare legislation or other changes in the ahtnéation or interpretation of government healtiecar third party reimbursement programs
will not have a material adverse effect on us. Hhealre reform is also under consideration in sotherccountries.

The continuing efforts of government and third paoayors to contain or reduce the costs of heath through various means may red
our potential revenues. These payors’ efforts cdelctease the price that we receive for any praduetmay develop and sell in the future. In
addition, third party insurance coverage may noavaglable to patients for any products we develbgovernment and third party payors do
not provide adequate coverage and reimbursemeegisléw our products, or if price controls are @éadgcour product revenues will suffer.

Congress passed legislation that ended federalddiedand Medicare payments for erectile dysfuncatinnmgs beginning January 1, 2006
and January 1, 2007, respectively. Historicallyubeime of MUSE sales to Medicaid and Medicarequdasi was not a significant portion of «
overall MUSE sales volume. We believe there iséasing political pressure to reduce or eliminat@bersement by the U.S. government for
erectile dysfunction drugs. A reduction or elimioatin the reimbursement by the U.S. governmentldvbave a material adverse impact on
our revenues and business operations.

One of the active ingredients in Qnexa, phenterrsravailable as a generic. The other, topiramatgybject to several patents, the first of
which is set to expire in 2008. Based on the reseae have completed to date, we have no reasbalimve Qnexa would not be subject to
reimbursement by third party payors. The exact sla$¢he active ingredients in the final formulatiof Qnexa will be different than those
currently available. State pharmacy law prohibhianmacists from substituting drugs with differingsds and formulations. The safety and
efficacy of Qnexa is highly dependent on the fitrat dosing and formulation which we believe contd be easily duplicated, if at all, with the
use of generic substitutes. However, there carolesaurance that we will be able to provide formal reimbursement of Qnexa for obesity
from third party payors or the U.S. government.tkemmore, there can be no assurance that healthaariglers would not actively seek to
provide patients generic versions of the activeedgnts in Qnexa in order to treat obesity attemtial lower cost.

Federal legislation may increase the pressure to dece prices of pharmaceutical products paid for byMedicare, which could adversely
affect our revenues, if any.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, andi®taization Act of 2003, or MMA, expanded Medicaowerage for drug purchas
by the elderly and disabled beginning in 2006. Uride MMA, private insurance plans subsidized g/ glovernment offer prescription drug
coverage to Medicare beneficiaries who elect tolenr their plans. Although almost all prescriptidrugs are potentially available to plan
enrollees, the plans are allowed to use formulapeferred drug lists and similar mechanisms wofaelected drugs and limit access to other
drugs except in certain circumstances. The pri@drug as negotiated between the manufacturea g@feh is a factor that the plan can
consider in determining its availability to enrate

As a result, we expect that there will be increga@dsure to reduce prices for drugs to obtainrihle status for them under the plans
offering prescription drug coverage to Medicaredf@mmaries. This pressure could decrease the cgeemad price that we receive for our
products in the future and could seriously harmhusginess. It is possible that our product, Qnéaiccessfully developed, could be
particularly subject to price reduction initiativiescause it is based on combinations of lower gréoésting drugs.

34




In addition, some members of Congress advocateahbdederal government should negotiate directti wanufacturers for lower prices
for drugs in the Medicare program, rather than cglyprivate plans. If the law were changed to albywequire such direct negotiation, there
could be additional reductions in the coveragenaf prices that we receive for our products.

Recent federal legislation and actions by state aridcal governments may permit re-importation of drugs from foreign countries into
the United States, including foreign countries wher the drugs are sold at lower prices than in the Uted States, which could adversely
affect our operating results and our overall finangal condition.

We may face competition for our products from lowsced products from foreign countries that halee@d price controls on
pharmaceutical products. The Medicare Prescrigbiarg Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 @dms provisions that may change
U.S. importation laws and expand consumers’ abititimport lower priced versions of our product digiates and competing products from
Canada, where there are government price confrbbsse changes to U.S. importation laws will noetaKect unless and until the Secretary of
Health and Human Services certifies that the chamgélead to substantial savings for consumeid aill not create a public health safety
issue. The Secretary of Health and Human Serviassibt yet announced any plans to make this rajoerification. As directed by Congre
a task force on drug importation conducted a colmsive study regarding the circumstances undechadriug importation could be safely
conducted and the consequences of importation@hehlth, medical costs and development of neweiredi for U.S. consumers. The task
force issued its report in December 2004, findimgt there are significant safety and economic s#u@ must be addressed before importation
of prescription drugs is permitted. In additiomwamber of federal legislative proposals have beadario implement the changes to the U.S.
importation laws without any certification, andiimaden permissible imports in other ways. Evehdfchanges do not take effect, and other
changes are not enacted, imports from Canada aad/leére may continue to increase due to markepalitical forces, and the limited
enforcement resources of the FDA, the U.S. Cust®eamgice and other government agencies. For example,L. No. 109-295, which was
signed into law in October 2006 and provides apgpatipns for the Department of Homeland Securitytfee 2007 fiscal year, expressly
prohibits the U.S. Customs Service from using futadgrevent individuals from importing from Canddas than a 90-day supply of a
prescription drug for personal use, when the dithgravise complies with the Federal Food, Drug, @odmetic Act. Further, several states and
local governments have implemented importation sesefor their citizens, and, in the absence ofridection to curtail such activities, we
expect other states and local governments to laumpabrtation efforts. The importation of foreignogiucts that compete with our own prodt
could negatively impact our financial condition.

Defending against claims relating to improper handhg, storage or disposal of hazardous materials ctidibe time consuming and
expensive.

Our research and development involves the contreite of hazardous materials and our operatiordupehazardous waste products.
cannot eliminate the risk of accidental contamoratr discharge and any resultant injury from thosgerials. Various laws and regulations
govern the use, manufacture, storage, handlinglesmbsal of hazardous materials. We may be sueahfpinjury or contamination that results
from our use or the use by third parties of theagenmals. Compliance with environmental laws arglitations may be expensive, and current
or future environmental regulations may impair mesearch, development and production efforts.
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Our business and operations would suffer in the ew of system failures.

Despite the implementation of security measuresjrgarnal computer systems and those of our CR@#her contractors and
consultants are vulnerable to damage from compirteses, unauthorized access, natural disastersriten, war and telecommunication and
electrical failures. While we have not experienaag such system failure, accident or security breaaate, if such an event were to occur
cause interruptions in our operations, it couldilteis a material disruption of our drug developrprograms and drug manufacturing
operations. For example, the loss of clinical tdala from completed or ongoing clinical trials far product candidates could result in delays
in our regulatory approval efforts and significgriticrease our costs to recover or reproduce ttee da the extent that any disruption or
security breach were to result in a loss of or dgerta our data or applications, or inappropriageldisure of confidential or proprietary
information, we could incur liability and the fughdevelopment of our product candidates couldebeyed.

Natural disasters or resource shortages could dispt our operations and adversely affect results.

Our manufacturing operation is conducted in a sihgtation in Lakewood, New Jersey. In the evera natural disaster in that region,
such as a storm, drought or flood, or localize@eded outages of critical utilities or transpodatsystems, we do not have a formal business
continuity or disaster plan, and could thereforpegience a significant business interruption.

Furthermore, our clinical trials could be delayedisrupted indefinitely upon the occurrence ofatumnal disaster. For example, in 2005,
our clinical trials in the New Orleans area werteirupted by Hurricane Katrina. Future natural stiees could further delay our clinical trials
process, thus adversely affecting our businesdinadcial results.

Risks Relating to our Intellectual Property
We may be sued for infringing the intellectual progrty rights of others.

There can be no assurance that our products dar matl not infringe on the patent or proprietarghts of others. Third parties may assert
that we are employing their proprietary technolagthout authorization. For example, in October 2002 United States Patent and Trader
Office (USPTO) issued to Pfizer a method of usepiatU.S. Patent No. 6,469,012. Pfizer immediatgtiated litigation against competitors
who were selling PDES inhibitors, including ICOBetmaker of Cialis. In September 2003, the USPTd@red the reexamination of the pat
In a related action, the European Patent Officeked Pfizer's European patent. However, if thenstaunder the method of use patent are
upheld by the USPTO, we may be prevented from comialzing avanafil, our PDES inhibitor.

In addition, third parties may obtain patents ia thture and claim that use of our technologiesrigés these patents. We could incur
substantial costs and diversion of the time arghtitin of management and technical personnel iandifig ourselves against any such claims.
Furthermore, parties making claims against us neaglite to obtain injunctive or other equitablee®that could effectively block our ability to
further develop, commercialize and sell produats, such claims could result in the award of sulisthdamages against us. In the event of a
successful claim of infringement against us, we tmayequired to pay damages and obtain one or licereses from third parties. We may not
be able to obtain these licenses at a reasonasigifcat all. In that case, we could encounteagelin product introductions while we attemp
develop alternative methods or products or be redub cease commercializing affected productsaamaperating results would be harmed.
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Our inability to adequately protect our proprietary technologies could harm our competitive positionrad have a material adverse effec
on our business.

We hold various patents and patent applicatiorikérlJnited States and abroad targeting obesitynaadd and female sexual health among
other products. Qnexa is our product candidatelitinvg low doses of topiramate and phentermine. @reJ, 2006, U.S. Patent No. 7,056,890
B2 was issued by the USPTO. This patent containgosition, product, and other claims that shouttent Qnexa as a proprietary product
the treatment of obesity. The term of this patete¢mds into 2019. The corresponding European patghtsimilar claims has been approved
for grant. We are in the process of prosecutingmtedpplications in other countries as well, tcagbsignificant foreign patent coverage for
both Qnexa and future generations of Qnexa. Furtbez, we have filed additional patent applicationthe United States to expand the
coverage that will be provided by the initial Ugaitent. The primary focus of the patent applicatisnon combination therapy using a
sympathomimetic agent (such as phentermine) arshéiconvulsant (such as topiramate) for the treatro€obesity and other related
disorders. We have worked closely with our pateninsel to put together a cogent patent strategyaembuilding a strong patent portfolio,
ensuring exclusivity for many years to come.

The success of our business depends, in part, roabdlity to obtain patents and maintain adequatégation of our intellectual property
for our proprietary technology and products in theted States and other countries. The laws of siomgggn countries do not protect
proprietary rights to the same extent as the ldwkeoUnited States, and many companies have ete@ahsignificant problems in protecting
their proprietary rights in these foreign countriEsese problems can be caused by, for exampéekeolf rules and processes allowing for
meaningful defense of intellectual property righitsve do not adequately protect our intellectuaerty, competitors may be able to use our
technologies’ and erode our competitive advantage,our business and operating results could badur

The patent positions of pharmaceutical companiediding our patent positions, are often uncersaid involve complex legal and fact
guestions. We will be able to protect our proprigtéghts from unauthorized use by third partietydo the extent that our proprietary
technologies are covered by valid and enforceaderyts or are effectively maintained as trade secvée apply for patents covering our
technologies and products, as we deem appropHatgever, we may not obtain patents on all inverttifor which we seek patents, and any
patents we obtain may be challenged and may bewedr in scope or extinguished as a result of shellenges. We could incur substantial
costs in proceedings before the USPTO, includitgrierence proceedings. These proceedings couwdedsilt in adverse decisions as to the
priority of our inventions. There can be no assoeathat our patents will not be successfully cimglél or designed around by others.

Our existing patents and any future patents weinlobay not be sufficiently broad to prevent othfeesn practicing our technologies or
from developing competing products. Others may redelently develop similar or alternative technadsgor design around our patented
technologies or products. These companies would likeeable to develop, manufacture and sell prodbetscompete directly with our
products. In that case, our revenues and operagggts would decline.

We seek to protect our confidential informationdsyering into confidentiality agreements with enygles, collaborators and consultants.
Nevertheless, employees, collaborators or condsltaay still disclose or misuse our confidentidimation, and we may not be able
meaningfully protect our trade secrets. In addjtmthers may independently develop substantialyvedent information or techniques or
otherwise gain access to our trade secrets. Disdaw misuse of our confidential information wohlakm our competitive position and could
cause our revenues and operating results to decline

We may be subject to claims that we, or our emmeybave wrongfully used or disclosed alleged tssbeets of their former employers.
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We employ individuals who were previously employtather pharmaceutical companies, including oangetitors or potential
competitors. Although we have no knowledge of aegding claims, we may be subject to claims thaddhemployees or we have inadverte
or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets er pfoprietary information of their former emploget.itigation may be necessary to defend
against these claims. Even if we are successfigianding against these claims, litigation coukltein substantial costs and be a distractic
management.

We may not be able to develop or commercialize oyroduct candidates due to intellectual property ridhts held by third parties.

If a third party holds a patent to a compositiomma@thod of use of an approved drug that is a compoof one or more of our product
candidates, we may not be able to develop or corialze such product candidates without first afiiteg a license to such patent, or waiting
for the patent to expire. Our business will be tearii we are unable to use the optimal formulabomethods of use of the component drugs
that comprise our product candidates. This may olbeoause the formulations or methods of use arered by one or more third party pate
and a license to such patents is unavailable @radable on terms that are unacceptable to us.

We may be unable to in-license intellectual propeytrights or technology necessary to develop and conercialize our products.

Depending on its ultimate formulation and methodisd, before we can develop, clinically test, maise, or sell a particular product
candidate, we may need to obtain a license fromoomeore third parties who have patent or otheliettual property rights covering
components of our product candidate or its mettfagse. There can be no assurance that such licernibég available on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all. If a third party doesoffer us a necessary license or offers a lieemdy on terms that are unattractive or
unacceptable to us, we might be unable to devaidgcammercialize one or more of our product cartdila

Risks Relating to our Financial Position and Needdr Financing

We require additional capital for our future operating plans, and we may not be able to secure the neigite additional funding on
acceptable terms, or at all.

Our capital resources are expected to continuedbre over the next several quarters as the ressftending on research and
development projects, including clinical trials. Quly 14, 2006, VIVUS, Inc. filed with the Secuesi and Exchange Commission (SEC) a shelf
Registration Statement on Form S-3. The shelf Regisn Statement (File Number 333-135793) wasated effective by the SEC on
August 16, 2006, providing us with the ability tifep and sell up to an aggregate of $80.0 millibGm@mmon stock from time to time in one or
more offerings. The terms of any such future offgnvould be established at the time of such ofterdn November 17, 2006, we raised $33.6
million in a registered direct offering of our coramstock pursuant to this shelf Registration Stat@mUnder the terms of this financing, we
sold and issued a total of 6,750,000 shares ofornmon stock at a price of $3.50 per share in #ialiclosing and an additional 2,850,000
shares in a second closing on December 8, 20064&n10, 2006, we raised $12.0 million in a registedirect offering under an earlier shelf
Registration Statement (File Number 3B3:159) in which we sold and issued 3,669,725 shawe common stock to two institutional inves:
at a price of $3.27 per share.

On January 4, 2006, we obtained a $5.4 million livam Crown Bank, N.A. (“Crown”). The land and kdiihgs, among other assets,
located at our principal manufacturing facility 2a1¢700,000 Certificate of Deposit held by Crowrvsas collateral for this loan. The loan is
payable over a 10-year term and the interest rdtdevfixed at 8.25%, which is the prime rate pl#b at the time of funding and then will be
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adjusted annually to a fixed rate for the year &tuthe prime rate plus 1% with a floor of 7.5%n December 22, 2005, we purchased from
our landlord our principal manufacturing facilityhich was previously leased, for $7.1 million. Thechase price was funded in part by $3.3
million of restricted cash, which was being heldtbg landlord as cash collateral for renovationthéfacility upon the termination of the lease
and the remainder with cash. On March 15, 2005sal@ 6,250,000 shares of our common stock at & pfi&3.40 per share under shelf
Registration Statement (File No. 333-121159), mtmg us with net proceeds of $19.6 million.

We expect that our existing capital resources captbivith future anticipated cash flows will be gtifint to support our operating
activities into 2008. However, we anticipate that will be required to obtain additional financirgftind the development of our research and
development pipeline in future periods as wellasupport the possible launch of any future prosludur future capital requirements will
depend upon numerous factors, including:

« the progress and costs of our research and develtgnograms;

» the scope, timing and results of pre-clinical tggtnd clinical trials;

» patient recruitment and enroliment in planned andre clinical trials;

 the costs involved in seeking regulatory approf@®ur product candidates;

« the costs involved in filing and pursuing patenplagations, defending and enforcing patent claims;
» the establishment of collaborations and stratefjemaes and the related costs;

« the cost of manufacturing and commercializationvéis and arrangements;

« the results of operations;

» demand for MUSE;

« the cost, timing and outcome of regulatory reviews;

« the rate of technological advances;

* ongoing determinations of the potential commersialcess of our products under development;
» the level of resources devoted to sales and macketpabilities; and

 the activities of competitors.

To obtain additional capital when needed, we willlaate alternative financing sources, including, ot limited to, the issuance of
equity or debt securities, corporate alliancesitjgentures and licensing agreements. Howevere tbem be no assurance that funding will be
available on favorable terms, if at all. We aretoarally evaluating our existing portfolio and weaynchoose to divest, sell or spin-off one or
more of our products or product candidates at emg.tWe cannot assure you that we will successfiglyelop our products under developn
or that our products, if successfully developed| génerate revenues sufficient to enable us to egrofit. If we are unable to obtain additic
capital, management may be required to exploreratives to reduce cash used by operating ac8yitieluding the termination of research
and development efforts that may appear to be @iomio us, the sale of certain assets and thectiedun overall operating activities.

We have an accumulated deficit of $168.7 million asf December 31, 2006 and expect to continue to urcsubstantial operating losses
for the foreseeable future.

We have generated a cumulative net loss of $168libmfor the period from our inception through 8smber 31, 2006, and we anticip
losses for the next several years due to increiasedtment in our research and development progearddimited revenues. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to achieve profitgtor that we will be successful in the future.
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Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be lirited.

As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately $.886llion of net operating loss (“NOL") carryforwas with which to offset our
future taxable income for federal and Californiedme tax reporting purposes. The Internal Reverage©f 1986, as amended, contains
provisions that may limit the net operating losd aredit carryforwards available for use in anyegiyeriod upon the occurrence of certain
events, including significant change in ownershiggiiest. Should this occur, our future ability 82 INOLSs to offset taxable earnings would be
limited in accordance with the Internal Revenue €od

If we become subject to product liability claims, ve may be required to pay damages that exceed oursiarance coverage.

The commercial sale of MUSE and our clinical triakpose us to a significant risk of product lighitilaims. In addition, pharmaceutical
products are subject to heightened risk for protiabtlity claims due to inherent side effects. \Wentify potential side effects in the patient
package insert and the physician package insett,dfavhich are distributed with MUSE. While we iesle that we are reasonably insured
against these risks, we may not be able to obtsitréance in amounts or scope sufficient to prouslavith adequate coverage against all
potential liabilities. A product liability claim iexcess of, or excluded from, our insurance cowereauld have to be paid out of cash reserves
and could have a material adverse effect upon usinbss, financial condition and results of opereti Product liability insurance is expens
difficult to maintain, and current or increased erage may not be available on acceptable termasai.

Risks Relating to an Investment in our Common Stock
Our stock price has been and may continue to be \atile.

The market price of our common stock has been N@kand is likely to continue to be so. The marnieéte of our common stock may
fluctuate due to factors including, but not limitexd

» announcements of technological innovations or nemdyicts by us or our competitors;
e announcements by licensors of our technology;

< our ability to increase demand for our productthim United States and internationally;
< our ability to successfully sell our products ie tinited States and internationally;

< actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financegults;

 our ability to obtain needed financing;

« economic conditions in the United States and ahroad

« comments by or changes in assessments of us ocfal@stimates by security analysts;
« adverse regulatory actions or decisions;

« any loss of key management;

« the results of our clinical trials or those of @ampetitors;

» developments or disputes concerning patents or ptioprietary rights;

¢ product or patent litigation; and

* public concern as to the safety of products dewaddpy us.

These factors and fluctuations, as well as poligcal market conditions, may adversely affect tleekat price of our common stock.
Securities class action litigation is often brougbainst a company following periods of volatilitythe market price of its securities. We may
be the target of similar
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litigation. Securities litigation, whether with aithout merit, could result in substantial costsl @ivert management’s attention and resources,
which could harm our business and financial coadijtas well as the market price of our common stock

Additionally, volatility or a lack of positive pesfmance in our stock price may adversely affectanility to retain key employees, all of
whom have been granted stock options.

Volatility in the stock prices of other companies ray contribute to volatility in our stock price.

The stock market in general, and the NASDAQ Gldatket and the market for life sciences compamgsairticular, have experienced
significant price and volume fluctuations that hafien been unrelated or disproportionate to therating performance of those companies.
Further, there has been particular volatility ia tharket prices of securities of early stage angldpment stage life sciences companies. T
broad market and industry factors may seriouslynhidne market price of our common stock, regardiésrir operating performance.

Our share ownership is concentrated, and our offias, directors and principal stockholders can exersignificant control over matters
requiring stockholder approval.

Due to their combined stock holdings, our officelisectors and principal stockholders (stockholdeling greater than 5% of our
common stock) acting collectively may have theigbib exercise significant influence over matterquiring stockholder approval including
the election of directors and approval of significeorporate transactions. In addition, this cotregion of ownership may delay or prevent a
change in control of VIVUS and may make some tretisas more difficult or impossible to complete katit the support of these stockhold

Our operating results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter and this fluctuation may cause our stock gce to decline.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuatethapast and are likely to fluctuate in the futiactors contributing to these fluctuations
include, among other items, the timing and enrofitmates of clinical trials for our drug candidatése timing of significant purchases of
MUSE by distributors, and our need for clinical gligs. Thus, quarter-tquarter comparisons of our operating results aténclicative of wha
we might expect in the future. As a result, in sdotare quarters our operating results may not rtreeexpectations of securities analysts and
investors, which could result in a decline in thieg of our stock.

There may not be an active, liquid trading market br our common stock.

There is no guarantee that an active trading mdoketur common stock will be maintained on the ND¥8) Global Market. Investors
may not be able to sell their shares quickly dhatlatest market price if trading in our stock active.
Our charter documents and Delaware law could makeraacquisition of our company difficult, even if anacquisition may benefit our
stockholders.

Some provisions of our Amended and Restated Getédiof Incorporation and Bylaws could delay owpré a change in control of our
company. Some of these provisions:

» authorize the issuance of preferred stock by ther@of Directors without prior stockholder apprgw@mmonly referred to as “blank
check” preferred stock, with rights senior to tho§eommon stock;

» prohibit stockholder actions by written consent;

41




« specify procedures for director nominations by khatders and submission of other proposals for idenation at stockholder
meetings; and

« eliminate cumulative voting in the election of diters.

In addition, we are governed by the provisions eft®n 203 of Delaware General Corporate Law. Tipeeseisions may prohibit large
stockholders, in particular those owning 15% orenairour outstanding voting stock, from mergingombining with us. These and other
provisions in our charter documents could redueepttice that investors might be willing to pay ftvares of our common stock in the future
and result in the market price being lower thamduld be without these provisions.

Changes in financial accounting standards relatedotshare-based payments are expected to continuehtave a significant effect on our
reported results.

On January 1, 2006, we adopted the revised statesh&mancial Accounting Standards No. SFAS 1235AS 123(R)"),Share-Based
Paymen, which requires that we record compensation expenthe statement of operations for share-basgeh@ats, such as employee stock
options, using the fair value method. The adoptibthis new standard is expected to continue teetesignificant effect on our reported
earnings, although it will not affect our cash flgvand could adversely impact our ability to prevatcurate guidance on our future reported
financial results due to the variability of the tiars used to estimate the values of share-basedeydy. If factors change and we employ
different assumptions or different valuation methadthe application of SFAS 123(R) in future pdepthe compensation expense that we
record under SFAS 123(R) may differ significantlgrh what we have recorded in the current period¢chvbould negatively affect our stock
price.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate geernance and public disclosure may result in additinal expenses.

Changing laws, regulations and standards relatirggptporate governance and public disclosure, dhotuthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, new SEC regulations and NASDAQ Global Markéds, are creating uncertainty for companies sscburs. These new or changed li
regulations and standards are subject to varyiggpretations in many cases due to their lack e€#igity, and as a result, their application in
practice may evolve over time as new guidanceasiged by regulatory and governing bodies, whichldaesult in continuing uncertainty
regarding compliance matters and higher costs s#tatesd by ongoing revisions to disclosure and guaece practices. We are committed to
maintaining high standards of corporate governamckepublic disclosure. As a result, our effortsdmply with evolving laws, regulations and
standards have resulted in, and are likely to oaetito result in, increased general and adminigtraxpenses and management time related to
compliance activities. In particular, our effortsdomply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley #2002 and the related regulations
regarding our required assessment of our intemrarols over financial reporting and our externadigéors’ audit of that assessment has
required the commitment of significant financiablananagerial resources. We expect these efforequaire the continued commitment of
significant resources. If we fail to comply withmer changed laws, regulations and standards,eqputation may be harmed and we might be
subject to sanctions or investigation by regulatuthorities, such as the SEC. Any such actionccadbersely affect our financial results and
the market price of our common stock.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

We own two buildings with a combined 90,000 squest in Lakewood New Jersey , although one of thilimgs is used for
warehousing component parts. These buildings aé fos our MUSE manufacturing operation, which irt#s formulation, filling, packaging,
analytical laboratories, storage, distribution addhinistrative offices. The United States Food Bnay Administration and the Medicines and
Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, formerlyMeglicines Control Agency, the regulatory authonityhe United Kingdom, authorized us
to begin commercial production and shipment of MU this facility in June and March 1998, respeagly. We have met all market
demands for the supply of MUSE utilizing this maamtfiring facility and currently have the capacityrtanufacture additional quantities of
MUSE if required.

In November 2006, we entered into a newn3@ath lease for the existing Mountain View corperagadquarters location with our exist
landlord. The new lease commenced on February(7.Zlhe base monthly rent is set at $1.85 per sofoat or $26,000 per month. The new
lease expires on July 31, 2009 and allows VIVUS aption to extend the term of the lease for a geoibone year from the expiration of the
lease.

In general, our existing facilities, owned or ledsare in good condition and adequate for all preaad near term uses.

ltem 3. Legal Proceedings
In the normal course of business, VIVUS receivasraakes inquiries regarding patent infringement athér legal matters.

We have received notice from a former employeeisggkayment due to their termination in 2005 anthmthird quarter of 2006, we
concluded this matter without a material impacbanfinancial position.

On November 14, 2006, we received a letter from aiafPhelps & Phillips LLP on behalf of Acrux DD$yR.td., FemPharm PTY Ltd.
and Acrux Limited (collectively “Acrux”) notifying/IVUS of an alleged dispute under the Testosteamm# Estradiol Development
Agreements between VIVUS and Acrux. We believe weeim compliance with all material aspects of botithese agreements and have
communicated this belief to Acrux. If we are unatoleesolve the matter with Acrux, we intend tokseeenforce our rights under these
agreements. The claims have not progressed futibgrio date, the claims have not been formaltherawn. Development and
commercialization of EvaMist and Testosterone MIXD8tinues as planned. We believe that we have aarieus defense to claims made by
Acrux in connection with the alleged dispute; hoesin the event that Acrux should prevail in tinatter, it could have a material adverse
effect on VIVUS’ business, financial condition arsults of operations.

We are not aware of any other asserted or unadsdetiens against us where the resolution would fzvadverse material impact on our
operations or financial position.

ltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Skiwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities.

VIVUS’ common stock trades publicly on the Nasdaagibhal Market System under the symbol “VVUS.” Tthlowing table sets forth
for the periods indicated the quarterly high and tdosing sales prices of our common stock as tedarn the Nasdaq National Market.

Three Months Ended
March 31 June 30 September 3C  December 31

2006
High $3.72 $5.34 $4.3C $4.20
Low 2.95 2.92 3.05 3.28
2005
High $4.54 $3.95 $4.57 $3.54
Low 2.81 2.32 3.44 2.87

Stockholders

As of February 26, 2007, there were 58,258,296eshafr outstanding common stock that were held BgUshareholders of record and no
outstanding shares of preferred stock. On Febr2@yR007, the last reported sales price of our comstock on the NASDAQ National
Market was $4.00 per share.

Dividends

We have not paid any dividends since our incepioth we do not intend to declare or pay any dividesdour common stock in the
foreseeable future. Declaration or payment of fitlividends, if any, will be at the discretion afr@oard of Directors after taking into acco
various factors, including VIVUS’ financial conditi, operating results and current and anticipassth needs.

Stock Options

Our stock option plans are part of a broad-based)-term retention program that is intended taattand retain talented employees and
directors and align stockholder and employee istsre

Pursuant to our 2001 Stock Option Plan, or the Z80i@ah, which was approved by the stockholderseaatinual meeting held on June 5,
2002, we may grant incentive or non-statutory stmufions or stock purchase rights, or SPRs. Thd én allows us to grant incentive stock
options to employees at not less than 100% ofaharfarket value of the stock (110% of fair markalue for individuals who control more
than 10% of our stock) at the date of grant, asrd@hed by the Board of Directors. The 2001 Pléowad us to grant non-statutory stock
options to employees, directors and consultaraspaice to be determined by the Board of Directdte term of the option is determined by
Board of Directors on the date of grant but shatlle longer than ten years. The 2001 Plan allet® grant SPRs to employees and
consultants. Sales of stock under SPRs are madagnirto restricted stock purchase agreementsinorggrovisions established by the Bo
of Directors. We have a right, but not the obligatito repurchase the shares at the original sale, pvhich expires at a rate to be determined
by the Board of Directors. As of December 31, 20@6SPRs have been granted under the 2001 Plan.

On July 12, 2006, the Board of Directors adoptedrmendment to the 2001 Plan to add the abilitgsaé Restricted Stock Units, or
RSUs, under the 2001 Plan. In contrast to resttisteck awards, the newly permitted RSUs wouldesgnt an obligation of VIVUS to issue
unrestricted shares of common stock or cash tgtéuetee only when and to the extent that the vgstiiteria of the award are satisfied. As in
the case of restricted stock awards, vesting @ifer RSUs can be based on time or other
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conditions specified by the Board or an authorigexhmittee of the Board. However, until vesting asgthe grantee is not entitled to any
stockholder rights with respect to the unvestedeshdJpon vesting of an RSU, the recipient recedresshare of VIVUS stock for each vested
restricted stock unit or a cash payment for thee@hereof. VIVUS, in its sole discretion, may garned RSUs in cash, shares, or a
combination thereof. Shares represented by RSWsthdully paid in cash again will be available §pant under the Plan. We issue new st
for settlement of vested restricted stock units exelcises of stock options. We do not have a paligourchasing our shares relating to our
share-based programs.

Additional information regarding our stock optiolaps and plan activity for fiscal 2006, 2005, af®@2is provided in our consolidated
financial statements. See “Notes to Consolidatedrtial Statements, Note 8—Stock Option and PuecRémns”.

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Stockholders

Information about our equity compensation planSetember 31, 2006 that were approved by our stddkhowas as follows:

Number of Shares Number of Shares
to be issued Upon Weighted Average Remaining Available
Exercise of Outstanding Exercise Price of
Plan Category Options and Rights Outstanding Options for Future Issuance
Equity compensation plans approved
stockholders(a 4,612,65. $4.21 1,914,08(
Equity compensation plans not approvec
stockholders(b — $ — —
Total 4,612,65:. $4.21 1,914,08(

(a) Consists of three plans: our 1991 Stock Option Rdan 1994 Stock Option Plan and our 2001 Stockdb®lan.
(b) We do not have any plans that have not been apptoyeur stockholders.
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Corporate Performance Graph

The following graph shows a comparison of totatklmlder return for holders of our Common Stoclrfrbecember 31, 2001, through
December 31, 2006 compared with the NASDAQ Stockieta(U.S.) Index and RDG Microcap Pharmaceutindek. Total stockholder retu
assumes $100 invested at the beginning of thegeriour Common Stock, the stock represented ilNBW8 DAQ Stock Market (U.S.) Index
and the stock represented by the RDG Microcap Phegatical Index, respectively. This graph is présgpursuant to SEC rules. We believe
that while total stockholder return can be an intgratrindicator of corporate performance, the siaiges of microcap pharmaceutical stocks
like VIVUS are subject to a number of market-retbetactors other than company performance, suclh@petitive announcements, mergers
and acquisitions in the industry, the general sttbe economy, and the performance of other naétéchnology stocks.

5160

5140 —A

$120 e — —=

s
***** o
$20
$u I T T L] i
12/01 12/02 12/03 12/04 12/05 12/06
== Vivus, Inc. —&--NASDAQ Composite - O -RDG MicroCap Pharmaceutical
Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data have beerivedrfrom our audited financial statements. Thetinfation set forth below is not
necessarily indicative of the results of future raiens and should be read in conjunction with “ligement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” #ralfinancial statements and notes thereto incladszlvhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The selected data is not intended ttaoepthe financial statements.
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Selected Financial Date

(In thousands, except per share)

Selected Annual Financial Data

Income Statement Dat

Product reveni—United States, ne¢
Product revent—International
Other revenue

Total revenue

Operating expense
Cost of goods sold and manufacturing
expense
Research and developme
Selling, general and administrative
Total operating expens:
Loss from operations
Interest and other income, r
Loss before taxes
Net loss

Net loss per basic and diluted share
Shares used in per share computa

Balance Sheet Data (at year en
Working capital
Total asset
Long-term debt
Accumulated defici
Stockholder’ equity

Year Ended December 3:

2006 2005 2004

2003 2002

$ 1428C $ 11,697 $ 1641¢ $ 1895: $ 20,967
2,377 2,794 3,03( 3,302 1,237
588 163 152 5,18¢ 150
17,248  1465¢ 19,601 27,43t  22,34¢
11,93: 11,016  11,28¢ 10,99 11,207
13,31€ 17,00  18,67¢ 7,724 13,281
14,57¢ 11916  11,73( 9,83¢ _ 10,55¢
39,82 _ 39,93¢ _ 4168¢ _ 28556 _ 3504/
(22,589 ~ (25,287 (22,089 (1,118 (12,699

979 826 511 773 1,211

$ (21,609 $ (24,459 $ (21,577 $

(345 $ (11,489

$ (21,629 $ (24,489 $ (21,589 $

(26) $ (10,566)

$ (045 $ (057)$ (057) $
48,107 4327:  38,01(

$ 57,564 $ 23,56¢
$ 78,21« $ 49,28:
$ 11,48t $

$ 25,466 $
$ 54,38¢ $
5164 $ 3,23¢ §

(0.00) $ (0.32)
3588/ 32,907

30,09¢ $ 18,97
66,73z $ 49,681
— 3 —

$(168,657) $(147,027) $(122,549 $(100,96() $(100,939)

$ 53,14C $ 26,601 $ 30,722 $
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Item 7. Managemen'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionsid Results of Operation
Forward Looking Statement

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firar@onditions and Results of Operations and otbemnts of this Form 10-K contain
“forward-looking” statements that involve risks andcertainties. These statements typically mayléstified by the use of forward-looking
words or phrases such as “believe,” “expect,” “imd,” “anticipate,” “should,” “planned,” “estimated,” and “potential,” among others. All
forward-looking statements included in this document aseld on our current expectations, and we assunubligation to update any such
forward-looking statements. The Private Securities LitmaReform Act of 1995 provides a “safe harbor” farch forwardiooking statement
In order to comply with the terms of the safe harle note that a variety of factors could caustiatresults and experiences to dif
materially from the anticipated results or othepextations expressed in such forward-looking stateés) The risks and uncertainties that may
affect the operations, performance, developmenmt,rasults of our business include but are not kahito: (1) our history of losses and variable
quarterly results; (2) substantial competition; (®ks related to the failure to protect our ingttual property and litigation in which we may
become involved; (4) our reliance on sole sourggptiars; (5) our limited sales and marketing eféoaind our reliance on third parties;

(6) failure to continue to develop innovative prothy (7) risks related to noncompliance with Uni&tates Food and Drug Administration
regulations; (8) the safety and effectiveness ofctinical candidates; (9) the timing of our clirgttrials and filings with the United States Fc
and Drug Administration; and (10) other factors tlzae described from time to time in our periodim§s with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, including those set forth in this §lias “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

All percentage amounts and ratios were calculatsidgithe underlying data in thousands. Operatirgutes for the year ended
December 31, 2006, are not necessarily indicativili@ results that may be expected for future figears. The following discussion a
analysis should be read in conjunction with outdiigal financial statements and the notes to thiis@ncial statements that are included in
Item 8. of Part Il of this Form -K.

Overview

VIVUS, Inc. is a pharmaceutical company dedicatethe development and commercialization of thertipguoducts for large
underserved markets using patented proprietarydtations and novel delivery systems and by seekéw indications for previously approy
pharmaceutical products. We have employed thisegiyaand, currently, we have development candidadesessing obesity, postmenopausal
and sexual health. All of these sectors are ragjdbyving as patients seek more effective treatroptibns with fewer side effects. With respect
to obesity, analysts estimate that this potentelket ranges from $5 billion to $10 billion annyalThe indications targeted by VIVUS’
postmenopausal and sexual health products eackseayira projected market greater than $1 billiaruaty.

We are currently advancing four laggage clinical products, each addressing speaificponents of these significant markets. One ofe
products has completed Phase 3 testing and we galiraiNew Drug Application (NDA) to the U.S. Foadd Drug Administration (FDA) in
the third quarter of 2006. The remaining productskeeing prepared to enter Phase 3 clinical trial4997, we launched MUSE (alprostadil) in
the United States and, together with our partretstnationally. We market MUSE as a prescriptiooduct for the treatment of erectile
dysfunction.

Our investigational product pipeline includes:
* Qnexa™ for treating obesity, for which a Phase 2 study Ib@en completed;

« EvaMist ™ to treat vasomotor symptoms associated with mamsgdor which we submitted an NDA to the FDA ie third quarter
of 2006;
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« Testosterone MDTS is being developed to treat hypoactive sexual dagorder, for which a Phase 2 study has been lebeal
and

< Avanafil is being developed for the treatment of erectilgfaiyction; for which Phase 2 studies have been teteth

Our Future

Our goal is to build a successful pharmaceuticaigany through the development and commercializaifannovative proprietary
products for the treatment of obesity and sexualtheWe intend to achieve this by:

« capitalizing on our clinical and regulatory expsetand experience to advance the development déigrcandidates in our pipeline;

» establishing strategic relationships with markefiagtners to maximize sales potential for our potslthat require significant
commercial support; and

« licensing complementary clinical stage productsechnologies with competitive advantages from thiadties for new and established
markets.

It is our objective to become a leader in the degwelent and commercialization of products that helpeat obesity and restore sexual
health in women and men. We believe that we haeagtintellectual property supporting several opyaities in obesity treatment and sexual
health. Our future growth will come from furthengdopment and regulatory approval of our producididates as well as in-licensing and
product line extensions.

We have funded operations primarily through priveatel public offerings of our common stock and tigtoproduct sales of MUSE. We
expect to generate future net losses due to ineséaoperating expenses as product candidateslaamced through the various stages of
clinical development. As of December 31, 2006, wechincurred a cumulative deficit of $168.7 milliand expect to incur operating losses in
the near future.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial caodiand results of operations are based upon msatidated financial statements, wh
have been prepared in accordance with accountingiples generally accepted in the United Statée freparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgtimt affect the reported amounts of assetsililias, revenues and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.a@rongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates,dimguthose related to product returns, rebates
and sales reserves, research and development espéosibtful accounts, income taxes, inventoriesticgencies and litigation and stock-
based compensation. We base our estimates onitétexperience, information received from thirdtfggs and on various other assumptions
that are believed to be reasonable under the cstames, the results of which form the basis fdkintggjudgments about the carrying value:
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparem other sources. Actual results may diffenfrthese estimates under different assumptions
or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect our more significant judgments and edtsased in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements:
Revenue Recognition

Product Revenue: Product sales are recognized as revenues whsugsé/e evidence of an arrangement exists, shiphasnoccurred,
the sales price is fixed or determinable and ctibéity is reasonably assured.
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Sales Allowances and Reservefevenues from product sales are recorded rbdiict sales allowances for expected returns jpifec
product, government chargebacks, other rebates;astddiscounts for prompt payment. These salewaltices are deducted from gross
product revenues at the time such revenues argmiezanl along with the recording of a correspondamgrve, or liability. In making these
estimates we take into consideration our histoiidalrmation, current contractual and statutoryuiegments, shelf life of our products,
estimated customer inventory levels and informatéoeived from outside parties. Significant judgtseand estimates must be made and used
in estimating the reserve balances in any accogipimiod. Our product sales allowances and reséncesie:

« Product Returns: We have estimated reservesdoiupt returns from wholesalers, hospitals andplares in the United States in
accordance with our product returns policy. Ouames policy allows product returns within the pertmeginning six months prior to a
twelve months following product expiration. As oéEember 31, 2006 the shipments of MUSE in the driiates made in 2006, 2005
and a portion of the shipments in 2004 remain slgefuture returns.

We record reserves for anticipated returns of expproduct in the United States. We follow this imoett since reasonably dependable
estimates of product returns can be made basedstmibal experience. There is no right-of-retumexpired product sold
internationally subsequent to shipment; thus, morns reserve is needed.

We estimate our return reserve by utilizing histakinformation and data obtained from externakses, along with the shelf life of the
product. We track the actual returns on a lot-liyblsis along with date of production and datexpiration. We review the actual
returns experience for trends. We calculate owrrmstreserve by applying an estimated return oatld quantity of units sold that are
subject to future return. We routinely assess @pegence with product returns and adjust the eseaccordingly. Revisions in returns
estimates are charged to income in the period iclwte information that gives rise to the revisietomes known.

« Government Chargebacks: Government chargebaeksoatractual commitments by us to provide MUSEdderal government
organizations including the Veterans Administratirspecified prices. Government chargeback alloesiare recorded at the time of
sale and accrued as a reserve. In estimating trerigment chargeback reserve, we analyze actuajeback amounts and apply
chargeback rates to estimates of the quantity i sobject to chargeback. We routinely reassesshirgeback estimates and adjust
the reserves accordingly.

« Other Rebates: We estimate amounts payable fiyr idedicare Part D rebates, Medicaid rebatesatestfor goods purchased by
patients covered by Medicaid, and other rebaterarog, primarily with managed care organizationsttie reimbursement of portions
of the prescriptions filled that are covered bystherograms. Rebate allowances are estimated sewved at the time of sale. We
estimate this reserve by utilizing historical infation, contractual and statutory requirementémased quantities sold to these
organizations and estimated customer inventorylde¥dfective January 1, 2006, MUSE no longer diedifor Medicaid
reimbursement, which has not had a significant thpa our business. Effective January 1, 2007, MU8Eno longer qualify for
Medicare Part D, which we do not believe will hasignificant impact on our business.

» Cash Discounts: We offer cash discounts to wiatdeslistributors, generally 2% of the sales pasean incentive for prompt payme
The estimate of cash discounts is recorded airtieedf sale. We account for the cash discountsstucing accounts receivable by the
full amount of the discounts we expect wholesaistrithutors to take.

All of the aforementioned categories of sales alnees are evaluated each reporting period andtadjusien trends or significant
events indicate that a change in estimate is apjtepChanges in actual experience or changethar qualitative factors could cause
our sales allowance
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adjustments to fluctuate. If actual returns, gowegnt chargebacks, Medicare rebates, other rebatesash discounts are greater than
our estimates, additional reserves may be requitech could have an adverse effect on financialltesn the period of adjustment.
Revisions to estimates are charged to income ipéhied in which the facts that give rise to theismn become known.

Other Revenue: Revenue from non-refundable, upfront license fgkere we have continuing involvement is recoghiztably over the
development or agreement period. Revenue associéttegerformance milestones is recognized basedh tipe achievement of the milestor
as defined in the respective agreements.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development (R&D) expenses includedifees, related compensation, contractor faeiifiés costs, administrative
expenses and clinical trials at other companiesr@selarch institutions under agreements which anerglly cancelable, among other related
R&D costs. We also record accruals for estimatedozll study costs. Clinical study costs represasts incurred by clinical research
organizations, or CROs, and clinical sites. Themstscare recorded as a component of R&D expensesanalyze the progress of the clinical
trials, including levels of patient enrollment, @iwes received and contracted costs when evalutitengdequacy of accrued liabilities.
Significant judgments and estimates must be madaised in determining the accrued balance in aoguatting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates under different assimmgt Revisions are charged to expense in thegariavhich the facts that give rise to the
revision become known.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Aot

We extend credit to our customers for product sadeslting in accounts receivable. For qualifiedtomers, we grant payment terms of
2%, net 30 days. Customer accounts are monitorgoafst due amounts. Past due accounts receivatgnuned to be uncollectible, are
written off against the allowance for doubtful agnts. Allowances for doubtful accounts are estighdi@sed upon past due amounts, historical
losses and existing economic factors, and are tdjyseriodically. The accounts receivable are reypoon the balance sheet, net of the
allowance for doubtful accounts.

Income Taxes

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our dedetax assets to the amount that is more likedy thot to be realized. For all periods
presented, we have recorded a full valuation alfm@sagainst our net deferred tax asset. While we bansidered future taxable income and
ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategieassessing the need for the valuation allowdndee event we were to determine that we
would be able to realize our deferred tax assetisariuture in excess of our net recorded amoumédjustment to the deferred tax asset would
increase income in the period such determinatios wade. We have also recorded income taxes pafgatdstimated current tax liabilities.

We monitor these estimated liabilities and adjbostt as conditions warrant.

Inventories

We record inventory reserves for estimated obselese, unmarketable or excess inventory equal tdifference between the cost of
inventory and the estimated market value based apsamptions about future demand and market conditif actual market conditions are
less favorable than those projected by manageradditional inventory write-downs may be required2D06, we recorded a $764,000
inventory write-down related to the purchase of@dpadil, considered to be in excess of projectedyrction needs. During the quarter ended
September 30, 1998, we established significant
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reserves against our inventory to align with netinestes of expected future demand for MUSE. As e€&mber 31, 2006, the remaining
inventory reserve balance is $4.4 million relatiogaw materials and components. Some portionefully reserved inventory was used in
production in 2004, 2005 and 2006. In the fourthrtgr of 2004, we stopped using the fully resemayd materials inventory in production and
determined that we would not likely use this inwemtin future production. In the first quarter di@b, we determined that we likely would
continue to use some portion of the fully resergechponent parts in production. When we record itgrreserves, we establish a new, lower
cost basis for the inventory for accounting purgogecordingly, to the extent that this fully reged inventory was used in production in 20
2005 and 2006, it was charged to cost of goodsatcddzero basis, which had a favorable impactosh af goods sold.

Available-for-Sale Securities

Available-for-sale securities represent investméntiebt securities that are stated at fair valMle.restrict our cash investments to:
« Direct obligations of the United States Treasury;

» Federal Agency securities which carry the diredhaplied guarantee of the United States governneend,

» Corporate securities, including commercial papsed A1/P1/F1 or better.

The difference between amortized cost (cost adjusteamortization of premiums and accretion otdimts which are recognized as
adjustments to interest income) and fair valuerasgnting unrealized holding gains or losses,ezerded in “Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss),” a separate compaiestbckholders’ equity until realized.

Our policy is to record investments in debt se@sitis available-for-sale because the sale of semirities may be required prior to
maturity. Any gains and losses on the sale of debtirities are determined on a specific identificabasis and are included in interest and
other income in the accompanying consolidated staigs of operations. Available-for-sale securitigth original maturities beyond one year
from the balance sheet date are classified as noert.

Contingencies and Litigation

We are periodically involved in disputes and litiga related to a variety of matters. When it iskmble that we will experience a loss,
that loss is quantifiable, we record appropriaterees.

Share-Based Payments

We grant options to purchase our common stock temployees and directors under our stock optianglEligible employees can also
purchase shares of our common stock at 85% obthierlof the fair market value on the first or thstlday of each six-month offering period
under our employee stock purchase plans. In thé thiarter of 2006, we added the ability to is@stricted stock units to our 2001 Plan. The
benefits provided under these plans are share-lpgedents subject to the provisions of revisede@tant of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123 “SFAS 123(R)"),Share-Based PaymenEffective January 1, 2006, we use the fair vahethod to apply the provisions of SFAS 123
(R) with a modified prospective application whiatoyides for certain changes to the method for vajhare-based compensation. The
valuation provisions of SFAS 123(R) apply to newaads and to awards that are outstanding on theteffedate and subsequently modified or
cancelled. Under the modified prospective applaratprior periods are not revised for comparativeppses.
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On November 10, 2005, the FASB issued FASB Stagitidm No. SFAS 123(R)-3[ransition Election Related to Accounting for Tax
Effects of Shar-Based Payment Award®Ve have elected to adopt the alternative trawsitiethod provided in this FASB Staff Position for
calculating the tax effects of shavased compensation pursuant to SFAS 123(R). Tamative transition method includes a simplifiectinoe
to establish the beginning balance of the additipaa-in capital pool (APIC pool) related to ttaxteffects of employee share-based
compensation, which is available to absorb taxciicies recognized subsequent to the adoptiofrABSL23(R).

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R)

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), as permitigctSFAS No. 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensati¢isFAS 123") and
SFAS No. 148Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Trans#iahDisclosurewe applied the existing accounting rules under APB
Opinion No. 25Accounting for Stock Issued to Employ€&5PB 25”) which provided that no compensation exge was charged for options
granted at an exercise price equal to or greater tiie market value of the underlying common stuckhe date of grant.

At December 31, 2006, a total of 4,550,152 stodioog were outstanding under our stock option pl&tsck-based compensation
expense recognized for the year ended Decemb@O088, included compensation expense for stock apiipanted prior to, but not yet vested
as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant datedhie estimated in accordance with the pro fornoaipions of SFAS 123. Included in stock-
based compensation expense for the year ended Dec&t, 2006 was $1.9 million related to stockami $142,000 related to the employee
stock purchase plan, and $16,000 related to restrgtock units, net of the estimated forfeitures.

As of December 31, 2006, unrecognized estimate¢peosation expense totaled $1.6 million relatedoio-vested stock options, $49,000
related to the employee stock purchase plan, ahd,8Q0 related to restricted stock units. The weidlaverage remaining requisite service
period of the non-vested options was 1.3 yearthe@Employee stock purchase plan was 4.5 montdspfathe restricted stock units was 4.7
years.

Valuation Assumptions

The fair value of stock options granted in the ye&r@iled December 31, 2006 was estimated using &-Blettoles Model with the
following weighted average assumptions:

Twelve months endec

December 31, 200!

Expected term (in years) 6.18

Volatility 75.41%
Risk-free interest rat 4.88%
Dividend yield 0.00%

Expected Term: VIVUS' expected term represents the period thatstock-based awards are expected to be outstabdsed on the
simplified method provided in Staff Accounting Batih No. 107 (“SAB 107”) which averages an awaml&ghted average vesting period and
expected term for “plain vanilla” share options.dén SAB 107, options are considered to be “plamilied if they have the following basic
characteristics: granted “at-the-money”; exerciflgglis conditioned upon service through the vegtdate; termination of service prior to
vesting results in forfeiture; limited exercise ipdrfollowing termination of service; and option® aon-transferable and non-hedgeable. The
range of expected terms used in the Black-ScholedgeMin 2006 was 5.19 years to 6.25 years.
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Expected Volatility: We estimated volatility using the historical gharice performance over the expected term obgiton. We also
considered other factors such as our current @ini@ls and other company activities that maaeiffvolatility of our stock in the future but
determined that at this time, the historical vditgtivas more indicative of our expected futurecétperformance. The range of expected
volatility used in the Black-Scholes Model in 2006s 68% to 77%.

Expected Dividend: The Black-Scholes Model requires a single expedieidend yield as an input. We do not anticipatgipg any
dividends in the near future.

Risk-Free Interest Rate: We base the risk-free interest rate used ifBthek-Scholes Model on the implied yield availableU.S.
Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent ir@ngaterm, in effect during the period of the grarhe range of risk-free interest rates used
in the Black-Scholes Model in 2006 was 4.60% td %1

Estimated Pre-vesting Forfeitures:We develop pre-vesting forfeiture assumptiorselaon an analysis of historical data.

The fair value of employee stock purchases madernthé ESPP in the year ended December 31, 200@ls@estimated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. The following assuionm were used: expected term ranging from .49syeai53 years, expected volatility
ranging from 62.60% to 64.84%, no dividend yield aisk free rates ranging from 4.25% to 5.16%. Waéghted average assumptions used in
2006 were: expected term of .51 years, expecteatilyl of 63.95%, no dividend yield and a risk dreate of 4.76%.

During the third quarter of 2006, we granted 62,B80ricted stock units to an officer with a werghtiverage grant date fair value of
$2.04 per restricted stock unit. This grant corgt@mmarket condition and was valued using a binomaglel. The following assumptions were
used for valuing this grant: no dividend yield, egped volatility of 60.60%, risk-free interest rafe4.70% and an expected term of 5 years.

The determination of the fair value of share-bgsagment awards on the date of grant using an ojpiming model is affected by our
stock price as well as assumptions regarding a euibcomplex and subjective variables. These b&sinclude, but are not limited to, our
expected stock price volatility over the term of tiwards, actual and projected employee stockmptiercise behaviors, risk-free interest rate
and expected dividends.

If factors change and we employ different assunmgtio the application of SFAS 123(R) in future pds, the compensation expense that
we record under SFAS 123(R) may differ significaritbm what we have recorded in the current peridterefore, we believe it is important
for investors to be aware of the high degree ofestivity involved when using option pricing modétsestimate share-based compensation
under SFAS 123(R). Option-pricing models were deped for use in estimating the value of tradedamystithat have no vesting or hedging
restrictions, are fully transferable and do notseadilution. Because our share-based paymentsdiaveacteristics significantly different from
those of freely traded options, and because chandhs subjective input assumptions can materfgct our estimates of fair values, in our
opinion, existing valuation models, including thiaé&k-Scholes and lattice binomial models, may movjle reliable measures of the fair
values of our share-based compensation. Conseyu#dte is a risk that our estimates of the falues of our share-based compensation
awards on the grant dates may bear little reseroblemthe actual values realized upon the exereig@ration, early termination or forfeiture
those share-based payments in the future. Cehaire ased payments, such as employee stock opti@ysexpire worthless or otherwise
result in zero intrinsic value as compared to #Hievfalues originally estimated on the grant daie @eported in our financial statements.
Alternatively, value may be realized from thesdrimments that is significantly in excess of the failues originally estimated on the grant date
and reported in our financial statements. Therigently no
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market-based mechanism or other practical appbicdt verify the reliability and accuracy of theiesmtes stemming from these valuation
models, nor is there a means to compare and atipiststimates to actual values. Although the falue of employee share-based awards is
determined in accordance with SFAS 123(R) and #wiffties and Exchange Commission’s Staff AccognBnlletin No. 107 (SAB 107)
using an option-pricing model, that value may meiralicative of the fair value observed in a willihuyer/willing seller market transaction.

Estimates of share-based compensation expenssgaifecant to our financial statements, but thegpenses are based on option
valuation models and will never result in the paptaf cash by us. For this reason, and becauseoweiview share-based compensation as
related to our operational performance, we exckatanated share-based compensation expense wheatévgour business performance.

The guidance in SFAS 123(R) and SAB 107 is relftimew, and best practices are not well establisfibe application of these
principles may be subject to further interpretatom refinement over time. There are significaffedénces among valuation models, and there
is a possibility that we will adopt different vatiem models in the future. This may result in &laf consistency in future periods and
materially affect the fair value estimate of shbased payments. It may also result in a lack ofpamability with other companies that use
different models, methods and assumptions.

Theoretical valuation models and market-based nasthce evolving and may result in lower or higteér ¥alue estimates for share-based
compensation. The timing, readiness, adoption, ig¢éaeceptance, reliability and testing of thes¢hmes is uncertain. Sophisticated
mathematical models may require voluminous hisa&biitformation, modeling expertise, financial arsay, correlation analyses, integrated
software and databases, consulting fees, custdonzamd testing for adequacy of internal contrMarket-based methods are emerging that, if
employed by us, may dilute our earnings per shadera/olve significant transaction fees and ongadginistrative expenses. The
uncertainties and costs of these extensive valuafimrts may outweigh the benefits to investors.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Executive Overview

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we repomed lass of $21.6 million, or $0.45 net loss geare, as compared to a net loss of
$24.5 million, or $0.57 net loss per share, duthgysame period in 2005. The decreased net Idbg ipear ended December 31, 2006, as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2005, ivaargy due to higher domestic product revenue decreased clinical activities related
to VIVUS’ four clinical development programs fongel health, partially offset by increased spendiigted to the Qnexa program.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we repomed lass of $24.5 million, or $0.57 net loss gware as compared to a net loss of
$21.6 million, or $0.57 net loss per share, duthgysame period in 2004. The increased net lod®igear ended December 31, 2005, as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2004, rivaary due to lower product revenues both in theted States and internationally,
partially offset by lower research and developnuarsts in 2005 as compared to 2004.

Effective January 1, 2006 VIVUS implemented SFAS(ER), which requires companies to expense the astihfair value of employee
stock options and similar awards. Stock compensatigpense under SFAS 123(R) is $2.1 million forytear ended December 31, 2006. This
amount has been allocated to cost of goods solaremdifacturing, research and development, andigetlieneral and administrative expenses,
accordingly. There were no comparable stock cormgigmscharges in the years ended December 31, @02804.
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We anticipate continued losses over the next skyegais because we expect MUSE sales to remaidystaad we plan to continue to
invest in clinical development of our current resbaand development product candidates to bringetlpmtential products to market.

Revenue
% Change
Years Ended December 31 Increase/(Decrease
2006 2005 2004 2006 vs 200! 2005 vs 200
(In thousands, except percentage:

United States product, n $14,28( $11,697 $16,41¢ 22% (29)%
International produc 2,377 2,794 3,030 (15)% (8)%

Other revenue 588 163 152 261% 1%

Total revenue $17,245 $14,65¢ $19,60] ﬁ% _g25)%

Worldwide product revenues from the sales of MUSHEen$16.7 million in 2006, an increase of $2.2ioml] or 15%, from the worldwide
sales of MUSE in 2005. Product revenue in the dn8tates for the year ended December 31, 2006 #h8 #illion, as compared to $11.7
million in 2005. The increase in revenues in 2096ainly due to increases in both domestic prioesvalume, partially offset by the timing
orders from our international distributors. Domestemand for MUSE at the retail and governmentlleamains consistent with the prior
period, averaging approximately 200,000 units perrtgr. Similar to prior years, wholesalers madelpases in the fourth quarter of 2006 that
were greater than the current demand. Based diotinth quarter demand for MUSE, we estimate purebasade by wholesalers in the fourth
quarter of 2006 represent approximately 3 to 4 moof excess demand. The increase in other revenuinarily due to the amortization of a
$2.0 million milestone payment from our EuropeastBibutor, Meda AB that we received in the firsager of 2006.

Worldwide product revenues from the sales of MUSHEen$14.5 million in 2005, a decrease of $5.0 onillior 25%, from the worldwide
sales of MUSE in 2004. Product revenue in the Wdn8tates for the year ended December 31, 2005 ¥k #illion, compared to $16.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2004. lm&onal product revenue was $2.8 million for tlearyended December 31, 2005, compared
to $3.0 million in the same period in 2004.

Domestic sales of MUSE were lower in the year eridecember 31, 2005, as compared to the year endeentber 31, 2004, mainly due
to a decline in the demand for MUSE, decreasednasees made by wholesalers in advance of the Deee2iBb price increase as compare
purchases in advance of the December 2004 pricedase, and new U.S. government pricing which reduit higher chargebacks. Similar to
prior years, wholesalers made purchases in thelfquarter that were greater than demand. Intemmatirevenue also decreased as a result of
lower shipments of MUSE to our international distition partners in the year ended December 31, 288@®mpared to the prior year;
however, 63% of the shipments made in 2005 tomtermational partners took place in the fourth tprasf 2005.

Given the stabilization of demand and the stratbgigng in the fourth quarter of 2006, we anticgatorldwide revenues of MUSE in
2007 will remain consistent with those seen in 2006

Cost of goods sold and manufacturing.

% Change
Years Ended December 31 Increase/(Decrease
2006 2005 2004 2006 vs 200* 2005 vs 200
(In thousands, except percentage:
Cost of goods sold and manufactur $11,93: $11,01¢ $11,28¢ 8% (2)%
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Cost of goods sold and manufacturing (“cost of gosald”) in the year ended December 31, 2006 ised$915,000, or 8%, to $11.9
million, as compared to $11.0 million for the yesded December 31, 2005. The increase in costarfgysold and manufacturing expense is
the result of a $764,000 inventory write-down rethto the purchase of alprostadil in excess ofgotef production needs, $348,000 of stock
compensation expense from the adoption of SFASRR ®@rtially offset by other cost of goods soldl amanufacturing expense net decreases
of $195,000 in the year ended December 31, 2006 result of excess manufacturing capacity at ew Nersey facility, we expensed
approximately $6.2 million in manufacturing overteasts expensed as period costs in the year éhelseinber 31, 2006, as compared to
million the prior year. This accounting treatmesybased on the determination made during the 1@&8ucturing that the manufacturing
capacity of the New Jersey plant far exceeds tha t&f production required to meet estimated futugeket demand.

Cost of goods sold and manufacturing (“cost of gosald”) in the year ended December 31, 2005 deett$265,000, or 2%, to $11.0
million, as compared to $11.3 million for the yemded December 31, 2004. We expensed approxinggedymillion of manufacturing
overhead costs in the year ended December 31, 28@®mmpared to $5.9 million during the same pendD04 as period costs because of
excess manufacturing capacity at our New Jerseltyac

In accordance with GAAP, in 1998 we reduced theyirag cost of alprostadil, the active ingredienMiUSE, and its component parts to
zero due to excess quantities on hand at that #tleough the cost basis for alprostadil was reduezero, we continued to use this active
ingredient as allowed by the FDA in the productitdtMUSE in 2004. By utilizing the inventory thatdhareviously been written down to zero,
we lowered our cost of sales for the year endeceBeer 31, 2004 by $844,000. In the fourth quart@004, we determined that we would
likely not use the fully reserved raw materialsantory in future production. In the years endedddeloer 31, 2006 and 2005, we used
component parts of this fully reserved inventoryuténg in a favorable impact on our cost of gosdkl of $99,000 and $76,000, respectively.

We anticipate that cost of goods sold in 2007 weithain consistent with 2006 costs.

Research and development.

% Change
Years Ended December 31 Increase/(Decrease
2006 2005 2004 2006 vs 200! 2005 vs 200«
(In thousands, except percentage:
Research and developm $13,31€ $17,008 $18,67¢ (22)% (9)%

Research and development expenses in the year Beaetnber 31, 2006 decreased $3.7 million, or 28%13.3 million, as compared
$17.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2@¥treased clinical trial and project activity #wvaMist, avanafil, and ALISTA resulted in
decreased spending for these projects of $6.4amilli 2006 as compared to 2005. These decreasegasially offset by increased Qnexa
project expenses of $2.0 million, the recording®13,000 of stock compensation expense and amireril increase in other research and
development related spending in 2006 as compartetprior year.

Research and development expenses in the year Beethber 31, 2005 were $17.0 million, as compty&kl 8.7 million in the year
ended December 31, 2004. Increased clinical trdl@oject activity for ALISTA and EvaMist resultéaincremental spending for these
projects of $7.1 million in the year ended Decenir2005, as compared to the same period last Vearincrease was more than offset by a
decrease of $2.8 million in avanafil, Testosterbti2TS and other related clinical trial and projegending, a decrease of $1.0 million in non-
project related research and development expepsegrily lower compensation expense due to redieadicount, and $5.1 million in
milestone and licensing fees
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which were incurred in 2004. During 2004, we erddrgo exclusive licensing agreements with a subsjdf Acrux under which we will
develop and, if approved, commercialize, in thetébhiStates, an estradiol spray (now known as Evaffdisthe alleviation of the symptoms of
menopause and a testosterone spray for the treatihleypoactive sexual desire disorder in womerrimuthe year ended December 31, 2004,
we expensed a total of $3.3 million of licensingdencurred under the terms of the agreementslditian, during the year ended

December 31, 2004, we initiated a Phase 2 clini@dlwith avanafil, which we completed in 2005. dér the terms of our 2001 Development,
Licensing and Supply Agreement with Tanabe, we eged a $1.8 million licensing fee obligation to @ha in the year ended December 31,
2004. We paid the entire obligation to Tanabe Jitmje$2.0 million with imputed interest, in Marcl®@6.

We anticipate that our research and developmergresgs will increase significantly in 2007, as wettwue to advance the clinical
program for Qnexa for the treatment of obesity andother programs. Our research and developmeeinmes may fluctuate from period to
period due to the timing and scope of our develagraetivities and the results of clinical and pigickl studies. Based upon results of our
Phase 2b study, ALISTA will receive a lower devetamt priority than the other investigational prodegndidates in our pipeline. If we are
successful in obtaining FDA regulatory approvaldoy new product candidates being developed throughesearch and development efforts,
we do not expect to recognize revenue from salespfksuch new products, if any, for several years.

We filed a New Drug Application (NDA)for EvaMist i the FDA in the third quarter of 2006 and madd & million clinical
development milestone payment to Acrux under thadeof our licensing agreement in October 200&eelo this filing, which was expensed
in the third quarter of 2006. Upon approval of MigA, a $3.0 million product approval milestone pamhwill be due to Acrux.

Selling, general and administrative.

% Change
Years Ended December 31 Increase
2006 2005 2004 2006 vs 200! 2005 vs 200¢
(In thousands, except percentage:
Selling, general and administrati $14,57¢ $11,91€¢ $11,73( 22% 2%

Selling, general and administrative expenses irydae ended December 31, 2006 of $14.6 milliondased $2.7 million, or 22% as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2005eIpethr ended December 31, 2006, the increaseniaply due to recording of $1.1 million
in stock compensation expense, and incrementahaetases in MUSE related sales and marketing esgsenf $1.0 million and legal fees of
$514,000, as compared to the year ended Decembp20G3.

Selling, general and administrative expenses iryétae ended December 31, 2005 of $12.0 million v#4:/@6,000 higher than the same
period last year due to several factors. In tst fjuarter of 2005, two of our largest wholesatermamenced charging us a distribution service
fee based upon either the quantity of product pasel or sold by the respective wholesaler. We decbexpense of $229,000 for this
distribution service fee in the year ended Decemie2005 to selling, general and administrativeemses. In addition, we recorded $196,000
of incremental accounting and audit fees expendebab3,000 in other professional consulting feehéyear ended December 31, 2005
primarily related to compliance with the requirenseof Sarbanes-Oxley. These increases were pgrtifiiet by a $384,000 reduction in
MUSE advertising and promotion related expensegkéanwelve months ended December 31, 2005 as cethpar2004.

We anticipate that our selling, general and adrritise expenses in 2007 will be similar to 2006.
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Interest income and expense.

Interest income for the year ended December 316 263 $1.6 million, as compared to $1.1 milliontlee year ended December 31,
2005. The increase in 2006 is primarily due toramease in our cash balances due to increasectfirgaim 2006 and related investment yields
from the year ended December 31, 2005 to Decenthet@®6. Interest expense for the year ended Dege8ilh 2006 was $593,000 as
compared to $221,000 during the same period in 2008 increased interest expense is primarily dubé Crown Bank loan, which was
obtained on January 4, 2006, and a higher loambalautstanding for the Tanabe loan.

Interest income for 2005 was $1.1 million, as coragdo $622,000 for the year ended December 314.20e increase is primarily due
an increase in our cash balances and related meestields from the year ended December 31, 20@etember 31, 2005. Interest expense
for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $221 9@06rapared to $143,000 during the same period 0d.2Dhis interest expense is relate
the Acrux milestone liabilities and Tanabe licefesgs and loan. The increased interest expenseéniafily due to a higher loan balance
outstanding for the Tanabe loan.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash. Unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and availablsdle securities totaled $58.9 million at Decengde 2006, as compared to
$27.0 million at December 31, 2005. The increaseash, cash equivalents and available-for-salersiesuof $31.9 million is the result of the
$45.4 million in net proceeds from our register@éat public offerings in 2006, the $5.4 millioralo obtained from Crown Bank, N.A. in 20
the collection of amounts owed at December 31, 20856 customers as measured by a decrease of $lighrm accounts receivable partially
offset by cash used in operations, investment dimer dinancing activities of $22.3 million for tlyear.

Since inception, we have financed operations pilgniom the issuance of equity securities and rewes. Through December 31, 2006,
we raised $221.7 million from financing activitieed had an accumulated deficit of $168.7 millioDatember 31, 2006.

Available-for-sale securities. We focus on liquidity and capital preservation ur mvestments in available-faale securities. We restr
our cash investments to:

« Direct obligations of the United States Treasury;

» Federal Agency securities which carry the diredhaplied guarantee of the United States governneend,
« Corporate securities, including commercial papeted A1/P1/F1 or better.

The weighted average maturity of our portfolio & to exceed 18 months.

Accounts Receivable.Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doub#ittounts) at December 31, 2006 was $4.4 milliocoaspared
to $7.6 million at December 31, 2005. The 43% desedn the accounts receivable balance at DeceBib@006 is primarily due to a $3.6
million decrease in sales in December 2006, as eoedpto the same period in 2005. Currently, weatdhave any significant concerns related
to accounts receivable or collections. As of Felyrd®, 2007, we had collected 95% of the DecemiieB06 accounts receivable.

Liabilities. Total liabilities were $25.1 million at December, 2006, $2.4 million higher than at December 30)20he change in total
liabilities is primarily due to the $5.4 milliondm received from Crown Bank on January 4, 2006 rac€ipt of the $2.0 million MEDA
milestone payment, recorded as deferred reventieeifirst quarter of 2006. These increases wergaigroffset by the reduction of liabilities,
including a $3.4 million reduction in accrued raséaclinical and licensing fees, primarily due
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to the payment of accrued licensing fees to Tawdl$2.0 million in 2006, and a $1.7 million redwstiin accounts payable, due to the timin
payments.

We have entered into manufacturing agreementssauipipliers to purchase raw materials. As of DecertheP006, our remaining
commitment under these agreements is to purchaseimum of $3.1 million of product from 2007 thrdu@008. In 2006, we recorded a
$764,000 inventory write-down related to the pusehaf alprostadil considered to be in excess gépted production needs. Should our
inventory of raw materials exceed our future prduncneeds, it may be necessary to write-off addal excess inventory.

In February 2004, we entered into exclusive licegsigreements with Acrux Limited and a subsididrp@ux under which we have
agreed to develop and, if approved, commercialestdsterone MDTS (metered-dose transdermal spralyFaaMist in the United States for
various female health applications. Under the tesfrthe agreements, we agreed to pay to Acrux coetblicensing fees of $3.0 million, up to
$4.3 million for the achievement of certain clifidavelopment milestones, up to $6.0 million fohiewving product approval milestones, and
royalties on net sales in the United States folfmnapproval and commercialization of each prodiuet.made a $1.0 million clinical
development milestone payment to Acrux in Octol#i&related to the submission of an NDA to the FDAEvaMist and we will owe an
additional $3.0 million product approval milestqueeyment upon approval of this NDA.

Operating Activities. Our operating activities used $19.5 million and $2illion of cash during the years ended Decentie2006 an
2005, respectively. During the year ended DecerBheR006, our net operating loss of $21.6 millicasvpartially offset by a $3.4 million
reduction in our accounts receivable, due to thiection of monies owed to us, and the recordin§2fl million in non-cash stock-based
compensation expense, due to the adoption of FAR 12 2006. These operating cash flow sources w#set by a $3.4 million reduction in
accrued research, clinical and licensing fees, gmilpndue to the payment of accrued licensing te€Banabe of $2.0 million in 2006.

Investing Activities. Our investing activities used $10.6 million gsrdvided $12.8 million in cash during the yearsezh®ecember 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively. The fluctuations fpmriod to period are due primarily to the timingpofrchases, sales and maturity of
investment securities and the purchase of landaiidings for $7.1 million offset by the releaserestricted cash of $3.3 million in 2005. In
addition, during the first quarter of 2006, we gomd Crown Bank with a $700,000 Certificate of Dgipas collateral for the loan agreement
we entered into with them on January 4, 2006.

Financing Activities. Financing activities provided cash of $52.5 milliamd $22.2 million during the years ended Decertie2006
and 2005, respectively. In 2006, the cash providefinancing activities is primarily due to the $45%nillion net proceeds from the registered
direct sales of 3,669,725 shares of common stodday 10, 2006 at a price of $3.27 per share, 6(0Dshares of common stock on
November 17, 2006 at a price of $3.50 per shar2z860,000 shares of common stock on DecembdC8 &t a price of $3.50 per share
addition to the $5.3 million net proceeds from @r@wn Bank loan we entered into on January 4, 2006oth 2006 and 2005, these amounts
also include borrowings under our Tanabe line eflitr proceeds from the exercise of stock optians, employee stock purchase plan (ESPP)
purchases.

In the first quarter of 2004, we signed an agredrfara line of credit with Tanabe, allowing usktorrow up to $8.5 million to be used for
the development of avanafil. The secured line eflitrmay be drawn upon quarterly and each quarbentyowing will have a 48-month term
and will bear interest at the annual rate of 2% 0fBecember 31, 2006, we had a long-term notealgaybalance of $6.3 million and $2.2
million remaining available on the credit line. Werrowed an additional $1.1 million under this d¢téide during 2006.
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On December 22, 2005, we purchased from our laddlar principal manufacturing facility, which wasepiously leased, for $7.1
million. The purchase price was funded in part By3$million, which was being held by the landloslcash collateral for renovations to the
facility upon the termination of the lease andrsmainder with cash. On January 4, 2006, we obdadn®5.4 million loan from Crown Bank,
N.A. (“Crown”). The land and buildings, among other asskeicated at our principal manufacturing facikityd a $700,000 Certificate of
Deposit held by Crown serve as collateral for thgeeements. The loan is payable over a 10-year &a1d the interest rate will be fixed at
8.25%, which is the prime rate plus 1% at the tohfunding and then will be adjusted annually ixad rate for the year equal to the prime
rate plus 1% with a floor of 7.5%.

On December 22, 2004, we filed a shelf registrasimtement on Form S-3 with the SEC, which allowsdo offer and sell up to an
aggregate of $50 million of common stock from titag¢ime in one or more offerings. The terms of angh future offering would be
established at the time of such offering. On Fetyr@&, 2005, we filed a prospectus supplement thi¢hSEC relating to an underwritten public
offering of 7,500,000 shares of common stock utlderexisting shelf Registration Statement and smpht thereto. On March 15, 2005, we
sold 6,250,000 shares of our common stock at @ jrfi$3.40 per share, providing us with net prosesds19.6 million.

On May 10, 2006, we sold $12.0 million of our commstock in a registered direct offering. Undertivens of the financing, we sold
3,669,725 shares of VIVUS common stock at a prick3a27 per share to two institutional investors. @ay 11, 2006, we filed a prospectus
supplement with the SEC relating to this registetiedct offering under the existing shelf RegistatStatement on Form S-3 and supplement
thereto.

On July 14, 2006, VIVUS, Inc. filed with the SEGIzelf Registration Statement on Form S-3. The dRedfistration Statement (File
Number 33-135793) was declared effective by the SEC on Aug6is2006, providing us with the ability to offend sell up to an aggregate of
$80.0 million of common stock from time to timeane or more offerings. The terms of any such futifering would be established at the
time of such offering. This shelf Registration $taent (File Number 333-135793) replaces shelf Regisn Statement (File Number 333-
12159).

On November 17, 2006, we raised $33.6 million registered direct offering of our common stock parg to this shelf Registration
Statement. Under the terms of this financing, wd aad issued a total of 6,750,000 shares of oomaon stock at a price of $3.50 per share in
an initial closing and an additional 2,850,000 skdn a second closing on December 8, 2006. Ahefshares of Common Stock were offered
pursuant to an effective Registration Statemerftanmn S-3 filed with the SEC on July 14, 2006.

The funding necessary to execute our businesegtestis subject to numerous uncertainties, whia adversely affect our liquidity and
capital resources. Completion of clinical trialsynake several years or more, but the length of tiinerally varies substantially according to
the type, complexity, novelty and intended use pfaduct candidate. It is also important to not iha clinical candidate is identified, the
further development of that candidate can be hateabandoned at any time due to a number of facldrese factors include, but are not
limited to, funding constraints, lack of efficacy safety or change in market demand.

The nature and efforts required to develop our pcbdandidates into commercially viable productdiide research to identify a clinical
candidate, preclinical development, clinical tegtiRDA approval and commercialization. This prodesgery costly and can take in excess of
10 years to complete for each product candidate.dtimation and the cost of clinical trials may vsignificantly over the life of a project as a
result of differences arising during the clinicaldies, including, among others, the following:

« we or the FDA may suspend trials;

« we may discover that a product candidate may chasaful side effects or is not effective;
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« patient recruitment may be slower than expected; an
« patients may drop out of the trials.

For each of our programs, we periodically assesstientific progress and the merits of the progré&mrdetermine if continued research
and development is economically viable. Certainwfprograms have been terminated due to the Iaskientific progress and lack of
prospects for ultimate commercialization. As subk, ultimate timeline and costs to commercialipgaluct cannot be accurately estimated.

Our product candidates have not yet achieved F#latory approval, which is required before we naarket them as therapeutic
products. In order to achieve regulatory approe,FDA must conclude that our clinical data esshbdafety and efficacy. The results from
preclinical testing and early clinical trials magtie predictive of results in later clinical tgalt is possible for a candidate to show promising
results in clinical trials, but subsequently faildstablish safety and efficacy data necessarptairoregulatory approvals.

As a result of the uncertainties discussed abaweng others, the duration and completion of oueaesh and development projects are
difficult to estimate and are subject to considratariation. Our inability to complete our resdaend development projects in a timely
manner or our failure to enter into collaboratigeements, when appropriate, could significanttyéase our capital requirements and could
adversely impact our liquidity. These uncertaintieald force us to seek additional, external saugfdinancing from time to time in order to
continue with our business strategy. Our inabtlityaise capital, or to do so on terms reasonatigtable to us, would jeopardize the future
success of our business.

We may also be required to make further substaetipénditures if unforeseen difficulties arise they areas of our business. In particular
our future capital and additional funding requirernsewill depend upon numerous factors, including:

 the progress and costs of our research and develggmograms;

« the scope, timing and results of pre-clinical tegtnd clinical trials;

« patient recruitment and enrollment in current antdrie clinical trials;

 the costs involved in seeking regulatory approf@®ur product candidates;

« the costs involved in filing and pursuing patenplagations and enforcing patent claims;
« the establishment of collaborations and strateljjenaes;

 the cost of manufacturing and commercializationvas and arrangements;

« the results of operations;

» demand for MUSE;

« the cost, timing and outcome of regulatory reviews;

« the rate of technological advances;

« ongoing determinations of the potential commersiadcess of our products under development;
« the level of resources devoted to sales and marcketipabilities; and

 the activities of competitors.

We anticipate that our existing capital resouraaslzined with anticipated future cash flows will fgficient to support our operating
needs into 2008. However, we anticipate that wereguire additional funding to continue our resdaand product development programs, to
conduct preclinical studies and
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trials, for operating expenses, to pursue regufapprovals for our product candidates, for thexow/olved in filing and prosecuting patent
applications and enforcing or defending our pattsitns, if any, and we may require additional furgdio establish additional manufacturing
and marketing capabilities in the future. In partéie, we expect to make other substantial paymemsrux and Tanabe in accordance with
agreements with them in connection with the licegsif certain compounds. These payments are basedrtain development, regulatory and
sales milestones. In addition, we are requiredd@eroyalty payments on any future product salesnvdly seek to access the public or private
equity markets whenever conditions are favorabie Jale of additional equity securities would resubdditional dilution to our stockholde!
We may also seek additional funding through stiiatatliances and other financing mechanisms. Weaotassure you that adequate funding
will be available on terms acceptable to us, #latlf adequate funds are not available, we mayeoiired to curtail significantly one or more
of our research or development programs or obtaidd through arrangements with collaborators ograthThis may require us to relinquish
rights to certain of our technologies or produgctdidates. To the extent that we are unable to oibkéid party funding for such expenses, we
expect that increased expenses will result in emed losses from operations. We are continualljuatiag our existing portfolio and we may
choose to divest or spin-off one or more of ourdpicis or product candidates at any time. We caasmire you that we will successfully
develop our products under development or thapeoealucts, if successfully developed, will generateenues sufficient to enable us to earn a
profit.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual gédions at December 31, 2006 and the effect sulipadions are expected to have on
our liquidity and cash flow in future fiscal yeafithese do not include milestones or future inteegpense and assume non-termination of
agreements. These obligations, commitments andostipg arrangements represent payments based mmtoperating forecasts, which are
subject to change:

Payments Due by Period (in thousands

Contractual obligations Total 2007 200¢-2010 2011-2012 Thereafter
Operating leases $ 149z $ 586 $ 907 — —
Purchase 6,486 4,191 2,29t — —
Notes payabli 11,60E 117 6,74C $341 $4,407
Total contractual obligatior $19,58/ $4,894 $9,94: $341 $4,407

Operating Leases

We purchased our previously leased manufacturicigjitfas in Lakewood, New Jersey on December 22520n January 2000, we ente
into a seven-year lease for our corporate headepgart Mountain View, California, which expireddanuary 2007. In November 2006, we
entered into a new 30-month lease for our exidtiogintain View corporate headquarters location with existing landlord. The new lease
commenced on February 1, 2007. The lease expirdalgi81, 2009 and allows us one option to extéedérm of the lease for a period of one
year from the expiration of the lea:

Purchases

Purchase obligations consist of agreements to pgecoods or services that are enforceable anilyleégading on us and that specify all
significant terms, including: fixed or minimum qugies to be purchased; fixed, minimum or varigbiiee provisions; and the approximate
timing of the transaction. These include obligasiéor minimum inventory purchase contracts, clihd@a management, research and
development and media/market research contracts.
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Manufacturing Agreements

In November 2002, we entered into a manufacturgrgement to purchase raw materials from a supipéiginning in 2003 and ending in
2008. Our remaining commitment is to purchase amim total of $2.3 million of product from 2007 thugh 2008. In 2005, we purchased
$765,000 of product from this supplier. We did potchase any product from this supplier in 2006.

In January 2004, we entered into a manufacturimgeagent to purchase raw materials from an additsumgplier beginning in 2004 and
ending in 2006. In February 2006, we amended tmestef this agreement to require the purchasenosifidmum total of $1.5 million of produ
from 2006 through 2008. In 2005 we purchased $280d product. We purchased $751,000 of produchftiois supplier in 2006 and our
remaining commitment under this agreement is $ 85,0

Other Agreements

We have entered into various agreements with @irdonsultants and clinical research organizattongerform clinical studies on our
behalf and, at December 31, 2006, our remainingnaibment under these agreements totaled $750,00haie also entered into various
agreements with research consultants and otheramboits to perform drug research, testing and naaturfing including animal studies and, at
December 31, 2006, our remaining commitment urttese agreements totaled $1.6 million. In additieecember 2006, we entered into a
marketing promotion agreement for our erectile dgsfion product, MUSE. At December 31, 2006, oumnaming commitment under this
agreement totaled $1.1 million.

Notes Payable

In 2004, we signed an agreement for a securedfineadit with Tanabe, allowing us to borrow up®.5 million to be used for the
development of avanafil. The secured line of crediyy be drawn upon quarterly and each quarterlyoladng will have a 48-month term and
will bear interest at the annual rate of 2%. Thaneno financial covenants associated with thisreetline of credit. Under certain conditions,
at our option, payments on this secured line aficreay be made, in whole or in part, in commorckt@s of December 31, 2006, we have
long term notes payable of $6.3 million, and $2ilfion of available credit under this agreement.

On January 4, 2006, we obtained a $5.4 million ivam Crown. The land and buildings, among othsets located at our principal
manufacturing facility and a $700,000 Certificatddeposit held by Crown serve as collateral fosthégreements. The loan is payable over a
10-year term and the interest rate will be fixe8.26%, which is the prime rate plus 1% at the toh&inding and then will be adjusted
annually to a fixed rate for the year equal toghiene rate plus 1% with a floor of 7.5%. As of Dedeer 31, 2006, we have a principal balance
of $5.3 million remaining on the Crown loan.

Additional Payments

We have entered into development, license and gw@grkements which contain provisions for paymaptsn completion of certain
development, regulatory and sales milestones. Btieet uncertainty concerning when and if these stolges may be completed, we have not
included these potential future obligations in déheve table.
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Tanabe

In January 2001, we entered into an exclusive dgwveént, license and supply agreement with Tanabiaéodevelopment and
commercialization of avanafil, a PDES5 inhibitor qoound for the oral and local treatment of male femdale sexual dysfunction. Under the
terms of the agreement, Tanabe agreed to grantciunsese license to us for products containing aftuoutside of Japan, North Korea, South
Korea, China, Taiwan, Singapore, Indonesia, MatgyBhailand, Viethnam and the Philippines. We agteagtant Tanabe an exclusive, royalty-
free license within those countries for oral pradubat we develop containing avanafil. In additise agreed to grant Tanabe an exclusive
option to obtain an exclusive, royalty-bearing ffise within those countries for non-oral productd the develop containing avanafil. Further,
we granted Tanabe the option to obtain co-promatidghts for oral products that we develop underlecense for up to 25% of the
promotional activity in our territory. Tanabe agiée manufacture and supply us with avanafil fa imsclinical trials, which will be our
primary responsibility.

We have paid upfront licensing fees of $5.0 milltoriTanabe and have agreed to make additional patgna@on the completion of certain
development, regulatory and sales milestones. Quha first quarter of 2004, we initiated a Phasdirical trial with avanafil, which meets
one of the clinical development milestone critafeve. We paid Tanabe $2.0 million in connectiotihwhis milestone in 2006. We have
further agreed to pay royalties on net sales odlypets containing avanafil.

Acrux

In February 2004, we entered into exclusive licegsigreements with Acrux Limited (“Acrux”) and gabsidiary under which we have
agreed to develop and, if approved, commercialesgtdsterone-MDTS and EvaMist in the United Statevérious female health applications.
Acrux’s metered-dose transdermal spray, or MDT&hrtelogy is a patented, simple to use spray thagiisg developed to deliver testosterone
and estradiol effectively to women when appliethi® skin. We agreed to grant Acrux’s subsidiarypa-axclusive, royalty-free license outside
the United States for any MDTS products containimgrovements we have made to the licensed inteléqroperty and the option to obtain a
non-exclusive, worldwide license for our intellegtproperty related to MDTS products. We have &3d million in upfront licensing fees to
Acrux and have agreed to make additional paymeus the completion of certain development, regmasmd sales milestones. Under the
terms of the agreements, we agreed to pay to Aasmbined licensing fees up to $4.3 million for #ehievement of certain clinical
development milestones, up to $6.0 million for aefrig product approval milestones, and royaltieseinsales in the United States following
approval and commercialization of each product.R&fee paid $1.8 million in clinical development nsilenes payments to date, including the
$1.0 million milestone payment we made to Acruictober 2006 related to the submission of an ND#h&oFDA for EvaMist. In addition,
we will owe a $3.0 million product approval milestopayment upon approval of this NDA.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any off-balance sheenéimg arrangements and have not established amjaspearpose entities. We have not
guaranteed any debt or commitments of other esititieentered into any options on non-financial @sse

Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, we provide indéoations of varying scope to customers againaines of intellectual property
infringement made by third parties arising from tise of our products. Historically, costs relaethiese indemnification provisions have not
been significant and we are unable to estimaten@meémum potential impact of these indemnificatiooyisions on our future results of
operations.
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To the extent permitted under Delaware law, we lagreements whereby we indemnify our officers anectbrs for certain events or
occurrences while the officer or director is, orswserving at our request in such capacity. Thermdfication period covers all pertinent eve
and occurrences during the officer’s or directdifstime. The maximum potential amount of futureypeents we could be required to make
under these indemnification agreements is unlimitedvever, we have director and officer insurameéecage that reduces our exposure and
enables us to recover a portion of any future arteopaid. We believe the estimated fair value o$¢hi@demnification agreements in excess of
applicable insurance coverage is minimal.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement ofrféilah Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 153 He Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabiliti—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No”.13BAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measu
many financial instruments and certain other itetf&ir value. This statement provides entitiesapportunity to mitigate volatility in reported
earnings caused by measuring related assets &ildtiéa differently without having to apply compldiedge accounting provisions. This
Statement is effective as of the beginning of aityés first fiscal year that begins after November2®)7. Management is currently evalua
the impact of adopting this Statement.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting StashsiBoard (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Aatiog Standards (SFAS) 157, “
Fair Value Measuremen”. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a fraor& for measuring fair value in generally accepgedounting
principles (GAAP) and expands disclosures aboutaiue measurements. SFAS 157 is effective faafigears beginning after November 15,
2007 and interim periods within those fiscal ye&lye are currently evaluating the effect, if anyttthe adoption of SFAS 157 will have on our
financial position and results of operations.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Gssion issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 1086nsidering the Effects of Prior
Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstateman®uirent Year Financial Statemerit§’'SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides interpretive
guidance on how the effects of prior-year uncogéchisstatements should be considered when quiagtifyisstatements in the current year
financial statements. SAB 108 requires registrémtguantify misstatements using both an incomestant (“rollover”) and balance sheet
(“iron curtain”) approach and evaluate whethereitapproach results in a misstatement that, wHeelal/ant quantitative and qualitative
factors are considered, is material. If prior yeaors that had been previously considered imnealtedw are considered material based on
either approach, no restatement is required sodsnganagement properly applied its previous ajpraad all relevant facts and
circumstances were considered. If prior years ategstated, the cumulative effect adjustmentésmed in opening accumulated earnings as
of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption.BSR08 is effective for fiscal years ending on deafNovember 15, 2006, with earlier adoption
encouraged. The adoption of SAB 108 did not haweterial effect on our consolidated financial cdiodi or results of operations.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretatian K8 (“FIN 48") “ Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an iptetation of
FASB Statement No. 1, to clarify certain aspects of accounting for artain tax positions, including issues relatecheriecognition and
measurement of those tax positions. FIN 48 pressrébrecognition threshold and measurement agriioutfinancial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expectée taken in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides gnit on derecognizing, measurement,
classification, interest and penalties, accounitingterim periods, disclosure and transition. Tihigrpretation is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006. The cumulatifeceof applying the provisions of FIN 48 will heported as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings or deficit at JanaaB007. We are in the process
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of evaluating the effect that the adoption of ihierpretation will have on our results of operati@nd financial condition and we are not yet in
a position to determine such effects.

Effective January 1, 2006, VIVUS adopted SFAS 1&3&ed 2004), Share-Based Paymen{"SFAS 123(R)"), which requires the
measurement and recognition of compensation exgensd stock-based payment awards made to empkged directors, including
employee stock options, restricted stock, and sapgkeciation rights (SARS) based on estimatedvidires. See Note 1 to our consolidated
financial statements for further discussion.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 13fhyéntory Costs”, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4. This 8tat# is
meant to eliminate any differences existing betwihenFASB standards and the standards issued bgt#r@ational Accounting Standards
Board by clarifying that any abnormal idle faciléxpense, freight, handling costs and spoilagebegnized as current-period charges. The
adoption of this Statement by VIVUS in the firstagier of 2006 did not have a material impact owltef operations, financial position or
cash flows, as we had previously expensed a poofiaur manufacturing overhead as period cost dwextess capacity.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any dividends since its incepdiod do not intend to declare or pay any dividemdeuwr common stock in the
foreseeable future. Declaration or payment of fitividends, if any, will be at the discretion afrdBoard of Directors after taking into acco
various factors, including our financial conditi@perating results and current and anticipated nashls.

Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

Our business is subject to significant risks, idahg but not limited to, the risks inherent in sasearch and development activities,
including the successful completion of clinicahtsi, the lengthy, expensive and uncertain processeking regulatory approvals, uncertainties
associated both with the potential infringemenpatents and other intellectual property rightshirfct parties, and with obtaining and enforcing
our own patents and patent rights, uncertaintigarding government reforms and of product pricind eeimbursement levels, technological
change, competition, manufacturing uncertainties@pendence on third parties. Even if our prodaotlidates appear promising at an early
stage of development, they may not reach the méoketumerous reasons. Such reasons include thehidees that the product will be
ineffective or unsafe during clinical trials, willil to receive necessary regulatory approvald, véldifficult to manufacture on a large scale,
will be uneconomical to market or will be precludeaim commercialization by proprietary rights oirthparties. For more information about
the risks we face, see “Item 1.A. Risk Factors'luded in this report.

Iltem 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

The Securities and Exchange Commission’s ruleedltd market risk disclosure requires that we dies@nd quantify potential material
losses from market risk sensitive instrumentskaiteble to reasonably possible market changes. éflaidk sensitive instruments include all
financial or commodity instruments and other finahinstruments that are sensitive to future charigénterest rates, currency exchange rates,
commodity prices or other market factors.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk on our sleont-investments. The primary objective of our inment activities is to preserve
principal while at the same time maximizing yielgishout significantly increasing risk. To achieves objective, we invest in highly liquid a
high quality government and other debt securiffesminimize our exposure due to adverse shiftaterest rates, we invest in short-term
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securities and ensure that the maximum weightethgeeof our maturity of our investments does natexd 18 months. If a 10% change in
interest rates were to have occurred on Decemhe&t(8B, this change would not have had a matdifiatteon the fair value of our investment

portfolio as of that date. Due to the short holdigiod of our investments, we have concludedw®eatio not have a material financial market
risk exposure.

We are also exposed to interest rate risk on thé ®ilion loan from Crown Bank, N.A. obtained canliary 4, 2006. The loan is payable
over a 10-year term and the interest rate willibed at 8.25%, which is the prime rate plus 1%hatttme of funding and then will be adjusted
annually to a fixed rate for the year equal togghene rate plus 1% with a floor of 7.5%.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dz
VIVUS, INC.
1. Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed astdithis Report:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfings

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &0D800¢

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Othemp@smnsive Income (Loss) for the years er
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2(

Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005200

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeradled December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

Financial Statement Schedule
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of VIVUSS, |

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balslneets of VIVUS, Inc. as of December 31, 20@524005, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and othepimensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity eash flows for the years then ended. In
connection with our audits, we also have audited2®06 and 2005 data in financial statement sckdtlulhese financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of VIVUS, Inc.’smagement. Our responsibility is to express an opimin these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighamio(United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindoecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemenielhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeudited by us present fairly, in all materiapects, the consolidated financial position
of VIVUS, Inc. at December 31, 2006 and 2005, dreddonsolidated results of its operations andaghdlows for the years then ended, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounfinigiciples. Also, in our opinion, the related fiméad statement schedule, when consider:
relation to the basic financial statements takea a$iole, presents fairly in all material respebtsinformation set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&tements, on January 1, 2006, VIVUS adopteghtbeisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revise8jdre-Based Payment,” and Statement of Financiedéwing Standards No. 151,
“Inventory Costs—an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chagte

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
effectiveness of VIVUS, Inc.’s internal control evfjmancial reporting as of December 31, 2006, Hamecriteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cagsion and our report dated
February 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sl ODENBERG, ULLAKKO, MURANISHI & CO. LLP

San Francisco, C.

February 28, 200
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders of VIVUS, |

We have audited management’s assessment, inclodddriagement’s Report on Internal Control Over Rai@ Reporting, included in
Item 9A, that VIVUS, Inc. maintained effective int@l control over financial reporting as of DecemBg, 2006, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issuedhry Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of theativay Commission (the COSO
criteria). VIVUS, Inc.’s management is responsitdlemaintaining effective internal control over dincial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over finahoggorting. Our responsibility is to express ain@m on management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of VIVUS, Inc.’s imal control over financial reporting based on oudlia

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet émdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®tsr audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing anhdhting the design and operating effectivenessitgirnal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary girtuenstances. We believe that our audit providessagonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableasssuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thagi€ithin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatggaparation of financial statements in accor@éawith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that VIMbS,maintained effective internal control ovardncial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all mategapects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, mopinion, VIVUS, Inc. maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control dfteancial reporting as of December 31, 2006, basethe COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdzf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of VIVUS, Inc. as afdb#ber 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consatidtatements of operations and other
comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity @ash flows for the years then ended and ourtelpted February 28, 2007 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ODENBERG, ULLAKKO, MURANISHI & CO. LLFP

San Francisco, C.

February 28, 200
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders
VIVUS, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednstates of operations and other comprehensive indtoss), stockholdersgquity, ant
cash flows of VIVUS, Inc. and subsidiaries for trear ended December 31, 2004. In connection wittaadit, we also have audited the 2004
data in financial statement schedule Il. These alafeted financial statements and schedule areetgonsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these consolidated financial statementdiaadcial statement schedule based on
our audits.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindoecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our auditiges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeeferred to above present fairly, in all materégpects, the results of operations and
cash flows of VIVUS, Inc. and subsidiaries’ for thear ended December 31, 2004, in conformity wit.ldienerally accepted accounting
principles. Also in our opinion, the related finalcstatement schedule, when considered in reldatidghe basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, present fairly, imaterial respects, the information set forth threre

/sl KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
March 15, 200¢
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VIVUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value)

December 31

2006 2005
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivale $ 44,628 $ 22,23¢
Available-for-sale securitie 14,247 4,77C
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doub#fatounts of $67 and $202
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectiv 4,35¢ 7,604
Inventories, ne 3,327 4,504
Prepaid expenses and other as 2,40¢ 1,024
Total current assets 68,96~ 40,13¢
Property, plant and equipment, | 8,54¢ 9,144
Restricted cash 700 —
Total assets $ 78,21« $ 49,28-
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 210z $ 3,77¢
Accrued product returr 2,47¢ 3,01¢€
Accrued research and clinical expen 460 1,88€
Accrued licensing fee — 1,972
Accrued chargeback reser 1,531 1,832
Accrued employee compensation and ben 1,49C 1,28C
Income taxes payab 1,24E 1,21E
Accrued and other liabilities 2,10C 1,58¢
Total current liabilities 11,401 16,56¢
Notes payabls 11,48¢ 5,164
Deferred revenu 2,18E 948
Total liabilities 25,074 22,681
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder equity:
Preferred stock; $1.00 par value; 5,000 sharewar#d; no shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2006 and z — —
Common stock; $.001 par value; 200,000 shares anétbat December 31, 20!
and 2005; 58,144 shares issued and outstandingcaniber 31, 2006 and
44,642 at December 31, 20 58 45
Additional paic-in capital 221,744 173,61
Accumulated other comprehensive income (I (12) (30)
Accumulated defici (168,65])  (147,02))
Total stockholders’ equity 53,14( 26,601
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 78,214 $ 49,28:

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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VIVUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue
United States product, n
International produc
Other revenue
Total revenu
Operating expense
Cost of goods sold and manufacturing expe
Research and developm
Selling, general and administrative
Total operating expens:
Loss from operations
Interest and other income (expen:
Interest incomt
Interest expens
Other (expense) incon
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxe
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (los
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities, net of te
Comprehensive loss
Net loss per shar
Basic and dilutes
Shares used in per share computai
Basic and dilutes

Year Ended December 3:

2006 2005 2004
$ 14,28 $ 11,697 $ 16,41¢
2,377 2,794 3,030
588 163 152
17,245 ~ 14654 _ 19,601
11,935 11,01¢  11,28¢
13,31€ 17,0058  18,67€
14,57¢ 11916  11,73C
39,82€ _ 39,93¢ _ 41,68¢
(22,58  (25,285) (22,08
1,573 1,094 622
(593) (221) (143)
1) (47) 32
(21,604 (24,45¢) (21,577)
(20) (25) (6)
$(21,629) $(24,48) $(21,589)
19 18 (112)
$(21,605) $(24,466 $ (21,695
$ (045 $ (057 $ (0.57)
48,102 43,272 38,01C

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisents.
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VIVUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands)

Accumulated

Additional Other
Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive  Accumulated
Shares  Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Total
Balances, December 31, 2003 37,78¢ $38 $ 152,09: $ 64 $ (100,96() $ 51,23t
Sale of common stock through employee
stock purchase ple 84 — 283 — — 283
Exercise of common stock options for
cash 255 — 859 — — 859
Stock compensation cos — — 40 — — 40
Net unrealized loss on securit| — — — (112) (112)
Net loss — — — — (21,583 (21,583
Balances, December 31, 2004 38,127 38 153,27¢ (48) (122,547) 30,722
Sale of common stock through employee
stock purchase ple 120 — 277 — — 277
Exercise of common stock options for
cash 145 — 440 — — 440
Stock compensation cos — — 44 — — 44
Proceeds from private placement of
common stocl 6,25C 7 21,243 — — 21,25C
Issue costs for private placement of
common stocl — — (1,666) — — (1,666)
Net unrealized gain on securiti — — — 18 — 18
Net loss — — — — (24,484) (24,484)
Balances, December 31, 2005 44,64: 45 173,61% (30) (147,027) 26,601
Sale of common stock through employee
stock purchase ple 112 — 315 — — 315
Exercise of common stock options for
cash 120 — 360 — — 360
Stock compensation cos — — 2,065 — — 2,065
Proceeds from private placement of
common stocl 13,27C 13 45,587 — — 45,60C
Issue costs for private placement of
common stocl — — (196) — (196)
Net unrealized gain on securiti — — — 19 — 19
Net loss — — — — (21,624) (21,624)
Balances, December 31, 2006 58,14¢ $58 $§ 221,74« $ (11 $ (168,65) $ 53,14C

See accompanying notes to consolidated financistents.
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VIVUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 3:

2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (21,629 $ (24,485 $ (21,587
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby (used for) operating
activities:
Provision for doubtful accounts (135) 98 36
Provision for excess inventory 764 — —
Depreciation 1,074 1,341 1,936
Stock compensation expense 2,065 44 40
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment (24) 34 7
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 3,380 1,842 (6,957)
Inventories 413 (649) (746)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (1,384) 435 (351)
Accounts payable (1,677) 659 203
Accrued product returns (543) (195) 189
Accrued research, clinical and licensing fees (3,398) (168) 3,568
Accrued chargeback reserve (301) 206 682
Accrued employee compensation and benefits 210 (162) 193
Accrued and other liabilities 1,661 (1112) 96
Net cash used for operating activities (19,509 (21,110) (22,687)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Land and buildings purchase — (7,142 —
Other property and equipment purchases (501) (123) (118)
Release (grant) of restricted cash (700) 3,324 —
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 36 — 1
Investment purchases (26,513) (42,371) (20,451)
Proceeds from sale/maturity of securities 17,05¢ 59,12¢ 34,081
Net cash (used for) provided by investing actigitie (10,619 12,81€ 13,513
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowing under note agreements 6,535 1,925 3,239
Principal payments under note agreement (94) — —
Exercise of common stock options 360 440 859
Sale of common stock through employee stock pusché& 315 277 283
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 45,404 19,584 —
Net cash provided by financing activities 52,52C 22,22¢€ 4,381
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivakent 22,392 13,932 (4,793
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of year 22,23€ 8,304 13,097
End of year $ 44626 $ 2223¢ $ 8,304
Supplemental cash flow disclosure:
Interest paid $ 518 $ 80 $ 17
Income taxes paid $ 13 % 10 $ 13
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Release of restoration liability $ — $ (3,021 $ —
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities $ 19 % 18 % (112)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigsents.
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VIVUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Business and Significant Accounting Policse
Business

VIVUS, Inc. is a pharmaceutical company, incorpedain 1991, dedicated to the development and cogialigation of therapeutic
products for large underserved markets using pademtoprietary formulations and novel delivery eyss and by seeking new indications for
previously approved pharmaceutical products. Ctsrethe Company has development candidates addgegbesity, post-menopausal and
sexual health, each of which targets an estimatestirey or potential market in excess of $1 billiamnually. VIVUS’ investigational product
pipeline includes: Qnexa for treating obesity,drich a Phase 2 study has been completed; Evaidiseat vasomotor symptoms associated
with menopause, for which an NDA was submittech®EDA in the third quarter of 2006; Testosteror@™® is being developed to treat
hypoactive sexual desire disorder, for which a Btzastudy has been completed; and avanafil is l@rngloped for the treatment of erectile
dysfunction; for which Phase 2 studies have beempteted. In 1997, the Company launched MUSE (atphl, a transurethral applicator
used for treating erectile dysfunction, in the l@diStates and internationally through distribupantners.

At December 31, 2006, the Company’s accumulatetitiefas approximately $168.7 million. Based onreut plans, management
expects to incur further losses for the foreseehbilee. Management believes that the Company’s,azsh equivalents, and short-term
investments at December 31, 2006, will be suffictermeet the Company’s obligations into 2008. Uh& Company can generate sufficient
levels of cash from its operations, the Companyeetgpto continue to finance future cash needs pilyrtarough proceeds from equity or debt
financing, loans and collaborative agreements wattporate partners.

The Company primarily sells its products througtolgsale channels in the United States. Internatisaelas are made only to the
Company'’s international distributors. All transacis are denominated in United States dollars am@€tmpany operates in a single segment
reporting to the chief executive officer, basedh criteria of Statement of Financial Accountirtgrglards, or SFAS, No. 13Djsclosures
about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Infiioma

Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidatiol

The consolidated financial statements include ttomants of VIVUS, Inc., VIVUS Real Estate LLC, aelly owned subsidiary, VIVUS
International Limited, a wholly owned subsidiarpdaVIVUS Ireland Limited, VIVUS U.K. Limited and WAUS B.V. Limited, wholly owned
subsidiaries of VIVUS International Limited. Allgiificant inter-company transactions and balanea® been eliminated in consolidation. On
February 20, 2004, VIVUS Ireland was officially siidved. On December 31, 2005, VIVUS U.K. Limiteccheme a dormant company.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting priresplequires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartexiints of assets and liabilities and disclosufesuatingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported ansoofitevenues and expenses during the reportingdoekctual results could differ from those
estimates.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid investmentwitaturities from the date of purchase of threetimor less to be cash equivalents.
All cash equivalents are in money market funds @mmercial paper. The fair value of the funds apipnated cost.

Available-for-Sale Securities

Available-forsale securities represent investments in debt siesuthat are stated at fair value. The Compastrics its cash investmer
to:

« Direct obligations of the United States Treasury;
« Federal Agency securities which carry the diredtglied guarantee of the United States governmaand;
» Corporate securities, including commercial papsed A1/P1/F1 or better.

The difference between amortized cost (cost adjusteamortization of premiums and accretion otdimts which are recognized as
adjustments to interest income) and fair valueraggnting unrealized holding gains or losses,egerded in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss), a separate compofistdakholders’ equity until realized. The changeainrealized gains (losses) on
investments included in accumulated other comprakierincome (loss) for 2006, 2005 and 2004, in saodls, are $19, $18, and $(112),
respectively.

The Company'’s policy is to record investments ibtdcurities as available-for-sale because tleecgauch securities may be required
prior to maturity. Any gains and losses on the sélgebt securities are determined on a speciéatification basis and are included in interest
and other income in the accompanying consolidatsements of operations and other comprehensiweriadloss). Available-for-sale
securities with original maturities beyond one yieam the balance sheet date are classified asoment.

Accounts Receivable, Allowances for Doubtful Act®and Cash Discoun

The Company extends credit to its customers fodypebsales resulting in accounts receivable. Fatifigd customers, the Company
grants payment terms of 2%, net 30 days. Custoneauats are monitored for past due amounts. P&sadeounts receivable, determined t
uncollectible, are written off against the allowaror doubtful accounts. Allowances for doubtfut@agnts are estimated based upon past due
amounts, historical losses and existing econontitofa, and are adjusted periodically. Allowancescsh discounts are estimated based upon
the amount of trade accounts receivable subjettiet@ash discounts. The Company routinely asséssegperience with cash discounts and
adjusts the reserves accordingly. If actual casbadints or uncollectible accounts are greater theiCompany’s estimates, additional reserves
may be required. The accounts receivable are regort the balance sheet, net of the allowancedobtful accounts and allowance for
payment terms.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consigharily of cash, cash equivalents, short-
term investments and accounts receivable. The Coynipas established guidelines to limit its expogareredit risk by placing investments
with high credit quality financial institutions,\dirsifying its investment portfolio and placing @stments with maturities that maintain safety
and liquidity.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (fimsfirst-out basis) or market and consist of raatenials and component parts, work in
process and finished goods. Cost includes matamidiconversion costs. | nventory reserves are deddior estimated obsolescence,
unmarketable or excess inventory equal to the rdiffee between the cost of inventory and the estichattarket value based upon assumptions
about future demand and market conditions. If dehsaket conditions are less favorable than thosgepted by management, additional
inventory write-downs may be required. In 2006, @enpany recorded a $764,000 inventory write-doglated to the purchase of alprostadil,
considered to be in excess of projected producterds.

During the quarter ended September 30, 1998, timep@ny established significant reserves againgtitntory to align with new
estimates of expected future demand for MUSE. ABexfember 31, 2006, the remaining inventory resbalance is $4.4 million. This
remaining balance is related to the raw materiats@mponent parts inventory that the Company presly estimated would not be used.
Some portion of the fully reserved inventory hasrbased in production. When the Company recordsnitory reserves, it establishes a new,
lower cost basis for the inventory for accountingpmses. Accordingly, to the extent that this fubgerved inventory was used in productio
2004, 2005 and 2006, it was charged to cost of ggottl at a zero basis, which had a favorable itnpacost of goods sold.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 13hyentory Costs”, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4. This 8tatd is
meant to eliminate any differences existing betwbenFASB standards and the standards issued bgt#r@ational Accounting Standards
Board by clarifying that any abnormal idle facilgxpense, freight, handling costs and spoilageebegnized as current-period charges. The
adoption of this Statement by VIVUS in the firstagier of 2006 did not have a material impact onltsf operations, financial position or
cash flows, as the Company had previously expeagation of its manufacturing overhead as perimgt due to excess capacity.

Prepaid Expenses and Other As:

Prepaid expenses and other assets generally cohdisposits, other receivables and prepaymentiifare services. Prepayments are
expensed when the services are received.

Property, Plant and Equipme

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cosfrasiddes land, buildings, building improvementsahinery and equipment, which
includes tooling, computers and software, and furaiand fixtures. For financial reporting, depagicin is computed using the straight-line
method over estimated useful lives of twenty yéarduildings, and two to seven years for machireergl equipment, computers and software,
and furniture and fixtures. Building improvemente amortized using the straight-line method overaktimated useful lives. Expenditures for
repairs and maintenance, which do not extend tbkilife of the property and equipment, are exgenas incurred. Upon retirement, the asset
cost and related accumulated depreciation areveglifom the accompanying consolidated financeteshents. Gains and losses associated
with dispositions are reflected as a componentlénincome, net in the accompanying consolidatai@ments of operations and other
comprehensive income (loss).

In accordance with SFAS No. 144¢counting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lonigdd Assetslong-lived assets, such as property,
plant and equipment, are reviewed for impairmengmgver events or changes in circumstances indicatéhe carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assebetbeld and used is measured by a comparisore afattnying amount of an asset to an
estimate of undiscounted future cash flows expetdat generated by the asset. If the carrying anaiithe asset exceeds its estimated future
cash flows, an impairment charge is recognizechbyamount by which the carrying amount of the asseteds the fair value of the asset.
Assets to be disposed
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of would be separately presented in the balancet strel reported at the lower of the carrying ameuriair value less costs to sell, and are no
longer depreciated. The assets and liabilitiesdiposed group classified as held for sale woelg@riesented separately in the appropriate .
and liability sections of the balance sheet. Thex@any believes the future cash flows to be recefr@d the long-lived assets will exceed the
assets’ carrying value, and accordingly the Comgeasynot recognized any impairment losses througgember 31, 2006.
Restricted Cas

In connection with a $5.4 million loan from Crowmiik, N.A. (“Crown”) in the first quarter of 2006ye& Company provided a $700,000
Certificate of Deposit held by Crown as collateralthe loan, classified as restricted cash.
Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

Financial instruments, including cash and cashwedgmts, accounts receivable, accounts payableaesrdied liabilities, are carried at
cost, which management believes approximates #irevbecause of the short-term maturity of thesguments.
Revenue Recognitic

The Company recognizes revenue when the followang Eriteria are met:

» persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;

« shipment has occurred,;

« the sales price is fixed or determinable; and

 collectibility is reasonably assured.

The Company recognizes revenue upon shipment vithepasses to the customer and risk of loss isfeared to the customer. The
Company does not have any post shipment obligations
United States

The Company primarily sells its products througlolesalers in the United States. The Company previdegovernment chargebacks,
rebates, returns and other adjustments in the penied the related product sales are recorded.riResér government chargebacks, rebates,
returns and other adjustments are based upon &afysistorical data. Each period the Companyewsiits reserves for government
chargebacks, rebates, returns and other adjustrioasesl on data available at that time. Any adjustriiethese reserves results in charges to
the amount of product sales revenue recognizeukipériod.

International

The Company has supply agreements with Meda ABaiket and distribute MUSE internationally in somerivber States of the
European Union. In Canada, the Company has eniied license and supply agreement with Paladiys|_inc. for the marketing and
distribution of MUSE. Sales to the Company’s dmition partner, who supplies MUSE in the Europeanketplace, for 2006, 2005 and 2004
were 91.7%, 93.4%, and 96.7% of international sakspectively. The balance of international salas made to the Company’s Canadian
distribution partner.

The Company invoices its international distributbesed on an agreed transfer price per unit, wikishbject to revision based on
contractual formulas upon quarterly reconciliatiofisal pricing for
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product shipments to international distributorsubject to contractual formulas based on the Bistoi’s net realized price to its customers.
Company recognizes additional revenue, if any, dpalization of pricing with its international dr#butors. International distributors gener:
do not have the right to return products unlesgtioducts are damaged or defective.

The Company initially recorded $1.5 million of unead revenue related to an upfront payment in azgare with the international supply
agreement signed with Meda AB (“Meda”) in Septem®@02. In January 2006, the Company received astoibe payment from Meda of $2.0
million. The milestone payment provides Meda with tight to continue to sell and distribute MUSEtnEuropean territories. These amounts
are being recognized as income ratably over time tdrthe supply agreement. Through December 316,20860,000 has been recognized as
revenue.

In November 2004, the Company recorded $125,0@Meérned revenue related to an upfront licensiygngat in accordance with an
amendment to its international supply and distidsuagreement with Paladin Labs, Inc. This amosifiging recognized as income ratably
over the term of the supply and distribution agreetmThrough December 31, 2006, $27,000 has beegmeed as revenue.

Advertising and Sales Promotion exper

Advertising and sales promotion expenses are chaogexpense as incurred. The Company spent $1lidmin 2006, $801,000 in 2005,
and $1.2 million in 2004 on advertising and salesywtion costs related to its marketed product, MUS

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping costs included in “Selling, General andvuistrative” for 2006, 2005 and 2004, in thousarade $212, $218, and $200,
respectively. Handling costs included in “Cost afd@s Sold and Manufacturing Expense” for 2006, 2@08l 2004, in thousands, are $354,
$277, and $332, respectively.

Research and Development Expenses and Acc

Research and development (R&D) expenses includadiefees, related compensation, contractor faeifities costs, administrative
expenses and clinical trials at other companiesr@selarch institutions under agreements, whiclyanerally cancelable, among other related
research and development costs. The Company alemseaccruals for estimated clinical study cdStmical study costs represent costs
incurred by clinical research organizations, or GR&nd clinical sites. These costs are recordadcasnponent of R&D expenses. The
Company analyzes the progress of the clinicaldrialcluding levels of patient enroliment, invoigeseived and contracted costs when
evaluating the adequacy of the accrued liabilitgignificant judgments and estimates must be madeaiaed in determining the accrued
balance in any accounting period. Actual costsrirezimay or may not match the estimated costs fiven accounting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates under differesguanptions. Revisions are charged to expense ipethied in which the facts that give rise to
the revision become known.

Product Return:

The Company has estimated reserves for produghsefrom wholesalers, hospitals and pharmacies.Gdrapany estimates its reserves
by utilizing historical information and data obtathfrom external sources. The Company recordsveséor anticipated returns of expired or
damaged product in the United States. The Compallowfs this method since reasonably dependablenasts of product returns can be made
based on historical experience. Revisions in retesiimates are charged to income in the periachioh the facts that give rise to the revision
become known. There is no right-of-return on exppeoduct sold internationally subsequent to shiptythus, no returns reserve is needed.
The
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Company routinely assesses its experience withystagturns and adjusts the reserves accordinfghetlial product returns are greater that
Company’s estimates, additional reserves may hanest)

Government Chargebacks, Rebates and Sales Reserves

The Company has estimated reserves for governrhangebacks for goods purchased by certain Fedevakgment organizations
including the Veterans Administration, Medicaid a&ds to states for goods purchased by patientsexsy Medicaid, Medicare and other
rebate programs and cash discounts for prompt patyrhibe Company estimates its reserves by utilihistprical information, current contract
and statutory requirements, estimated customentowvg levels and data obtained from external saurkeestimating government chargeback
reserves, the Company analyzes actual chargebamkrasnand applies historical chargeback ratestimates of the quantity of units sold
subject to chargebacks. In estimating Medicaid@her rebates, the historical rebate percentagsed to estimate future rebates. Effective
January 1, 2006, MUSE no longer qualifies for Madlaeimbursement, which has not had a significapgct to the Company’s business.
Effective January 1, 2007, MUSE will no longer dfyalor Medicare Part D, which the Company does loelteve will have a significant impz
on its business. The Company routinely assessegptrience with Medicaid, Medicare and other rebaind government chargebacks and
adjusts the reserves accordingly. If actual govemichargebacks, Medicaid and Medicare rebatesothied rebates are greater than the
Company’s estimates, additional reserves may hanest)

Share-based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS M&k2004)Share-Based PaymefiBFAS 123(R)"), which requires the
measurement and recognition of compensation exfgensdl stock-based payment awards made to empbkgad directors, including
employee stock options, restricted stock, and sapgkeciation rights (SARS) based on estimated/iires. The Company adopted SFAS 123
(R) using the modified prospective transition metheohich requires application of the accountingndtad as of January 1, 2006, the first day
of fiscal year 2006. The consolidated financiatesteents for the year ended December 31, 2006 te¢fiedmpact of SFAS 123(R). In
accordance with the modified prospective transitiathod, the consolidated financial statementpfimr periods have not been restated to
reflect the impact of SFAS 123(R). Therefore, thguits for the fiscal 2006 are not directly compédo the same period in the prior year.

On November 10, 2005, the FASB issued FASB Stagitidm No. SFAS 123(R)-3[ransition Election Related to Accounting for Tax
Effects of Sha-Based Payment Award§ he Company has elected to adopt the alternaiwsition method provided in this FASB Staff
Position for calculating the tax effects of shaesdd compensation pursuant to SFAS 123(R). Thenattee transition method includes a
simplified method to establish the beginning ba¢aotthe additional paid-in capital pool (APIC pprdlated to the tax effects of employee
share-based compensation, which is available toratiax deficiencies recognized subsequent todption of SFAS 123(R).

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R)

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), as permitigcBFAS No. 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensati¢isFAS 123”) and
SFAS No. 148Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Trans#ifahDisclosure the Company applied the existing accounting
rules under APB Opinion No. 2Bccounting for Stock Issued to Emploge€'APB 25”) which provided that no compensatiopense was
charged for options granted at an exercise pricaleq or greater than the market value of the tyithg common stock on the date of grant.
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The following table illustrates the effect on netd and net loss per share as if the Company t@igéphe fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS 123 to awards granted undeQibimpany’s stock-based compensation plans pridreé@toption. For purposes of this pro
forma disclosure, the value of the options wasvestd using a Black-Scholes option-pricing modéa¢k-Scholes Model) and amortized on
an accelerated basis over the requisite servidgedef the individual grants, which generally ecutide vesting period. In the pro forma
information for the periods prior to 2006, the Canp accounted for forfeitures as they occurred. dikelosures for the year ended
December 31, 2006 were not presented because Isésekt awards were accounted for under SFAS 123f@)salue method during this
period.

2005 2004

Net loss, as reporte $(24,489) $(21,58%)
Deduct total stock-based employee compensationnsgpgetermined under

fair-value-based method for all awards, net of (1,768) (1,970)
Pro forma net los $(26,252) $(23,559)
Net loss per share, as report

Basic and dilute: $ (057 $ (0.57)
Pro forma net loss per sha

Basic and dilutes $ (0.61) $ (0.62

The weighted-average fair value of options gramezD05 and 2004 was $2.19 and $3.17, respectively.

The fair value of each option grant is estimatedhendate of grant using the Black-Scholes optinoig model with the following
weighted-average assumptions used for grants iB 266 2004: no dividend yield, expected volatitify53% and 66%, respectively, risk-free
interest rates of 4% and between 2% to 4%, resfgtand an expected term of 5 years for both years

Effective February 28, 2005, the vesting of the,882 outstanding stock options granted on Janubrg@02, of which 82,479 were
unvested options, was accelerated to that dateoptiens were originally scheduled to vest durimg period from January 2002 to
January 2012. On the accelerated vesting dat@ethehare market value of VIVUS stock of $3.98 eas than the strike price of the options,
which was $8.08 per share. When considering thismahe Compensation Committee took into accalat accelerating the vesting of these
out-of-the money options prior to when the Compaxpected to adopt FAS 123R, would further redueeathount of compensation expense
that the Company would be required to record in6280d beyond as a result of the previously graatpity incentive awards. In addition, by
accelerating these options before the implemematid-AS 123R, the expenses associated with théeemmgmtation of FAS 123R will be lower
in future periods. The acceleration of these otthefmoney options did not cause any additionalpmmsation expense in 2005. Under FAS
123R, the compensation expense associated with thesf-the-money options would have been sigaific

Income Taxe

Income taxes are accounted for under the assdiadnility method. The realization of deferred tessats and liabilities is based on
historical tax positions and expectations aboutriitaxable income. Deferred income tax assetdialnitities are computed for differences
between the financial statement carrying amounttandbasis of assets and liabilities based on edaei laws and rates applicable to the
period in which differences are expected to beved or settled. Valuation allowances are estadtiswhen necessary, to reduce deferred tay
assets to amounts that are more likely than nbeteealized.
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License Agreemen

The Company has obtained rights to patented teogied under several licensing agreements. Non-detle licensing payments made
on technologies that are yet to be proven are esqubto research and development. Royalties padttiassd with existing products are
expensed to cost of goods sold and manufacturipgrese when the liability is generated upon safgaduct.

Net (Loss) Income Per She

Basic (loss) earnings per share, or EPS, is cordpuging the weighted average number of common stutstanding during the periods.
Diluted EPS is based on the weighted average nuoftmmmon and common equivalent shares, whictesgmt shares that may be issued in
the future upon the exercise of outstanding stgtlons under the treasury stock method. The contiputaf basic and diluted EPS for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 éodomes:

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands, except per share date
Net loss $(21,629) $(24,489) $(21,587%)
Net loss per sha—basic $ (45 $ (57 $ (5D
Effect of dilutive securities (stock optior — — —
Net loss per sha—diluted $ (45 $ (57 % (5D
Shares used in the computation of net loss peeshhasic 48,1032 43,272 38,01C
Effect of dilutive securities (stock optior — — —
Diluted shares 48,102 43,272 38,01C

Potentially dilutive options outstanding of 243,9961,212 and 696,815 at December 31, 2006, 2002@04, respectively, are excluded
from the computation of diluted EPS for 2006, 2@@8 2004 because the effect would have been artiveil

Future Accounting Requiremer

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement ofrféilah Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 153 He Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabiliti—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No”.19BAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measu
many financial instruments and certain other itetnfgir value. This statement provides entitiesdpportunity to mitigate volatility in reported
earnings caused by measuring related assets #ildiéa differently without having to apply compléedge accounting provisions. This
Statement is effective as of the beginning of aityés first fiscal year that begins after November2®)7. Management is currently evalua
the impact of adopting this Statement.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stashel&oard (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Aotiog Standards (SFAS) 157, “
Fair Value Measuremen”. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a fraor& for measuring fair value in generally accepgedounting
principles (GAAP) and expands disclosures aboutvaiue measurements. SFAS 157 is effective faafigears beginning after November 15,
2007 and interim periods within those fiscal yeditse Company is currently evaluating the effecarif, that the adoption of SFAS 157 will
have on its financial position and results of ofieres.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Gssion issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 1086nsidering the Effects of Prior
Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatemen@®uirent Year Financial Statemerit§'SAB 108"). SAB 108 provides interpretive
guidance on how the effects of prior-year uncogéchisstatements should be considered when quiaigtifyisstatements in the current year
financial statements. SAB 108 requires registrémtsuantify misstatements using both an income
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statement (“rollover”) and balance sheet (“irontain”) approach and evaluate whether either apfroasults in a misstatement that, when all
relevant quantitative and qualitative factors amesidered, is material. If prior year errors thadl lbeen previously considered immaterial now
are considered material based on either approactestatement is required so long as managemepegycapplied its previous approach and
all relevant facts and circumstances were congitléf@rior years are not restated, the cumulagiffect adjustment is recorded in opening
accumulated earnings as of the beginning of tlealfigear of adoption. SAB 108 is effective for fisgears ending on or after November 15,
2006, with earlier adoption encouraged. The adoptiocSAB 108 did not have a material effect on@wenpany’s consolidated financial
condition or results of operations.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretatian K8 (“FIN 48") “ Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an iptetation of
FASB Statement No. 1, to clarify certain aspects of accounting for artain tax positions, including issues relatecheriecognition and
measurement of those tax positions. This interiogtés effective for fiscal years beginning afizecember 15, 2006. VIVUS is in the process
of evaluating the impact of the adoption of thiempretation on its results of operations and fai@ncondition.

Note 2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Available-for-$&a Securities

The fair value and the amortized cost of cash, eaglivalents, and available-for-sale securitiesnayor security type at December 31,
2006 and 2005 are presented in the tables thatfoRair values are based on quoted market priotsned from an independent broker. For
each category of investment securities, the tat@dsgmts gross unrealized holding gains and losses.

As of December 31, 2006 (in thousands):

Unrealized Unrealized

Amortized
Fair Market Holding Holding
Cost Value Gains Losses
Cash and money mark $ 24,71C $ 24,71C $— $ —
Commercial pape 28,327 28,317 — (10)
Corporate bonds 5,845 5,844 = Y
Total 58,882 58,871 — (11
Amount classified as cash and cash
equivalents (44,62¢)  (44,62¢) e e
Amount classified as available-for-sale
securities $ 14,25/ $ 14,24c $ M
As of December 31, 2005 (in thousands):
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized
Fair Market Holding Holding
Cost Value Gains Losses
Cash and money mark $ 13,75¢ $ 13,75¢ $— $ —
Commercial pape 8,478 8,476 — (2)
Corporate bond 400 400 — —
U.S. government securities 4,400 4,372 — _(28)
Total 27,036 27,006 — (30)
Amount classified as cash and cash
equivalents (22,236) _(22,236) = _
Amount classified as availal-for-sale
securities $ 4,80C $ 4,77C $_— $(30)
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Available-for-sale securities with original matieg& beyond one year from the balance sheet datdassified as non-current. All
available-for-sale securities are classified asenirassets at December 31, 2006 and DecembefG3, 2
Note 3. Inventories

Inventory balances, net of reserves of $4.4 mildod $3.8 million, as of December 31, 2006 and 20&pectively, consist of (in
thousands):

2006 2005
Raw materials and component parts $2,79c $3,66¢€
Work in proces! 66 33
Finished goods 468 805
Inventory, ne $3,327 $4,504

As noted above, the Company has recorded signifieserves against the carrying value of its inwgnof raw material and certain
component parts. The reserves relate primarilpentory that the Company previously estimated @aowlt be used. In addition, in 2006 the
Company recorded a $764,000 inventory write-dovigted to the purchase of alprostadil, considerdabtin excess of projected production
needs. In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Compaatgrdhined that it would likely not use the fullysegved raw materials inventory in future
production and, consequently, none of the reser@ednaterials was used in either 2005 or 2006.fA3ezember 31, 2006, the Company does
not intend to use any of the reserved raw mateindisture production. In the first quarter of 20®e Company determined that it likely wol
continue to use some portion of the fully resereethponent parts in production. The Company usedd$@9 $76,000 and $844,000 of its fu
reserved component parts inventory during 2006520 2004, respectively. When the Company redorastory reserves, it establishes a
new, lower cost basis for the inventory for accoumpurposes. Accordingly, to the extent that fhlk/ reserved inventory was used in
production in 2004, 2005 and 20086, it was chargezbst of goods sold at a zero basis, which hadaréble impact on cost of goods sold. The
original cost of the fully reserved inventory reldtto component parts is $819,000 as of the e28@6, and we intend to continue to use this
reserved component parts inventory in productioemaéppropriate.

Note 4. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment as of December 316 20:d 2005, respectively, consist of (in thousgnds

2006 2005

Land $ 901 $ 901
Buildings 3,102 3,102
Machinery and equipmel 18,361 18,161
Computers and softwa 2,446 2,464
Furniture and fixture 1,204 1,204
Building improvement: 12,05C 11,951

38,064 37,782
Accumulated depreciatic (29,515) (28,639
Property and equipment, net $ 854S $ 9,144

On December 22, 2005, the Company purchased fiofaritlord its principal manufacturing facility, igh was previously leased, for
$7.1 million. The facilities include two buildingstaling 90,000 square feet, although one of thidimgs is used for warehousing component
parts. The purchase price was
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funded in part by $3.3 million, which was beingdbl the landlord as cash collateral for renovatitmthe facility upon the termination of the
lease and the remainder with cash. As a resul$3t@ million restoration liability on this faciif which had been recorded in 1998, was
eliminated and recorded as an adjustment agaiegittchase price of the building in December 2005.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 ant] d8preciation expense, in thousands, was $1%17341 and $1,936, respectively.

Note 5. Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets includes aableof $1.3 million for an FDA refund of the Conmyés application fee paid in
September 2006 for the NDA for EvaMist and a refahthe fiscal year 2007 product and establishrfesd for its marketed product, MUSE,
which was paid to the FDA in October 2006. The Camypis due a refund pursuant to Section 736(d){(19{@he Federal Food, Drug and
Cosmetic Act (“FDC Act”) on the basis that the feasd by the Company exceed the anticipated presehfuture costs incurred by the FDA
in conducting the process for the review of humamyapplications for VIVUS, Inc.

Note 6. Notes Payable
Tanabe Line of Credit

In the first quarter of 2004, the Company signecgreement for a secured line of credit with Tantdbkeling America, Inc., a subsidiary
of Tanabe Seiyaku Co., Ltd., or Tanabe, allowirtg iborrow up to $8.5 million to be used for theeelepment of avanafil, an erectile
dysfunction compound that has completed Phasenalitrials. The secured line of credit may bendraipon quarterly and each quarterly
borrowing has a 48-month term and bears interabieaannual rate of 2%. There are no financial nemés associated with this secured line of
credit. Under certain conditions, at the Comparggon, payments on this secured line of credit tsaynade, in whole or in part, in common
stock. As of December 31, 2006, VIVUS had long-texotes payable to Tanabe of $6.3 million, and $2ilRon of available credit under this
agreement. All the assets of the Company, exceghltid and buildings, serve as collateral for lihis of credit.

Crown Bank N.A. Loan

On January 4, 2006, VIVUS, Inc. and Vivus Real festd.C, a wholly owned subsidiary of VIVUS, Incofitly, “the Company”) entered
into a Term Loan Agreement and a Commercial Mortgdgte (the “Agreements”) with Crown Bank N. A. ¢@vn”) secured by the land and
buildings, among other assets, located at 735 AifRoad and 745 Airport Road in Lakewood, New Je(Hee “Facility”). The Facility is the
Company'’s principal manufacturing facility, whidimet Company purchased on December 22, 2005. Unelégteements, the Company
borrowed $5,375,000 on January 4, 2006 from Cromyaple over a 10-year term. The interest rateheilfixed at 8.25%, which is the prime
rate plus 1% at the time of funding and then wallduljusted annually to a fixed rate for the yearaétp the prime rate plus 1%, with a floor of
7.5%. Principal and interest of $46,202 are payaigathly for the first 12 months based upon a 24 yenortization schedule and are adjusted
annually at the time of the interest rate resdtrekhaining principal is due on February 1, 2016e Rgreements contain prepayment penalties,
and a requirement to maintain a depository accau@trown with a minimum collected balance of $100,0vhich, if not maintained, will res
in an automatic increase in the interest rate emtite of one-half (0.5%) percent. The Facilitwigisment of rents and leases on the Facility,
and a $700,000 Certificate of Deposit held by Crpglassified as restricted cash, serve as colld@réhese Agreements.
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Total long-term notes payable consist of the foltay(in thousands):

December 31

2006 2005
Tanabe line of cred $ 6,324 $5,164
Crown Bank N.A. loan 5,281 —
Total notes payabl 11,60% 5,164
Less current portion (117) —
Total lon¢-term notes payab $11,48¢ $5,164

Current portion of notes payable is included urtlerheading “Accrued and other liabilities”.
Future minimum principal payments of the long-terates payable are as follows (in thousands):

Tanabe Line Crown Bank N.A.

Year ending December 31 of Credit Loan Total
2007 $ — $ 117 $ 117
2008 3,23¢ 127 3,366
2009 1,92t 138 2,063
2010 1,16C 150 1,310
2011 — 164 164
Thereafter — 4,58E 4,585
Total $6,324 $5,281 $11,60¢

Note 7. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 200 million shaf common stock. As of December 31, 2006 ané 2b@re were 58,144,264 and
44,641,591 shares, respectively, issued and odisgn

On December 22, 2004, the Company filed a sheligRagion Statement (File Number 333-12159) on F8+3 with the SEC, which
allows it to offer and sell up to an aggregate 80 #illion of common stock from time to time in oaemore offerings. The terms of any such
future offering would be established at the timeswth offering. On February 22, 2005, the Compdad & prospectus supplement with the
SEC relating to an underwritten public offering7g500,000 shares of common stock under the existieff registration statement and
supplement thereto. On March 15, 2005, VIVUS sq&56,000 shares of its common stock at a price8af@®per share, providing the
Company with net proceeds of $19.6 million.

On May 10, 2006, the Company sold $12.0 millioit®ommon stock in a registered direct offeringder the terms of the financing, 1
Company sold 3,669,725 shares of VIVUS common stekprice of $3.27 per share to two institutianaéstors. On May 11, 2006, the
Company filed a prospectus supplement with the @@&siand Exchange Commission relating to thissteged direct offering under the
existing shelf Registration Statement (File Num®&3-12159) and supplement thereto.

On July 14, 2006, VIVUS, Inc. filed with the Sedigs and Exchange Commission (SEC) a shelf Retjmtr&tatement on Form S-3. The
shelf Registration Statement (File Number 33%793) was declared effective by the SEC on Auis2006, providing the Company with -
ability to offer and sell up to an aggregate of $8@illion of common stock from time to time in ooemore offerings. The terms of any such
future offering would be established at the timeswéh offering. This shelf Registration Statemé&iile(Number 333-135793) replaces shelf
Registration Statement (File Number 333-12159).
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On November 17, 2006, the Company raised $33.@omilh a registered direct offering of VIVUS commsiwck pursuant to this shelf
Registration Statement. Under the terms of thiarfaing, the Company sold and issued a total of(600® shares of its common stock at a
price of $3.50 per share in an initial closing amdadditional 2,850,000 shares at $3.50 per shaesécond closing on December 8, 2006. All
of the shares of common stock were offered purstaatite effective shelf Registration Statement om#S-3 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on July 14, 2006.

Preferred Stocl

The Company is authorized to issue 5 million shafasadesignated preferred stock with a par vafugla0 per share. As of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, there are no prefehaes issued or outstanding. The Company may s$mres of preferred stock in the
future, without stockholder approval, upon sucimteas the Company’s management and Board of Digegtay determine.

Note 8. Stock Option and Purchase Plans
Stock Option Plan

Under the 2001 Stock Option Plan, or the 2001 Ridmich was approved by the stockholders at the @meeting held on June 5, 2002,
the Company may grant incentive or non-statutasgksbptions or stock purchase rights, or SPRs.udn1P, 2006, the Board of Directors
adopted an amendment to the 2001 Plan to add ility &bissue Restricted Stock Units, or RSUs, enthe 2001 Plan. In contrast to restricted
stock awards, the newly permitted RSUs would regrean obligation of the Company to issue unrastlishares of common stock or cash to
the grantee only when and to the extent that tiséng criteria of the award are satisfied. As ia tase of restricted stock awards, vesting
criteria for RSUs can be based on time or otheditimms specified by the Board or an authorized oittee of the Board. However, until
vesting occurs, the grantee is not entitled tostogkholder rights with respect to the unvestedeshdJpon vesting of an RSU, the recipient
receives one share of VIVUS stock for each veststticted stock unit or a cash payment for theeéthereof. The Company, in its sole
discretion, may pay earned RSUs in cash, sharescombination thereof. Shares represented by Rigtsire fully paid in cash again will be
available for grant under the Plan. The Companyeissiew shares for settlement of vested restrattak units and exercises of stock options.
The Company does not have a policy of purchassghares relating to its share-based programs.

The maximum aggregate number of shares that mayptiened and sold under the 2001 Plan is 1,000s0@@es plus (a) any shares that
have been reserved but not issued under the CorigpbB®91 Incentive Stock Option Plan, or the 1994nP(b) any shares returned to the 1991
Plan as a result of termination of options or repase of shares issued under the 1991 Plan; aad @)nual increase to be added on the first
day of the Company’s fiscal year beginning 2003iadp the lesser of (i) 1,000,000 shares, (iip2 & the outstanding shares on such date, or
(i) a lesser amount determined by the Board. Z0@1 Plan allows the Company to grant incentivekstiptions to employees at not less than
100% of the fair market value of the stock (110%adf market value for individuals who control mdran 10% of the Company stock) at the
date of grant, as determined by the Board of Danect

The 2001 Plan allows the Company to grant non-&tgtistock options to employees, directors and glvasts at a price to be determined
by the Board of Directors. The term of the optismétermined by the Board of Directors on the dagrant but shall not be longer than ten
years. The 2001 Plan allows the Company to graRs3B employees and consultants. Sales of stookrBiéRs are made pursuan
restricted stock purchase agreements containinggioos established by the Board of Directors. Toenpany has a right, but not the
obligation, to repurchase the shares at the ofligade price, which expires at a rate to be deteechby the Board of Directors. As of
December 31, 2006, no SPRs have been granted tned2001 Plan.
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Under the 2001 Plan, non-employee directors wileige an option to purchase 32,000 shares of constomk when they join the Board
of Directors. These options vest 25% after one gedr25% annually thereafter. Each non-employesettir shall automatically receive an
option to purchase 8,000 shares of the Companyisraan stock annually upon their reelection and ttogg®ns are fully exercisable ratably
over eight months. Non-employee directors are aligible to receive additional stock option grants.

Total estimated share-based compensation expestated to all of the Company’s share-based awaedsgnized for the year ended
December 31, 2006 was comprised as follows (inghnds, except per share data):

Year
Ended
December 31,

2006
Cost of goods sold and manufacturing expense $ 348
Research and developmt 613
Selling, general and administrati 1,104
Share-based compensation expense before taxes 2,06E
Related income tax benef —
Share-based compensation expense, net of taxes $2,06E
Net shar-based compensation expense, per common ¢
Basic and diluted $ 0.04

At December 31, 2006, a total of 4,550,152 stodioog were outstanding under our stock option pl&tsck-based compensation
expense recognized for the year ended Decemb@O088, included compensation expense for stock apiipanted prior to, but not yet vested
as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant datedhie estimated in accordance with the pro forno&ipions of SFAS 123. Included in stock-
based compensation expense for the year ended Dec&t, 2006 was $1.9 million related to stockami $142,000 related to the employee
stock purchase plan, and $16,000 related to resdrgtock units, net of the estimated forfeitures.

As of December 31, 2006, unrecognized estimate¢peosation expense totaled $1.6 million relatedoio-vested stock options, $49,000
related to the employee stock purchase plan, ahd,8Q0 related to restricted stock units. The weidlaverage remaining requisite service
period of the non-vested options was 1.3 yearthe@Employee stock purchase plan was 4.5 montdsyfathe restricted stock units was
4.7 years.

Valuation Assumptions

The fair value of stock options granted in the ye&railed December 31, 2006 was estimated using &-Bletwoles Model with the
following weighted average assumptions:

Twelve months

ended
December 31,
2006
Expected term (in years) 6.18
Volatility 75.41%
Risk-free interest rat 4.88%
Dividend yield 0.00%
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Expected Term: VIVUS's expected term represents the period thaitstock-based awards are expected to be ouistabdsed on the
simplified method provided in Staff Accounting Batih No. 107 (“SAB 107”) which averages an awaml&ghted average vesting period and
expected term for “plain vanilla” share options.dén SAB 107, options are considered to be “plammilied if they have the following basic
characteristics: granted “at-the-money”; exerciflgglis conditioned upon service through the vegtdate; termination of service prior to
vesting results in forfeiture; limited exercise ipdrfollowing termination of service; and optiong aon-transferable and non-hedgeable. The
range of expected terms used in the Black-ScholedgeMin 2006 was 5.19 years to 6.25 years.

Expected Volatility: The Company estimated volatility using the st share price performance over the expected tdrthe option.
The Company also considered other factors sucts asiirent clinical trials and other company atitég that may affect the volatility of
VIVUS' stock in the future but determined that laisttime, the historical volatility was more indiit@ of expected future stock performance.
The range of expected volatility used in the Bl&doles Model in 2006 was 68% to 77%.

Expected Dividend: The Black-Scholes Model requires a single expedigidend yield as an input. The Company does ntitipate
paying any dividends in the near future.

Risk-Free Interest Rate: The Company bases the risk-free interest rad ursthe Black-Scholes Model on the implied yialdilable on
U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivamaining term, in effect during the period of trant. The range of risk-free interest rates
used in the Black-Scholes Model in 2006 was 4.60%.11%.

Estimated Pre-vesting Forfeitures:The Company develops pre-vesting forfeiture eggions based on an analysis of historical data.

During 2006, options to purchase 15,000 sharesmwifwon stock were granted to a research consultaetfair value of the options was
estimated to be $34,000 on the date of grant ubm@lack-Scholes option-pricing model with thedaling assumptions: no dividend yield,
expected volatility of 75%, risk-free interest rafes.11% and an expected term of 6.25 years.drydar ended December 31, 2006, the
Company recorded all of the compensation relatedisogrant to research and development expense.

During the third quarter of 2006, the Company gedré2,500 restricted stock units to an officer waitiwveighted average grant date fair
value of $2.04 per restricted stock unit. This g@mntains a market condition and was valued uaibgomial model. The following
assumptions were used for valuing this grant: nadnd yield, expected volatility of 60.60%, risleé interest rate of 4.70% and an expected
term of 5 years.
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A summary of stock option award activity under thetans is as follows:

Weighted-
Number Average

of Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding, December 31, 20 3,976,42! $4.38
Granted 868,12¢ 4.82
Exercisec (251,217) 3.41
Cancellec (478,55%) 414
Outstanding, December 31, 2004 4,114,78! 4.56
Granted 1,132,17¢ 3.76
Exercisec (144,527) 3.05
Cancellec (697,77¢) 5.11
Outstanding, December 31, 2005 4,404,66:« 4.31
Granted 667,53t 3.24
Exercisec (120,414 2.99
Cancelled (401,637) 4.09
Outstanding, December 31, 20 4,550,15. $4.21

A summary of restricted stock units award activityer the 2001 Plan as of December 31, 2006 antjekaluring the period then ended
are presented below:

Year Ended December 31, 200

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Number of Grant Date Remaining Aggregate
Restricted Contractual Intrinsic
Stock Units Fair Value Term (Years) Value
Restricted stock units outstanding December
2005 = $ —
Granted 62,50( 2.04
Vested — —
Forfeited — —
Restricted stock units outstanding, Decembel
2006 62,50( $2.04 =7 $255,00(
All of the Company’s restricted stock units werevested as of December 31, 2006.
At December 31, 2006, stock options were outstandimd exercisable as follows:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Number Weighted-
Number Weighted- Exercisable
Outstanding at Average Average December 31, Average
December 31, Remaining Exercise Exercise
Range of Exercise Price 2006 Contractual Life Price 2006 Price
$2.00 - $3.73 1,873,70( 6.6 year $3.18 939,98¢ $2.9¢
$3.75- $4.58 1,772,49¢ 5.6 year $4.16 1,489,29: $4.14
$4.59 - $8.08 903,95¢ 4.9 year: $6.44 806,29¢ $6.54
$2.00- $8.08 4,550,15: 5.9 year $4.21 3,235,57¢ $4.4C

The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding ofstias of December 31, 2006 was $875,000, of whidd $80 related to exercisable
options.
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At December 31, 2006, 1,914,080 options remainlawai for grant. In the year ended December 316200accordance with the terms
the 2001 Plan, the Company transferred a netd620,193 expired plan shares to the 2001 Platio@punder these plans generally vest
four years, and all options expire after ten years.

Stock Purchase Plan

Under the 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, dtibek Purchase Plan, the Company reserved 808tt@s of common stock for
issuance to employees pursuant to the Stock Pwedblas, under which eligible employees may autlkegpayroll deductions of up to 10% of
their base compensation (as defined) to purchasenom stock at a price equal to 85% of the loweaheffair market value as of the beginning
or the end of the offering period.

At the annual meeting held on June 4, 2003, thekbdders approved amendments to the Stock Purétaseo (i) extend the original
term of the Stock Purchase Plan by an additionglelds such that the Stock Purchase Plan will nqeire in April 2014 (subject to earlier
termination as described in the Stock Purchase) Rlzeh (ii) increase the number of shares of ComBtock reserved for issuance under the
Stock Purchase Plan by 600,000 shares to a nelofdta#00,000 (collectively referred to hereinthe 1994 Purchase Plan Amendments).

The fair value of employee stock purchases madernthé ESPP in the year ended December 31, 200@ls@estimated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. The following assuione were used: expected term ranging from .49syear53 years, expected volatility
ranging from 62.60% to 64.84%, no dividend yield aisk free rates ranging from 4.25% to 5.16%. Waéghted average assumptions used in
2006 were: expected term of .51 years, expecteatilyl of 63.95%, no dividend yield and a risk dreate of 4.76%.

As of December 31, 2006, 1,033,288 shares haveibsgad to employees and there are 366,712 availabissuance under the Stock
Purchase Plan. The weighted average fair markaewafl shares issued under the Stock PurchaserP206, 2005 and 2004 was $2.80, $Z
and $3.90 per share, respectively.

Note 9. Agreements

In 2001, VIVUS entered into a Development, Licegsamd Supply Agreement with Tanabe for the develtrof avanafil, an oral PDE5S
inhibitor product candidate for the treatment afatile dysfunction. Under the terms of the 2001 &epment, Licensing and Supply
Agreement with Tanabe, the Company paid a $2.0anilicense fee obligation to Tanabe in the yeateehDecember 31, 2006, which was
previously accrued in the year ended December@®14.2The Company expects to make other substgajahents to Tanabe in accordance
with its agreements with them. These payments asedon certain development, regulatory and salestones. In addition, VIVUS is
required to make royalty payments on any futurepeb sales.

In February 2004, the Company entered into exctubbensing agreements with Acrux Limited (“Acrwdihd a subsidiary of Acrux unc
which it has agreed to develop and, if approvedyroercialize Testosterone MDTS and EvaMist in théédhStates for various female health
applications. Under the terms of the agreemengésCitmpany agreed to pay to Acrux combined licenf@eg of $3.0 million, up to
$4.3 million for the achievement of certain clifidavelopment milestones, up to $6.0 million fohi@wing product approval milestones, and
royalties on net sales in the United States folfmnapproval and commercialization of each prodlise Company made a $1.0 million
milestone payment to Acrux in October 2006 relatethe submission of a New Drug Application (“NDAY the FDA for EvaMist. The
Company expensed $1.0 million, $375,000 and $3lBomiof clinical development milestone and licangi

93




fees under the terms of the agreements in 2006 206 2004, respectively. Upon approval of the NDAEvaMist, a $3.0 million product
approval milestone will be due to Acrux.

The Company has entered into several agreemelitetse patented technologies that are essentibktdevelopment and production of
the Company’s transurethral products for the treatnof ED. These agreements generally requiredsioile payments during the development
period. In connection with these agreements, thmgamy is obligated to pay royalties on productsat®/ered by the license agreements (4%
of United States and Canadian product sales andf34les elsewhere in the world). In 2006, 200520@4, the Company recorded royalty
expenses, in thousands, of $683, $556 and $94%ctegely, as cost of goods sold and manufactueigense.

International sales are transacted through digtisuThe distribution agreements include certaiestone payments from the distributors
to the Company upon achieving established saleshibitds.

Note 10. Commitments
Lease Commitmen

The Company purchased its previously leased matwfag facilities in Lakewood, New Jersey on Decem®2, 2005. In January 2000,
the Company entered into a seven-year lease fooifsrate headquarters in Mountain View, Califarmvhich expired in January 2007. In
November 2006, the Company entered into a ne-month lease for the existing Mountain View corgeraeadquarters location with its
existing landlord. The new lease commenced on Febrly 2007. The base monthly rent is set at $peBSquare foot or $26,000 per month.
The lease expires on July 31, 2009 and allows tragany one option to extend the term of the leasa period of one year from the
expiration of the lease.

Future minimum lease payments under operating $esseas follows (in thousands):

2007 $ 586
2008 573
2009 334

$1,49¢

Rent expense, in thousands, under operating l¢atsdsd $751, $1,466 and $1,486 for the years ebdsember 31, 2006, 2005, and
2004, respectively.

Manufacturing Agreemen

In November 2002, the Company entered into a mathufag agreement to purchase raw materials freaupgplier beginning in 2003 and
ending in 2008. The Company’s remaining commitmarder this agreement is to purchase a minimum ¢6t42.3 million of product from
2007 through 2008. In 2005, the Company purchagé8 00 of product from this supplier. The Compditynot purchase any product from
this supplier in 2006.

In January 2004, the Company entered into a maturfag agreement to purchase raw materials fromdafitional supplier beginning in
2004 and ending in 2006. In February 2006, the geshthis agreement were amended. In 2006, the @oynpurchased $751,000 of product,
and in 2005 it purchased $240,000 of product. Retdrms of the amended agreement, the Companpevikquired to purchase a minimum
total of $765,000 of additional product from 20@¥ough 2008.
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Other Agreements

We have entered into various agreements with @irdonsultants and clinical research organizatiorgerform clinical studies on our
behalf and, at December 31, 2006, our remainingnaibment under these agreements totaled $750,00thaie also entered into various
agreements with research consultants and otherambots to perform drug research, testing and nzatufing including animal studies and, at
December 31, 2006, our remaining commitment urttese agreements totaled $1.6 million. In additioecember 2006, we entered into a
marketing promotion agreement for our erectile dgsfion product, MUSE. At December 31, 2006, ounai@ing commitment under this
agreement totaled $1.1 million.

Royalties

The Company has certain royalty commitments asgetiaith the shipment and licensing of certain picid.Royalty expense is genere
based on a dollar amount per unit shipped or aepéage of the underlying revenue. Royalty expews&h was recorded under cost of goods
sold and manufacturing expense on the Company’satisiated statements of operations, in thousands,approximately $683, $556, and
$949 in fiscal 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, the Company gesvindemnifications of varying scope to custonagainst claims of intellectual
property infringement made by third parties aridirggn the use of its products. Historically, costkated to these indemnification provisions
have not been significant and the Company is unabdstimate the maximum potential impact of thedemnification provisions on our futt
results of operations.

To the extent permitted under Delaware law, the gamy has agreements whereby it indemnifies its@f§i and directors for certain
events or occurrences while the officer or diretdppr was, serving at the Company'’s request ahn smpacity. The indemnification period
covers all pertinent events and occurrences dihiegfficer’s or director’s lifetime. The maximunotential amount of future payments the
Company could be required to make under these indiettion agreements is unlimited; however, VIVU&s director and officer insurance
coverage that reduces its exposure and enabl&oiing@any to recover a portion of any future amopaid. The Company believes the
estimated fair value of these indemnification agreets in excess of applicable insurance coveragenisnal.

Note 11. Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes result from differences arércognition of expenses for tax and financiabrépg purposes, as well as operating
loss and tax credit carry forwards. Significant aments of the Company’s deferred income tax asseté December 31, 2006 are as follows
(in thousands):

2006 2005

Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carry forwar $ 46,41¢ $ 37,27¢
Research and development credit carry forw 7,449 6,284
Inventory reservi 1,707 1,469
Accruals and othe 3,053 3,347
Depreciation 3,586 2,989
62,214 51,36¢
Valuation allowance (62,214)  (51,36¢)
Total $ —  $ —
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For Federal and State income tax reporting purpesspective net operating loss, or NOL, carry fandg of approximately $125.7 milli
and $60.9 million are available to reduce furtlzesable income, if any. SFAS 123R prohibits recagniof a deferred income tax asset for
excess tax benefits due to stock option exerciegshiave not yet been realized through a reduatiimcome taxes payable. Excess tax benefits
from employee stock option exercises are includetié deferred balances at December 31, 2005 asponent of the Company’s net
operating loss carryovers. The entire balancefsebby a full valuation allowance. As a resuldbpting SFAS 123R, the unrecognized
deferred tax benefits totaled $45,000 and will beoanted for as a credit to additional paid-in talpif and when realized through a reduction
in income taxes payable. For Federal and Statarirdax reporting purposes, respective credit damyards of approximately $5.4 million
and $3.2 million are available to reduce futureatd® income, if any. The carry forwards, excepttfi@ California Research and Development
Credit, expire on various dates through 2025. Thkf@nia research and development credits do rpire. The Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, contains provisions that may tfirainet operating loss and credit carry forwaesilable for use in any given period upon
the occurrence of certain events, including a §igant change in ownership interest.

A valuation allowance has been recorded for theeedeferred tax asset as a result of uncertaintigarding the realization of the asset
balance due to the history of losses and the \iéityabf operating results. The net change in tladation allowance for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006 was $8i8mand $10.8 million, respectively. As of Deceant81, 2006 and 2005, the Company
had no significant deferred tax liabilities.

The provision for income taxes attributable to gmnhg operations is based upon loss before prawifr income taxes as follows, for 1
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004dirsémds)

2006 2005 2004
Loss before income taxe
Domestic $(21,590 $(24,135) $(20,38¢)
International (14) (324) (1,189)
Total $(21,609) $(24,459 $(21,577)

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg components for the years ended December(®6,2005 and 2004 (in
thousands):

Current

Federa $— $— $—

State 20 18 2

Foreign = 7 _ 4
Total provision/(benefit) for income taxes $20 $25 $6

The provisions for income taxes differs from theoaimt computed by applying the statutory federabime tax rates as follows, for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2

2006 2005 2004
(Benefit)/provision computed at federal statutaies (35)% (35)% (35)%
State income taxes, net of federal tax ef 4) (4) (4)
Change in valuation allowan: 39 39 38
Tax credits — — 1
(Benefit)/provision for income taxes 0% 0% 0%
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Note 12. Concentration of Customers and Suppliet
Sales to significant customers as a percentagetaifrevenues for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2004 are as follows:

2006 2005 2004

Customer A 51% 42% 46%
Customer E 19% 23% 27%
Customer C 10% 15% 12%
Customer C 13% 13% 12%

Accounts receivable at December 31, 2006 and 29Gidnificant customer as a percentage of the tptads accounts receivable balance
are as follows:

2006 2005
Customer A 38% 36%
Customer E 31% 48%
Customer C 9% 5%
Customer C 18% 8%

The Company did not have any suppliers making ugertttan 10% of operating costs.

Note 13. 401(k) Plan

All of the Company’s employees are eligible to aphate in the VIVUS 401(k) Plan. Employaratching contributions for the years en
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, in thousands $231@, $270 and $261, respectively. The employeriiag portion of the 401(k) plan
began on July 1, 2000.

Note 14. Legal Matters

In the normal course of business, the Companyveseilaims and makes inquiries regarding pateringgment and other legal matters.
The Company believes that it has meritorious claams defenses and intends to pursue any such meig@rously.

The Company has received notice from a former eygaseeking payment due to their termination ir628d in the third quarter of
2006, the Company concluded this matter withoutgenal impact on its financial position.

On November 14, 2006, the Company received a lgtier Manatt, Phelps & Phillips LLP on behalf of g DDS Pty Ltd., FemPharm
PTY Ltd. and Acrux Limited (collectively “Acrux”) otifying the Company of an alleged dispute underTestosterone and Estradiol
Development Agreements between VIVUS and Acrux. CThenpany believes it is in compliance with all metleaspects of both of these
agreements and have communicated this belief taAdf the Company is unable to resolve the mattién Acrux, the Company intends to
seek to enforce their rights under these agreeméhnésclaims have not progressed further, butate,dhe claims have not been formally
withdrawn. Development and commercialization of Mist and Testosterone MDTS continues as planned.ddmpany believes that they
have a meritorious defense to claims made by Agriwonnection with the alleged dispute; howevethimevent that Acrux should prevail in
this matter, it could have a material adverse ¢ffecVIVUS’ business, financial condition and reswdf operations.

The Company is not aware of any other asserteda@sserted claims against it where an unfavoraBl@ugon would have an adverse
material impact on the operations or financial fposiof the Company.
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Note 15. Related Party Transaction:

Mario M. Rosati, one of the Company’s directorslso a member of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich and RoBabfessional Corporation,
which has served as the Company’s outside corpocatesel since its formation and has received cosgi®n at normal commercial rates for
its services. In 2006, 2005 and 2004 the Compaid/$&61,000, $344,000 and $305,000, respectivelyilson Sonsini Goodrich and Rosati
for legal services.

Note 16. Selected Financial Data (Unaudited)

Selected Quarterly Financial Data (in thousands)

Quarter Ended,
March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31

2006
Total revenue $ 1,267 $ 3,64C $ 4,031 $ 8,307
Cost of goods sol $ 3,02C $ 2,89t $ 2,627 $ 3,391
Net loss $(8,82€) $(5,837) $(6,160) $ (801
Net loss per shar:
Basic and dilutet $ (0200 $ (0120 $ (0.13 $ (0.02
2005
Total revenue $ 629 $ 1,71€ $ 3,267 $ 9,04z
Cost of goods sol $ 2,00C $ 2,04¢ $ 2,477 $ 4,402
Net loss $(8,837) $(8,650  $(5,960) $(1,037)
Net loss per shar:
Basic and dilutet $ (022 $ (019 $ (0.13 $ (0.02
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
The financial statement Schedule II—VALUATION ANDURLIFYING ACCOUNTS is filed as part of the Form 1Q-

VIVUS, Inc.

SCHEDULE Il —VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(in thousands)

Balance at
Beginning of
Charged to Charges Balance at
Period Operations Utilized End of Period

Allowance for Doubtful Account

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 $ 68 $ 42 $ (6) $ 104

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 104 133 (35) 202

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 202 (38) (97) 67
Inventory Reserv

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 5,558 158 (1,799(1) 3,917

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 3,917 107 (258)(2) 3,76€

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 3,76¢€ 877(3) (266)(4) 4,377
Accrued Product Returr

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 3,02z 1,154 (966) 3,211

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 3,211 571 (766) 3,01¢€

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 3,01¢€ 1,07€ (1,619 2,473
Accrued Chargebacks Rese

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 904 3,29¢ (2,577 1,62€

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 1,62€ 3,12¢ (2,927) 1,832

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 $1,832 $2,791 $(3,092) $1,531

(1) The Company used $844,000 of its fully reserveeinory in production. The fully reserved invent@ycharged to cost of goods sold
zero basis when used, which has a favorable imgpagtoss profit. In the fourth quarter of 2004, @@mpany determined that it would

)

3)
(4)

likely not use the fully reserved raw materialsentory in future production.

The Company used $76,000 of its fully reserved aamept parts inventory in production. The fully nessl inventory is charged to cost
of goods sold at a zero basis when used, whicla iagorable impact on gross profit. In the firsager of 2005, the Company determined
that it likely would continue to use some portidrttee fully reserved component parts in production.

In the first quarter of 2006, the Company recordeéi¥ 64,000 inventory write-down related to the pase of alprostadil considered to be

in excess of projected production needs.

The Company used $99,000 of its fully reserved aamept parts inventory in production. The fully nessl inventory is charged to cost
of goods sold at a zero basis when used, whicla fiagorable impact on gross profit.

99




Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéinting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that information requindaetdisclosed in our Exchange Act
reports is recorded, processed, summarized andteelpwithin the timelines specified in the Secestand Exchange Commission’s rules and
forms, and that such information is accumulated@rdmunicated to our management, including our Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timelgcisions regarding required disclosure. In desgind evaluating the disclosure controls
procedures, management recognized that any comindiprocedures, no matter how well designed aedatgd, can only provide reasonable
assurance of achieving the desired control objestignd in reaching a reasonable level of assuraragagement necessarily was required to
apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefiationship of possible controls and procedures.

As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), the Companyiedhout an evaluation, under the supervision arttl thie participation of the
Company’s management, including the Company’s Ghiefcutive Officer and the Company’s Chief Finah€ifficer, of the effectiveness of
the design and operation of the Company’s discesontrols and procedures as of the end of thegmaared by this report. Based on the
foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chieh&incial Officer concluded that our disclosure coistand procedures were effective at the
reasonable assurance level.

Management’'s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Internal control over financial reporting refersti@ process designed by, or under the supervidgicour Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, and effected by our boafdlirectors, management and other personnel,aaige reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and includes those polieied procedures that:

(1) Pertain to the maintenance of records that in restsle detail accurately and fairly reflect the saetions and dispositions of our
assets;

(2) Provide reasonable assurance that transactioms@gled as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢inhstatements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, toad our receipts and expenditures are being malyermaccordance with
authorization of our management and directors; and

(3) Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiimely detection of unauthorized acquisitionse vs disposition of our assets
that could have a material effect on the finansiatements.

Internal control over financial reporting cannobyide absolute assurance of achieving financiadmépy objectives because of its
inherent limitations. Internal control over finaacieporting is a process that involves human éilige and compliance and is subject to lapses
in judgment and breakdowns resulting from humaluif@s. Internal control over financial reportingalcan be circumvented by collusion or
improper management override. Because of suchdlioits, there is a risk that material misstatemeratg not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis by internal control over financial ogfing. However, these inherent limitations arewndeatures of the financial reporting
process. Therefore, it is possible to design iheoprocess safeguards to reduce, though not elieitias risk. Management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internalrobover financial reporting for the company.
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Management has used the framework set forth ingpert entitlednternal Control-Integrated Framewonsublished by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisdinawn as COSO, to evaluate the effectiveneseseoClompany’s internal control over
financial reporting. Based on this assessment, geanant has concluded that our internal control éimencial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2006. Odenberg Ullakko Muranishi & Od?, the independent registered public accourfiimg that audited the consolidated
financial statements included in the Annual ReparForm 10-K, has issued an attestation report amagement’s assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting as of December 31, 2006. This repohiciv expresses an unqualified opinion on
management’s assessment of and the effectiveness afternal controls over financial reportingadecember 31, 20086, is included herein.

There has been no change in our internal contras financial reporting during our most recent disquarter that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, ontérnal controls over financial reporting.

Iltem 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IlI
Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govene

The information required by this item is herebydrporated by reference from the information untierc¢aptions “Election of Directors”
and “Executive Officers” contained in the Company&initive Proxy Statement, to be filed with thecBrities and Exchange Commission no
later than 120 days from the end of the Comparmagssfiscal year in connection with the solicitatimiproxies for its 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. The information required by Secti6(al is incorporated by reference from the infoioratinder the caption “Compliance with
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of4193 the Proxy Statement.

The Company has adopted a code of ethics thatespialiits Chief Executive Officer, Chief Finand@fficer, and to all of its other
officers, directors, employees and agents. The obé¢hics is available at the Corporate Governaeotion of the Investor Relations page on
the Company’s website atww.vivus.com The Company intends to disclose future amendmenty waivers from, certain provision of its
code of ethics on the above website within fiveitess days following the date of such amendmentaiver.
ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorpedby reference from the information under the icaptExecutive Officer
Compensation” in the Company’s Proxy Statementrefieto in Item 10 above.
ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners ahBnagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorpedby reference from the information under the icaptSecurity Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” in the CompaPRytsxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions abaector Independence

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference from the information under the icagtCertain Relationships and
Related Transactions” in the Company’s Proxy Statgmeferred to in Item 10 above.

Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorpacby reference from the information under the icaptRatification of Appointment of
Independent Auditors” in the Company’s Proxy Staanreferred to in Item 10 above.
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PART IV
Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(@) Documents filed as part of this report.
1. Financial Statements
The following Financial Statements of VIVUS, IneidaReports of Independent Registered Public Acéogritirms have been filed as
of this Form 10-K. See index to Financial Stateraemtder Item 8, above:

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfings

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &0D800¢

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Othemp@simnsive Income (Loss) for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2(

Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2006, 200!
2004

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeradled December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

2. Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule of VIVUBc. as set forth on page 99 is filed as pathizf Form 10-K and should be read in
conjunction with the Financial Statements of VIVU&;. incorporated by reference herein:

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they arepuicable or the required information is shownhe Financial Statements or the n
thereto.

3. Exhibits
The list of Exhibits required by Item 601 of Redida S-K. See part (b) below.

(b). Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description
3.2(4) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatitthe Registran
3.3(3) Bylaws of the Registrant, as amen
3.4(5) Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferenced Brivileges of Series A
Participating Preferred Stot
4.1(4) Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the Regist
10.1(1)t Assignment Agreement by and between Alza Corparaitd the Registrant dated
December 31, 199
10.2(1)t Memorandum of Understanding by and between OrttesrRaceutical Corporation
and the Registrant dated February 25, 1
10.3(1)t Assignment Agreement by and between Ortho PharniaaéCorporation and the

Registrant dated June 9, 1¢
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10.4(1)t
10.5A(1)t
10.5B(1)t
10.5C(1)
10.5D(1)t
10.6A(1)t

10.6B(1)t
10.6C(1)
10.6D(1)t

10.11(3)

10.12(2)
10.13(1)
10.14(1)
10.17(1)

10.36(6)
10.41(7)t
10.42(7)t
10.42A(12)
10.43(8)t

10.44(9)
10.44A(18)
10.44B(19)

10.45(10)t

License Agreement by and between Gene A. Voss, Mibn C. Eichler, MD, and
the Registrant dated December 28, 1

License Agreement by and between Ortho Pharmaeg¢@mrporation and Kjell
Holmquist AB dated June 23, 19

Amendment by and between Kjell Holmquist AB and Registrant dated July 3,
1992

Amendment by and between Kjell Holmquist AB and Registrant dated April 22,
1992

Stock Purchase Agreement by and between Kjell HoistepB and the Registrant
dated April 22, 199:

License Agreement by and between Amsu, Ltd., anddd®harmaceutical
Corporation dated June 23, 1¢

Amendment by and between Amsu, Ltd., and the Registated July 3, 19¢
Amendment by and between Amsu, Ltd., and the Registated April 22, 199

Stock Purchase Agreement by and between Amsu, adrtd.the Registrant dated
July 10, 199:

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and amongRegistrant and the Directors
and Officers of the Registra

1991 Incentive Stock Plan and Form of Agreemengrasndec
1994 Director Option Plan and Form of Agreerr
Form of 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Bb6®ubscription Agreemel

Letter Agreement between the Registrant and LeflaWilson dated June 14, 1991
concerning severance p

Form of Change of Control Agreements dated Jul988 by and between the
Registrant and certain Executive Officers of thenpany

Distribution and Supply Agreement made as of Noven#), 2000 between the
Registrant and Paladin Labs, Ii

Development, License and Supply Agreement madé dsmuary 22, 2001 between
the Registrant and Tanabe Seiyaku Co.,

Amendment One to Agreement, dated January 9, 26felen the Registrant and
Tanabe Seiyaku Co., Lt

Settlement and Modification Agreement made as byf I8, 2001 between ASIVI,
LLC, AndroSolutions, Inc., Gary W. Neal and the Ré@nt

2001 Stock Option Plan and Form of Agreen
2001 Stock Option Plan (As Amended July 12, 2(

Form of Notice of Grant and Restricted Stock Unifréement for the VIVUS, Inc.
2001 Stock Option Plan (As Amended July 12, 2(

Supply Agreement made as of September 3, 2002 batthe Registrant and Meda
AB
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10.46(11)t Amendment Three, dated November 21, 2002 by anddest the Registrant and
CHINOIN Pharmaceutical and Chemical Works, L

10.48(11)t Exclusive Distribution Agreement effective as oft@er 1, 2002 between the
Registrant and Cord Logistics, Ir

10.49(11)t Distribution and Supply Agreement effective as ebfuary 18, 2003 between the
Registrant and Meda A

10.50(12)t Testosterone Development and Commercialization égent effective as of
February 7, 2004 between the Registrant, Femphéyrt&. and Acrux DDS Pty
Ltd.

10.51(12)t Estradiol Development and Commercialization Agreenesfective as of
February 12, 2004 between the Registrant, FempPRayrhtd. and Acrux DDS Pty
Ltd.

10.52(12)t Note Purchase Agreement dated January 8, 2004 &etilve Registrant and Tane
Holding America, Inc

10.53(12)t Manufacture and Supply Agreement dated Decembe2@3 between the Registr:
and NeraPharm spol., s.r

10.53A(17)tt First Amendment and Waiver Manufacture and Supgye&ment, dated
February 21, 2006 by and between the Company araFRXarm spol, s.r.i

10.54 (13) Amendment One dated October 11, 2004 to LicenseSapgly Agreement made
between the Registrant and Paladin Labs,

10.55(14) Agreement for Sale of Real Estate dated Novembge?0@6 by and between the
Registrant and 735 Airport Road, L.L.

10.56(14) Agreement for Sale of Real Estate dated Novembe?0®6 by and between the
Registrant and 745 Airport Road, L.L.

10.57(15) Term Loan Agreement dated January 4, 2006 by atviclea the Registrant and
Vivus Real Estate LLC and Crown Bank, N

10.58(15) Commercial Mortgage Note dated January 4, 200enbybetween the Registrant and
Vivus Real Estate LLC and Crown Bank, N

10.59(15) Mortgage and Security Agreement dated January@6 B9 and between Vivus Real
Estate LLC and Crown Bank, N. .

10.60(16) Lease Agreement effective November 1, 2006 by atddren the Registrant and

Castro Mountain View, LLC, Thomas A. Lynch, Trudyohha Flores, Trustee of the
Jolen Flores and Trudy Molina Flores Joint Livingi3t dated April 3, 2001, E.
William and Charlotte Duerkson, husband and wife\Wliam and Charlotte
Duerkson, Trustees of the Duerkson Family Trustdi&ebruary 16, 1999, Daniel F.
Dutton, Jr. and Joyce F. Dutton, Trustees undebtltéon Family Trust dated
September 16, 1993, Noel S. Schuurman, Trustdeedflbel S. Schuurman Trust,
The Duarte Family Partners, L.P., Marie Straubeste of the Marie Antoinette
Clough Revocable Living Trust dated January 119188d Blue Oak

Properties, Inc., CP6CC, LL

21.2 Subsidiaries of the Registre

23.1 Consent of ODENBERG, ULLAKKO, MURANISHI & Co. LLAndependent
Registered Public Accounting Fir
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23.2 Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Pukdicounting Firm

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer, dated Marl14, 2007, pursuant to
Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the BiesuExchange Act of 1934, as
amendec

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer, dated Mdwr 14, 2007, pursuant to Rules 13a-
14 and 15-14 promulgated under the Securities Exchange AtB8#, as amende

32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiginancial Officer pursuant to
Section 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant taddead6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

T
Tt

1)

2)

3)
(4)

(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)

(13)

Confidential treatment granted.

Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purst@iat request for confidential treatment. The caiithl portions have been filed with
the SEC.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefited with the Registrant’'s Registration Statsmhon Form S-1 No. 33-75698, as
amended.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefited with the Registrant’'s Registration Statsmhon Form S-1 No. 33-90390, as
amended.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedieXited with the Registrant’s Form B-filed with the Commission on June 25, 1¢

Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefied with the Registrant’'s Annual Report onrfo10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1996, as amended.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.1 filedhaRegistrant’'s Amendment Number 2 to the Registra8tatement of Form 8-A (File
No. 0-23490) filed with the Commission on April ZR97.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigfited with the Registrant’'s Annual Report onrfpo10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigfited with the Registrant’'s Annual Report onrfpo10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedbieXited with the Registrant’s Quarterly Report Barm 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefited with the Registrant’'s Registration Statsmhon Form S-8 filed with the
Commission on November 15, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedbieXited with the Registrant’s Quarterly Report Barm 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefied with the Registrant’s Annual Report onrfFol0-K for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefied with the Registrant’s Annual Report onrFo10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefied with the Registrant’s Annual Report onrfFol0-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004.
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(14) Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigfited with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed witlhe Commission on December 23,
2005.

(15) Incorporated by reference to the same numberedieXited with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed withe Commission on January 6,
2006.

(16) Incorporated by reference to the same numberedbieXied with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed witlhhe Commission on November 7,
2006.

(17) Incorporated by reference to the same numberedbieXited with the Registrant’s Quarterly Report Barm 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2006.

(18) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 filedhatihe Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Comméssion July 13, 2006.
(19) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 filedhathe Registrant’'s Form 8-K filed with the Comméssion July 13, 2006.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regfidthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized:

VIVUS, INC.,
a Delaware Corporatic
By: /s/ LELAND F. WILSON

Leland F. Wilsor
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 14, 200

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pershose signature appears below constitutes anoirggppeach of Leland
F. Wilson and Timothy E. Morris as his attorneyféwt for him, in any and all capacities, to sigaleamendment to this Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same, with exhibits thereto andeottocuments in connection therewith, with the &&es and Exchange Commission, hereby
ratifying and confirming all that said attorney{mct or his substitute or substitutes may lawfaldyor cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this Report has been signed bbiothe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and oré#tes indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ LELAND F. WILSON President, Chief Executive Officer March 14, 200°
Leland F. Wilsor (Principal Executive Officer) and Direct
/s/ VIRGIL A. PLACE Chairman of the Board and Chief Scientific March 14, 200°
Virgil A. Place Officer and Director
/s/ TIMOTHY E. MORRIS Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial March 14, 200°
Timothy E. Morris Officer (Principal Financial Officel
/s/ LEE B. PERRY Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer March 14, 200°
Lee B. Perry (Principal Accounting Officer
/sl GRAHAM STRACHAN Director March 14, 200°
Graham Stracha
/sl MARIO M. ROSATI Director March 14, 200°
Mario M. Rosati
/s/ MARK B. LOGAN Director March 14, 200°
Mark B. Logan
/s/ LINDA M. DAIRIKI SHORTLIFFE, Director March 14, 200’
M.D.

Linda M. Dairiki Shortliffe, M.D.
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VIVUS, INC.

REPORT ON FORM 10-K FOR
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit

N)L(m:bler Description

3.2(4) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe Registran

3.3(3) Bylaws of the Registrant, as amenc

3.4(5) Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferenced Brivileges of Series A Participating
Preferred Stoc

4.1(4) Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the Regist

10.1(1)* Assighment Agreement by and between Alza Corparaitd the Registrant dated
December 31, 199

10.2(1)t Memorandum of Understanding by and between OrttasrRaceutical Corporation and the
Registrant dated February 25, 1¢

10.3(1) T Assighment Agreement by and between Ortho PharntiaaéCorporation and the Registrant
dated June 9, 19¢

10.4(D)t License Agreement by and between Gene A. Voss, MBn C. Eichler, MD, and the
Registrant dated December 28, 1!

10.5A()T License Agreement by and between Ortho Pharmae¢@mrporation and Kjell Holmquist A
dated June 23, 19¢

10.5B(1) T Amendment by and between Kjell Holmquist AB and Registrant dated July 3, 19

10.5C(2) Amendment by and between Kjell Holmquist AB and Registrant dated April 22, 19¢

10.5D(1)t Stock Purchase Agreement by and between Kjell HolstdAB and the Registrant dated
April 22, 1992

10.6A(1)T License Agreement by and between Amsu, Ltd., anbdadd®harmaceutical Corporation dated
June 23, 198

10.6B(1) T Amendment by and between Amsu, Ltd., and the Registiated July 3, 19¢

10.6C(1) Amendment by and between Amsu, Ltd., and the Registated April 22, 199

10.6D(1)t Stock Purchase Agreement by and between Amsu,and.the Registrant dated July 10, 1!

10.11(3) Form of Indemnification Agreement by and amongRegjistrant and the Directors and
Officers of the Registrar

10.12(2) 1991 Incentive Stock Plan and Form of Agreemengrasndec

10.13(2) 1994 Director Option Plan and Form of Agreemr

10.14(12) Form of 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Bb6®ubscription Agreemel

10.17(2) Letter Agreement between the Registrant and Lefaiilson dated June 14, 1991 concerning
severance pa

10.36(6) Form of Change of Control Agreements dated Jull983 by and between the Registrant and
certain Executive Officers of the Compe

10.41(7)t Distribution and Supply Agreement made as of Noven#, 2000 between the Registrant

Paladin Labs, Inc
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10.42(7)t
10.42A(12)
10.43(8)t

10.44(9)
10.44A(18)
10.44B(18)

10.45(10)1
10.46(11)t

10.48(11)t
10.49(11)t
10.50(12)t
10.51(12)t
10.52(12)t
10.53(12)t
10.53A(17)t1
10.54 (13)
10.55(14)
10.56(14)
10.57(15)
10.58(15)

10.59(15)

Development, License and Supply Agreement madé dsmuary 22, 2001 between the
Registrant and Tanabe Seiyaku Co., |

Amendment One to Agreement, dated January 9, 28felen the Registrant and Tanabe
Seiyaku Co., Ltd

Settlement and Modification Agreement made as yf I8, 2001 between ASIVI, LLC,
AndroSolutions, Inc., Gary W. Neal and the Regist

2001 Stock Option Plan and Form of Agreen
2001 Stock Option Plan (As Amended July 12, 2(

Form of Notice of Grant and Restricted Stock Urgréement for the VIVUS, Inc. 2001 Stock
Option Plan (As Amended July 12, 20(

Supply Agreement made as of September 3, 2002 batite Registrant and Meda /

Amendment Three, dated November 21, 2002 by anddeet the Registrant and CHINOIN
Pharmaceutical and Chemical Works, L

Exclusive Distribution Agreement effective as oft@xer 1, 2002 between the Registrant and
Cord Logistics, Inc

Distribution and Supply Agreement effective as ebfuary 18, 2003 between the Registrant
and Meda AE

Testosterone Development and Commercialization &gemnt effective as of February 7, 2004
between the Registrant, Fempharm Pty Ltd. and ABXD$ Pty Ltd.

Estradiol Development and Commercialization Agreenedfective as of February 12, 2004
between the Registrant, Fempharm Pty Ltd. and ABD$ Pty Ltd.

Note Purchase Agreement dated January 8, 2004 éetilive Registrant and Tanabe Hold
America, Inc.

Manufacture and Supply Agreement dated Decembe2®23 between the Registrant and
NeraPharm spol., s.r.

First Amendment and Waiver Manufacture and Supgyegment, dated February 21, 2006 by
and between the Company and NeraPharm spol,

Amendment One dated October 11, 2004 to Licensesapgly Agreement made between the
Registrant and Paladin Labs, I

Agreement for Sale of Real Estate dated Novembge?P0®6 by and between the Registrant and
735 Airport Road, L.L.C

Agreement for Sale of Real Estate dated Novembge?P0®5 by and between the Registrant and
745 Airport Road, L.L.C

Term Loan Agreement dated January 4, 2006 by atwitlea the Registrant and Vivus Real
Estate LLC and Crown Bank, N.,

Commercial Mortgage Note dated January 4, 200enbybetween the Registrant and Vivus
Real Estate LLC and Crown Bank, N.

Mortgage and Security Agreement dated January@6 B9 and between Vivus Real Estate
LLC and Crown Bank, N. A
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10.60(16) Lease Agreement effective November 1, 2006 by atdden the Registrant and Castro
Mountain View, LLC, Thomas A. Lynch, Trudy Molinddfes, Trustee of the Jolen Flores and
Trudy Molina Flores Joint Living Trust dated Ap8i 2001, E. William and Charlotte
Duerkson, husband and wife, E. William and Chael@itierkson, Trustees of the Duerkson
Family Trust dated February 16, 1999, Daniel Ft@ytJr. and Joyce F. Dutton, Trustees
under the Dutton Family Trust dated September 8831Noel S. Schuurman, Trustee of the
Noel S. Schuurman Trust, The Duarte Family ParfieRs, Marie Straube, Trustee of 1
Marie Antoinette Clough Revocable Living Trust ahtlanuary 11, 1989, and Blue Oak
Properties, Inc., CP6CC, LL

21.2 Subsidiaries of the Registre

23.1 Consent of ODENBERG, ULLAKKO, MURANISHI & Co. LLAndependent Registered
Public Accounting Firn

23.2 Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Pulticounting Firm

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer, dated Mar14, 2007, pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and
15c¢-14 promulgated under the Securities Exchange AtB8#, as amende

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer, dated Mdw 14, 2007, pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and
15c-14 promulgated under the Securities Exchange AtB8#, as amende

32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiginancial Officer pursuant to Section 18

U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@tedbarban«-Oxley Act of 2002

T
Tt

1)

(2)

3)
(4)

()
(6)
(7)
(8)

Confidential treatment granted.

Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purstiat request for confidential treatment. The cagiithl portions have been filed with
the SEC.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefited with the Registrant’'s Registration Statsmhon Form S-1 No. 33-75698, as
amended.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefited with the Registrant’'s Registration Statsmhon Form S-1 No. 33-90390, as
amended.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefied with the Registrant’s Form B-filed with the Commission on June 25, 1¢

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigfited with the Registrant’'s Annual Report onrfpo10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1996, as amended.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.1 filedhniRegistrant's Amendment Number 2 to the RegistnaBtatement of Form 8-A (File
No. 0-23490) filed with the Commission on April ZB97.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigfited with the Registrant’'s Annual Report onrfpo10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigfited with the Registrant’'s Annual Report onrfpo10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedbieXited with the Registrant’s Quarterly Report Barm 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2001.
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(9) Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefifed with the Registrant’s Registration Statsmhon Form S-8 filed with the
Commission on November 15, 2001.

(10) Incorporated by reference to the same numberedbieXited with the Registrant’s Quarterly Report Barm 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2002.

(11) Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefited with the Registrant's Annual Report onrfFo10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

(12) Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefited with the Registrant’'s Annual Report onrfFp10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2004.

(13) Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefited with the Registrant's Annual Report onrfFo10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004.

(14) Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigfied with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed witlhhe Commission on December 23,
2005.

(15) Incorporated by reference to the same numberedbiefited with the Registrant’'s Form 8-K filed witthe Commission on January 6,
2006.

(16) Incorporated by reference to the same numberediefied with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed withhe Commission on November 7,
2006.

(17) Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigfied with the Registrant’s Quarterly Report Barm 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2006.

(18) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 filedhwthe Registrant’'s Form 8-K filed with the Comméssion July 13, 2006.
(19) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 filedhatihe Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Comméssion July 13, 2006.
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LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of subsidiaries of VIVUSd.

1.

a > D

VIVUS Real Estate LLC, a wholly owned subsidiarni¥/US, Inc.

VIVUS International Limited, a wholly owned subsdy of VIVUS, Inc.

VIVUS UK Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of VIVE International Limited
VIVUS BV Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of VIV8 International Limited
VIVUS Ireland Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary ¥fVUS International Limited

Exhibit 21.2




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statements on Forms S-8 (No. 033-8588. 333-06486, No. 333-29939,
No. 33:-57374, No. 333-73394, No. 333-104287 and No. 33806) and Forms S-3 (No. 333-105985, No. 333-12Hs1 No. 333-135793)
of VIVUS, Inc. of our reports dated February 28020relating to the consolidated financial statets@md the related financial statement
schedule of VIVUS, Inc., VIVUS, Inc. managementssassment of the effectiveness of internal cootrer financial reporting, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting of VIVUS, Inc., included in this Annual Reyp on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006.

/s/ ODENBERG, ULLAKKO, MURANISHI & CO. LLP
San Francisco, Californ
March 12, 200"




Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF KPMG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLKCCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors

Vivus, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inihRegistration Statements on Forms S-8 (Files.N@3-75698, 333-06486, 333-
29939, 333-57374, 333-73394, 333-104287 and 338d&)7and (ii) the Registration Statement on For (Gile Nos. 333-105985, 333-
121519 and 333-135793) of VIVUS, Inc. of our remtated March 15, 2005, with respect to the conatdid statements of operations and
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and fasis for the year ended December 31, 2004, andetlated financial statement schedule,
which report appears in the December 31, 2006 amapart on Form 10-K of VIVUS, Inc.

/s KPMG LLP
San Francisco, Californ
March 12, 200°




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT
TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Leland F. Wilson, President and Chief Executdféicer, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/BfUS, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nttamisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operetand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registadtsclosure controls and procedures and pres@ntai report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regmitsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatigrterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfws persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisisability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdain the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2007

By:

/s/ LELAND F. WILSON

Name: Leland F. Wilsor
Title: President and Chief Executive Offic




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT
TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Timothy E. Morris, Vice President, Finance anui&® Financial Officer, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/BfUS, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nttamisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operetand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registadtsclosure controls and procedures and pres@ntai report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regmitsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatigrterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfws persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisisability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdain the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2007

By:

/s TIMOTHY E. MORRIS

Name: Timothy E. Morris
Title:  Vice President, Finance a

Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Leland F. Wilson, President and Chief Executdféicer of VIVUS, Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 UG Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2D02, that the Annual Report of VIVUS, Inc. onrfn10-K for the period ending
December 31, 2006 fully complies with the requiratseof Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiestiaxme Act of 1934 and that information
contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K famtgsents in all material respects the financiad@on and results of operations of
VIVUS, Inc. This written statement is being furreéshto the Securities and Exchange Commission aglabit to such Annual Report on
Form 10-K. A signed original of this statement bagn provided to VIVUS, Inc. and will be retaingd\dVUS, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staffiupguest.

Date: March 14, 200 By: /s/ LELAND F. WILSON
Leland F. Wilsor
President and Chief Executive Offic

I, Timothy E. Morris, Vice President, Finance aniel Financial Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 UCS Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002t the Annual Report of VIVUS, Inc. on Form 10-d¢ the period ending December 31,
2006 fully complies with the requirements of Sewetid(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act284 and that information contained in
such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presentsaliraterial respects the financial condition aesluits of operations of VIVUS, Inc. This
written statement is being furnished to the Seimsritnd Exchange Commission as an exhibit to suctudl Report on Form 10-K. A signed
original of this statement has been provided to W8/ Inc. and will be retained by VIVUS, Inc. andrfished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.

Date: March 14, 200 By:/s/ TIMOTHY E. MORRIS
Timothy E. Morris
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Off




